
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Crime & Disorder 
(Overview & Scrutiny) 

Committee
Councillor R J Wells (Chairman)

Councillor A Sandhu MBE(Vice-Chairman)

Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor Mrs Maria B Kelly

Councillor R Lees
Councillor C S McLean

Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor D J Mote

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Wednesday 26 July 2017

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
AGENDA

Wednesday 26 July 2017

1. Chairman's Welcome and Update 

2. Apologies For Absence 

3. Declarations of Interest 

To receive declarations of interest from Members, including the terms 
of any Grant(s) of Dispensation. 

4. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 15 February 
2017 

(Pages 1 - 
14)

5. Urgent Items 

The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

6. To consider references from other Committees (IF ANY) 

There are no references from other Committees at present.

7. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 15 
- 18)

To note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 15 
June 2017 to 31 October 2017.

8. Kent Police and Crime Panel (PCP) - Update (Pages 19 
- 32)

To note the contents of the attached Minutes of the Kent and 
Medway Police and Crime Panel (PCP) meetings held on 2 February 
and 28 March 2017 respectively and to receive an update from the 
Chairman in his new role as Dartford representative on the Panel. 



9. Review of Kent's Domestic Abuse (DA) Framework 

Presentation by Kent County Council Officers.

10. Dartford Town Against Crime (D-TAC) Progress Report (Pages 33 
- 44)

To note the attached report and Appendix recording the 
achievements of the D-TAC scheme during the previous twelve 
month period.

11. Response to Unauthorised Encampments (Draw-Down) (Pages 45 
- 58)

Members to note and comment as appropriate, on the attached 
report and Appendix A from the EARS Manager. 

12. Performance (Pages 59 
- 62)

To consider the Quarterly Performance Report – June 2017 
document [attached as Item A in the EXEMPT agenda papers] 
agreed by the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP) at their meeting on 22 June 2017 

13. 2017 Refresh to CSP Community Safety Strategy (2016-19) (Pages 63 
- 86)

To consider the 2017 Refresh document [attached as Appendix A to 
this report] which updates the CSP’s Community Safety Strategy 
(2016-19) as agreed by the CSP at its meeting on 22 June 2017, and 
comment accordingly.  

14. Crime and Disorder (O&S) Committee Rolling Work Programme 
for 2017-18 and Beyond 

(Pages 87 
- 90)

To consider the Committee’s rolling Work Programme for the 2017-
18 municipal cycle and beyond, as set out in the draft Work Plan 
[attached as Appendix A to this report].

15. Crime and Disorder (O&S) Annual Report 2016-17 (Pages 91 
- 138)

To consider the Committee’s Annual Report for 2016-17 [attached as 
Appendix A to this report] for approval and submission to the General 
Assembly of the Council.



EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

TO RESOLVE: That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended), the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items 
of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt material.

A. CSP Performance Report (Pages 
139 - 146)





1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee held on Wednesday 15 February 2017.

PRESENT: Councillor R J Wells (Chairman)
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs. M B Kelly
Councillor R Lees
Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor C S McLean
Councillor D J Mote

ABSENT: None 

Dartford Borough Council Officers:-

Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External)
Mark Salisbury – EARS/CSU Manager
Tony Henley – Community Safety Manager, CSU
Kit Weller – Community Safety Officer, CSU

CABINET MEMBERS: Councillor Ann Allen, MBE Portfolio Holder for 
Community Development

PRESENT TO RESPOND TO ISSUES RAISED BY THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:

INSP Gary Woodward – Dartford CSU Inspector, Kent Police
Daniel Rudden – Safer Homes Store Manager 

Bluewater, Kent Police
Erin Scott – Neighbourhood Watch & Volunteer 

Liaison Officer, Kent Police

15. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor C J Shippam, Deputy 
Leader and Dartford PCP representative; one for lateness from the Vice-
Chairman and subsequently, direct to Member Services, from Councillor S R 
Jarnell due to unexpected illness that evening.

Councillor Ann Allen MBE was in attendance by standing invitation from the 
Committee, in her role as Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community 
Development.

Councillor T A Maddison was also in attendance and contributed to Member 
discussion at the discretion of the Chairman. 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 15 FEBRUARY 2017

2

The Chairman welcomed his guests from Kent Police: INSP Gary Woodward, 
Dartford CSU Inspector; Daniel Rudden, Safer Home Experience Store 
Manager from the Bluewater Police Office and Erin Scott, Neighbourhood 
Watch & Volunteer Liaison Officer.

The presence of the Strategic Director (External Services), the EARS/CSU 
Manager, the Community Safety Manger and the Community Safety Officer 
was also noted.

16. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest from Committee Members, Councillor 
Allen, Councillor T. A. Maddison or the Vice-Chairman, when he subsequently 
joined the proceedings. 

17. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 27 JULY 
2016 

RESOLVED:

1. That the Minutes of the Committee’s meeting held on 27 July 2016 be 
confirmed as an accurate account of those proceedings.

18. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman confirmed that there were no items of urgency for 
consideration by the Committee.

19. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other Committees to consider.

20. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 17 January 2017 to 
31 May 2017 be noted.

21. KENT POLICE & CRIME PANEL (PCP) UPDATE 

The Chairman advised that, in the absence of Dartford’s PCP representative, 
this item was for noting rather than discussion.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Minutes of the Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel 
(PCP) meetings held on 8 September 2016 and 15 November 2016 
[Agenda pages 19-36] be noted.



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 15 FEBRUARY 2017

3

22. NEIGHBOURHOOD WATCH - SHARING BEST PRACTICE: 
PRESENTATION BY KENT POLICE 

The Committee received a verbal presentation from Ms Erin Scott, 
Neighbourhood Watch & Volunteer Liaison Officer, Kent Police.

Principal points advised to Members included:

 The 1st Neighbourhood Watch Scheme in England was founded in 
Cheshire in 1982 as a public response to a local murder;

 There were now more than 1 million Neighbourhood Watch (NW) 
Schemes operating across the UK with 6,000 in Kent and Medway, 
including some 600 Schemes in Dartford and Gravesham; 

 The NW Scheme represented a partnership between the Police and 
the Public with individual Schemes led by Volunteers who; following 
completion of a Police vetting process; were appointed as Scheme Co-
ordinators and Deputy Co-ordinators and liaised directly with their local 
Police forces; 

 Individual Schemes could raise money for their activities as required 
and on average watched over two (2) streets [but could be larger] with 
NW Notices displayed in the windows of residential home windows 
usually at either end of a Scheme to deter potential perpetrators;

 Home Office surveys of HM Prisons revealed that NW Schemes played 
an effective role in dissuading criminals who, when they saw NW 
Notices in an area, ‘moved on’;

 As part of the two-way exchange between the Police and the Public, 
Schemes were encouraged to report their observations to their local 
Police partners who updated each Scheme with the latest Police intel 
and statistics, crime trends and scams operating in their areas;

 Police numbers in Kent had increased, including Officers on the beat, 
but public co-operation and help continued to be vital, with notable 
successes secured by the Police as a result of observation and 
feedback from NW Schemes e.g. recent closure of a brothel in Ashford;

 More NW Schemes were needed in Kent with the 600 Schemes 
currently operating in the Dartford & Gravesham CSP area viewed as a 
comparatively ‘low’ figure, with vacancies for Volunteers being carried 
by individual Schemes;

 Kent Police were undertaking a recruitment drive, including at colleges 
and other higher education venues, designed to recruit younger 
members for NW and  lower the current age profile of Scheme 
members. Older traditional members would always have a role to play 
in Schemes, but younger and more IT savvy members were needed to 
sustain the NW operation going forward in the face of competition from 
more social-media based schemes combating crime e.g. ‘Country Eye’.

In a subsequent Q&A session with Members, Kent Police representatives 
confirmed the following points:



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 15 FEBRUARY 2017

4

 No parameters had been set for the optimum number of NW Schemes 
for North Kent, demand was public led and much depended on the 
successful recruitment of Volunteers to effectively manage individual 
Schemes. There was currently a vacancy for Chairman of North Kent 
Neighbourhood Watch. A  re-assessment of overall provision was likely 
when a new appointment had been made;

 The danger of ‘information overload’ for Kent Police (KP) from the 
6,000 NW Schemes operating in Kent was addressed through a ‘sift 
and review’ process.  If info received from Schemes was not relevant / 
had been over-taken Co-ordinators were given feed-back by KP. Calls 
from the 101 Service were subjected to a similar sift, review and 
feedback operation, in an effort to distil and retain only info that was 
important and relevant;

 KP and NW representatives had recently met with Residents’ Groups 
in Greenhithe to address continuing problems of Anti-social Behaviour 
(ASB) in the Castle Hill area, with new build developments identified as 
being in particular need of NW Schemes;

 There was no mapping document available to show the NW Schemes 
currently operating in North Kent. Councillors/residents/organisations 
were advised to contact Kent Police direct for NW information in their 
area. The Apps. used by ‘Rural Farm Watch’ and ‘Country Eye’ were 
being studied by KP with a view to re-branding NW and making the 
Scheme more relevant to new younger members, in the faster moving 
age of social-media;

 The Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner (PCC) had allocated 
start-up funding for the re-branding of the NW Scheme (including a 
new social-media App. for NW) under a new 3 person team. Given the 
traditions of the Scheme and the majority of its members, progress was 
slower than hoped for, but being made.

The Chairman and Members thanked Kent Police representatives for an 
excellent presentation and accepted an invitation from Erin Scott to contact 
her with any individual concerns they or their residents might wish to follow-up 
on. 

  

23. BLUEWATER SAFETY SHOP / COMMUNITY SAFETY AT HOME FACILITY 
- PRESENTATION BY KENT POLICE 

The Committee received a PowerPoint presentation from the CSU Inspector 
and the Safer Home Manager on the operation of Kent Police’s Safety Store 
situated in the Bluewater Shopping complex.

Members were advised that the present Safety Store had been expanded 
from it’s original ‘Charity Shop’ image in 2014 operating as a ‘1 Stop Shop’ for 
Kent Police, the RSPCA, Kent Fire & Rescue and the North West Kent Crime 
Prevention Panel. In 2014 a variety of gimmicks such as raffle prizes and 
demonstrating high speed intercept cars had been used to attract the public’s 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 15 FEBRUARY 2017

5

interest. From those early days the facility had been re-branded with a 
definitive image and expanded into the current Safety Store, with financial 
help from Bluewater Management, including rent-free tenure. 

The expanded Safety Store facility now functioned as a ‘mock house’ to 
demonstrate ‘best practice’ procedures to the public in the home environment 
for; better health & safety, to combat theft, protect valuables, prevent cyber-
crime and alert parents and children to the dangers of on-line grooming. The 
expanded Safety Store also included a new Police Back Office facility, which 
gave Officers a crucial working environment within the Bluewater complex to 
complete paperwork and conduct interviews.

The Safer Home Objectives were identified as:

 To showcase Kent Police to a wider public;
 To raise awareness of policing priorities and mobilise community 

involvement;
 To provide and demonstrate professional crime prevention products 

and information;
 To improve the efficiency of the Policing Team;
 To compliment the Bluewater Community Engagement Strategy;
 To provide a platform/opportunity for relevant Community 

Stakeholders/Partners to compliment the Safer Home objectives.

The Safer Home Brief was to:

 Professionalise the branding – move away from the ‘charity shop’ 
image;

 Create a more interactive environment with both the older and younger 
demographic - e.g. using local football teams to attract fans to the 
Safer Home facility;

 Be scaleable and transferable – the Safer Home facility underwent a 3 
month re-fresh moving within Bluewater to empty units on a rent-free 
basis;

 Provide operational functionality – supporting Bluewater Police team 
with a Back-Room function;

 Facilitate Office Space;
 Market ‘The Home’ both internally and externally to maximise benefits 

for the wider Kent Police Force and its partner Agencies e.g. KF&RS 
etc.;

 The Vision of the ‘The Safer Home’ facility was to educate the public in 
terms of safety within the home environment with an added crime 
prevention dimension.

Specific elements of the ‘Safer Home’ facility included:

 Public Entrance – the store front reflected a brick-build house with 
Bluewater and Kent Police logo branding, following customer feed-
back;



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 15 FEBRUARY 2017

6

 Kitchen – to demonstrate to the public good safety measures and tips 
in a ‘real’ environment e.g. plugs and sockets etc.;

 Lounge – fully furnished to reflect a home with safety and security 
videos e.g. ‘Stay Safe’ running on a loop on the ‘family’ TV; 

 Study –also furnished as in a home to help demonstrate crime 
prevention measures and hosting demographic group’s e.g. Workshop 
to educate elderly residents on current ‘scams’ being perpetrated in 
the area;

 Technology – raising parental awareness of how common technology 
e.g. Play Stations, X-Boxes, laptops and tablets (all of which had 
internet access) could be used to groom children on-line;

 Work Stream Ideas – Young adults were able to test their knowledge 
of Child Safe-Guarding measures by taking the CEOP’s ‘Thinkuknow’ 
module test on a dedicated computer terminal; examples of scam 
emails and letters were available for public view and education; 
literature on Domestic Violence awareness and tell-tale signs of abuse 
in the home environment;

 Police Back Office – a crucial professional work environment facility 
enabling Police Officers to conduct interviews and take statements 
from victims and witnesses, saving police time and increasing police 
presence on high visibility patrol around the Bluewater complex;

 Future Steps in 2017 -  Every month the Home Store distributed a 
new crime prevention giveaway item e.g. sheaths for contactless 
cards; on 31 March the Home Store was due to move to a new unit 
within Bluewater  and undergo a ‘refresh’; in August it was hoped to 
hold a charity rowing event against the famous Macey’s Department 
Store in New York with the proceeds going to local charities in the 
Dartford area; in October /November a Chief Officer event was 
proposed hosted by The Chief Constable or the Police & Crime 
Commissioner.

In subsequent discussion with Members, the following suggestions were 
made for increased use of the Home Store facility at Bluewater:

 Increased co-ordination between the Bluewater and Dartford Town 
Centre Shop Safe Scheme teams;

 Instituting measures at Bluewater to help ‘Adults with Learning 
Difficulties’ similar to The Orchard Centre scheme in Dartford;

 Use of the Safer Homes Store to conduct routine health checks on the 
elderly;

 Hosting a meeting of the Dartford Elders Forum in the Home Safe 
Store;

 Taking forward existing contacts and co-operation with Darenth Valley 
Hospital over measures to combat Domestic Violence (DV) and 
educate the public on measures to identify DV;

 Hold a maternity event at the Store for expectant and new mothers e.g. 
social awareness over ‘breast-feeding’;



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 15 FEBRUARY 2017

7

 Continue the tradition with the new Dartford Mayor [May 2017] of 
sponsoring charities and events within Bluewater and the Home Store 
facility.

The Chairman and Members thanked Kent Police representatives for a 
second excellent presentation and accepted the invitation from the Safer 
Homes Manager to contact him with their concerns and ideas for future co-
operation with the Safer Homes Store at Bluewater.

24. UPDATE ON NEW ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR (ASB) POWERS -  ANTI-
SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR, CRIME & POLICING ACT 2014 

The Community Safety Officer summarised his report for the Committee as 
submitted in the Agenda papers [p. 37-43] and invited questions.

The Strategic Director (External Services), CSU Officers and the Kent Police 
Inspector confirmed the following points in response to specific questions and 
expressions of concern from Members:

Community Trigger (CT): 

 The Community Trigger (CT) process gave victims of anti-social 
behaviour (ASB) the ability to demand a review of their cases, 
where the locally defined threshold for ASB had been met and 
effectively represented a ‘complaints process’ for the handling of 
individual ASB cases [but did not replace the formal complaints 
process for individual organisations within the CSP];

 No CTs had been activated in Dartford to date (February 2017) 
but the co-location of the local policing team within the Council’s 
Community Safety Unit, together with the Council’s Housing 
Services team also located within the Civic Centre building, 
enabled those three principal bodies to undertake reviews of 
ongoing ASB cases and exchange information and effectively 
undertake the CT process in a less formal manner;

 Members’ request, that the CT process be more widely 
advertised to residents, would be considered;

 The concerns of the Greenhithe Ward Member in relation to on-
going ASB issues in Castle Hill were noted and would be 
responded to;

 Expressions of concern from other Members in relation to acts 
of ASB and/or Criminal Damage in their Wards could be 
investigated by the CSU Team, if Members could provide 
specific details and a resident to contact.

Civil Injunctions (CIs) and Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPOs): 

 Civil Injunctions (CIs) were used primarily against anti-social 
individuals;



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 15 FEBRUARY 2017

8

 PSPOs were designed to deal with a particular nuisance or 
problem in a designated area;

 The Council considered use of both CIs and PSPOs as they 
deemed appropriate;

 A PSPO was proposed to combat ongoing ASB issues at 
Crossways Industrial Estate in the Greenhithe Ward, once the 
exact criteria to be applied had been finalised, to meet the local 
circumstances and improve residents wellbeing;

 Both measures [CIs and PSPOs] could be used in tandem or 
consecutively e.g. a PSPO could be imposed to provide an 
underpinning solution to an area based problem, then as 
required,  follow-up action taken with CIs applied against 
persistent ASB offenders within the area of the PSPO ; 

 The definition of a Community Trigger given in para 3.4.1. of the 
report [agenda pages 37/38] had been personalised and differed 
to the criteria for activating the CTI process on the Council 
website.

Designated Public Place Orders (DPPOs):

 Existing DPPOs were due to be replaced by PSPOs in October 
2017 some 3 years after the 2015 Act came into effect;

 The existing DPPO for the Town Centre during the hours of the 
‘Nightime Economy’ would be replaced by a revised PSPO with 
similar conditions;

 All existing DPPOs would be reviewed and relevant conditions 
transferred to the new PSPOs as relevant and new conditions 
added if appropriate.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the contents of the report. 

25. DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP 
STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2016 

The report asked the Committee to consider the Dartford and Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership (CSPs) annual Strategic Assessment 2016 
document, as presented to the CSP on 26 January 2017 (Appendix A to the 
report – marked as Item A in the EXEMPT agenda papers).

The report advised Members that the Council was under an obligation of 
confidence in relation to the Strategic Assessment 2016 document, in that, the 
data it contained had been provided to the Council on an In-Confidence basis 
and should as a consequence, be considered by the Committee in the 
EXEMPT part of the Agenda proceedings.



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 15 FEBRUARY 2017

9

RESOLVED:

1. That Appendix A to the report be considered as Item A in the EXEMPT 
part of the Agenda.

26. WORK PROGRAMME 2016-17: UPDATE 

The report asked Members to agree the contents of a revised Work 
Programme for the remainder of the 2016-17 Municipal Year and the summer 
and winter meetings of the forthcoming 2017-18 Municipal cycle [Appendix A 
to the report].

The Committee Co-ordinator confirmed that the Police & Crime Commissioner 
(PCC) had declined the Committee’s invitation to address Members on 26 
July 2017 [report para 3.4 refers] and that a further invitation had been sent to 
his office proposing 14 February 2018 as an alternative. He reminded 
Members that the PCC had recently addressed the Council’s Borough and 
Parish Forum [5 July 2016] and that as a consequence, securing a second 
visit by the PCC to address Dartford Members was proving more difficult. 

In subsequent Member discussion, the Lead Member for Enforcement & 
Community Safety proposed that the Committee receive a presentation from 
Kent County Council Trading Standards on current ‘scam’ operations being 
perpetrated in the Dartford area, in particular those criminal activities that 
targeted the elderly.

RESOLVED:

1. That the proposed rolling Work Programme for the Committee 
(attached as Appendix A to the report) be noted;

2. That the proposed addition from the Lead Member for Enforcement  & 
Community Safety as detailed above, be pursued by CSU Officers.

   

27. NEXT MEETING 

Members were advised that, subject to confirmation at the Annual Meeting in 
May, the next meeting of the Committee would be Wednesday 26 July 2017.

28. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

The Chairman advised that under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 (as amended) he was required to ask that all members of the press 
and public present vacate the Chamber prior to discussion of the CSP 
Strategic Assessment 2016 document.

No members of the press or public were present.



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 15 FEBRUARY 2017

10

29. CSP STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2016 

The Committee considered, in closed session, as recommended in the 
covering report [Agenda Item 13 and Min. No. 25 refers]; the Dartford and 
Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP’s) Strategic Assessment 
2016 document (agenda Item A in the EXEMPT papers).

The SA 2016 document advised that the Partnership was required by the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to produce an SA on an annual basis. The SA 
was based on research, evidence and intelligence gathered from both Kent-
wide and local sources and wherever possible, that information was analysed 
at a Dartford and Gravesham level. 

SA 2016 detailed recorded crime and disorder offences for the period 1 
October 2015 to 30 September 2016 for both Boroughs (separately) and fed 
into the Partnership’s three-year Community Safety Strategy for the period 
2016-19. The main aim of the annual SA was to identify any changes in 
circumstance that might necessitate amendments being made to the existing 
Strategy and to ensure that new or emerging local priorities were addressed. 
For the first time since changes to several definitions of crime types and the 
application of new Home Office Counting Rules for recorded crime in 2014, 
year-on-year comparisons with information contained in the Partnership’s SA 
2015 document were possible.

In addition to year-on-year performance comparison for the Partnership, SA 
2016 also drew comparisons between the Partnership and other CSPs in Kent 
Districts and Medway and compared the performance and position of the 
Partnership within its Most Similar Group (MSG) of CSPs. 

In this latter respect; SA 2016 noted that other Police Forces represented 
within its MSG of CSPs had significantly lower levels of accuracy for recorded 
crime [as assessed by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC)]. 
Kent Police continued to lead the field with 96% accuracy for the recording of 
all reported crime [as assessed by HMIC in 2014]. By comparison, within the 
Partnership’s MSG, greater Manchester Police had been assessed by HMIC 
as having only an 85% accuracy level for recording reported crime, with the 
Staffordshire and Sussex Forces [in the MSG] at 91% and 94% respectively. 
These differing levels of accuracy within the MSG for recording reported crime 
made the objective assessment of the Partnership’s performance on a 
comparative basis, difficult. Dartford remained 13th out of 14 areas assessed 
within its MSG for the level of crime recorded locally per 1,000 of the 
population and was above the average experienced by other areas with 
similar demographics. Dartford’s position within the MSG remained 
unchanged from the previous 2015 Assessment.

The Community Safety Officer (CSO) advised Members that total recorded 
crime in Dartford for the period 1 October 2015 to 30 September 2016 had 
risen by 12.8% which mirrored an increase in every Kent and Medway District 
[average 12%]. Within the total crime recorded figure; Dartford had 
experienced rises in most crime categories in the period under review; with a 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 15 FEBRUARY 2017

11

significant rise in the volume of violent crime, particularly in offences of 
violence against the person [29% slightly above the Kent average of 28%]. 
The significant increase was attributed, in the main, to the increased number 
of cases of domestic abuse [DA] and the accuracy now used in reporting such 
cases. The volume increase in this offence made it the single category placing 
the greatest demand on CSP resources. Offences of ASB had increased by 
12.8% in the period under review and the related offence of Criminal Damage 
had been identified as a new priority for the CSP to address in Dartford.

In response to specific questions and expressions of concern from Members 
the Strategic Director (External Services), CSU Officers and the CSU Kent 
Police Inspector confirmed the following points for the Committee:

 The increase in Dartford’s recorded crime and anti-social behaviour 
(ASB) recorded in SA 2016 was not seen as being directly related to 
the increase in the Borough’s population, more a reflection of an 
increased crime rate across the County and changes to the recording 
of historic crime, particularly Domestic Abuse (see below);

 Increased reporting and recording of Domestic Abuse (DA) offences, 
with every historic incident against a victim requiring a separate report, 
had significantly driven up statistics for Dartford. Increased recording of 
cyber-crime and fraud in the Borough had also pushed up statistics; 
reflecting the national trend in these crimes which had seen a new 
national centre to combat fraud and cyber-crime opened recently;

 The performance of Dartford [and Gravesham] within its Most Similar 
Group (MSG) of CSPs continued to suffer in comparative terms with 
some Forces recording fully 11% less crime than Kent Police i.e. 
‘apples were still not being compared to apples’ with-in the MSG, to the 
Partnership’s detriment;

 The 50% recorded increase in the number of first-time entrants into the 
criminal justice system was a cause of concern for Dartford CSU 
Officers and the local police team. The profile of offences recorded in 
SA 2016 remained much the same as for 2015 with offences 
committed at Bluewater continuing to be a major contributor to 
Dartford’s statistics and Members were advised as to key trends and 
offender profiles; 

 The Strategic Director (External Services) advised that the large 
number of young people that had been recorded as first-time offenders, 
had also been noted by the Dartford Children and Young People’s 
Board as being the opposite of the trend encountered in previous years 
in Dartford and further work would be necessary to identify possible 
causes;

 Increased gang related crime, including by gangs displaced from 
adjoining Boroughs and the Metropolis, was being tackled by Kent 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 15 FEBRUARY 2017

12

Police under a variety of Protocols, including measures to tackle child 
sexual exploitation and modern-day slavery: the aim was to make 
Dartford a difficult place for gangs to operate and public feed-back and 
information had an important role to play in achieving this goal;

 The Committee was advised of potential difficulties created by the 
placement of both offenders and vulnerable persons in Dartford by 
London Boroughs and other agencies: the Council had no powers to 
prevent such transfers but addressed any issues that arose with CSP 
partners following arrival. The KCC Community Warden Scheme had 
played an increasingly useful role in the period under review and KCC 
Wardens attended daily CSU briefings;

 CSU Officers had undertaken anti-social behaviour (ASB) training 
delivered by a barrister specialising in use of the new powers in 
December 2016. This had increased awareness of the options for 
using the new powers;

 Kent Police had carried out a joint initiative with the Metropolitan  
Police aimed at dismantling criminal businesses operating in the 
Borough and neighbouring Bexley, however the work was proving to be 
challenging;

 CSU Officers and the local Kent Police team had not detected any 
increase or pattern in hate crime post the Brexit Referendum vote. But  
hate crime continued to be monitored on a daily basis and all victims 
supported, with several prosecutions in the legal pipe-line pending 
resolution;

 The Council was pressing KCC to introduce a new template for the 
Strategic Assessment (SA) to cater for the reality of differing reporting 
methods and methodologies across Kent CSP’s and introduce greater 
reality to comparative performance against statistics. Dartford was 
prepared to pilot a new risk assessment based model for a future SA 
document, reflecting the MORILE [Management of Risks in Law 
Enforcement] methodology.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Committee note the contents of the Strategic Assessment 
2016 document (EXEMPT Item A);

2. That the Committee note the priorities identified in the SA 2016;

3. That the Committee note the intention of the Dartford and Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) to refresh the Community Safety 
Plan to address the priorities in the SA 2016 and that the Plan be 
submitted to the next meeting of the Committee in July 2017.  



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 15 FEBRUARY 2017

13

The meeting closed at 9.10 pm

Councillor R J Wells
CHAIRMAN





15 June 2017 - 31 October 2017

1 of 3

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE

This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.

All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.

Cabinet Members:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Service Provision & Town Centre
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Community Development
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing
Councillor K M Kelly, Portfolio: Transport and Infrastructure
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Leisure & Heritage

All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.

This notice supersedes all previous notices.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Works to the Civic Centre

This report seeks approval from 
Members to support the 
refurbishment needed to the Civic 
Centre and commence the 
procurement process needed to 
appoint Contractors to deliver the 
work.

Cabinet
29 Jun 2017

Paul Koster, Housing 
Maintenance Manager
Tel: 01322 343623
paul.koster@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Write-off of CIL Charge

To consider exercising the Council’s 
discretion to write off a CIL charge 
for the reasons outlined in the 
exempt appendix.

Cabinet
29 Jun 2017

Teresa Ryszkowska, Head of 
Regeneration
Tel: 01322 343631
teresa.ryszkowska@dartford.gov.
uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Kent Thameside Strategic 
Transport Programme Annual 
Report

The report sets out progress over the 
year on the Kent Thameside 
Strategic Transport Programme and 
seeks agreement to the Forward 
Delivery Programme for 2017/18.

Cabinet
27 Jul 2017

There is consultation on 
the Forward Delivery 
Programme with key 
stakeholders through 
the STP Steering Group. 
Public consultation 
takes place on individual 
schemes within the 
Programme before they 
are implemented.  

Teresa Ryszkowska, Head of 
Regeneration
Tel: 01322 343631
teresa.ryszkowska@dartford.gov.
uk

OPEN



3 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Primary Authority - Support for 
Local Businesses - Environmental 
Health Partnership

This report considers an opportunity 
to support local businesses using the 
“Primary Authority” (PA) Scheme by 
means of a partnership approach 
involving the Environmental Health 
Partnership and Kent Trading 
Standards.

Cabinet
27 Jul 2017

Annie Sargent, Environmental 
Health Manager
Tel: 01322 343085
annie.sargent@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Stone Lodge - Appropriation for 
Planning Purposes

  

Cabinet
27 Jul 2017

Appropriation for 
planning purposes to be 
advertised post in 
principle decision by 
Cabinet.

Marie Kelly-Stone, Head of Legal 
Services
Tel: 01322 343634
marie.kelly-
stone@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates

To consider writing-off Non Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because 
of insolvency, because the ratepayer 
cannot be traced or where the debt 
is otherwise irrecoverable.

Cabinet
27 Jul 2017

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)





1

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

KENT AND MEDWAY POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel held in the 
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Thursday, 2 February 
2017.

PRESENT: Mr P M Hill, OBE (Chairman), Mr Gurvinder Sandher (Vice-Chairman), 
Cllr P Clokie, OBE, Cllr M Dearden, Cllr M Franklin, Cllr F Gooch, Cllr R Hogarth 
(Substitute for Cllr P Fleming), Cllr J Knight, Cllr B Luker, Cllr K Morris, Cllr Sloan, 
Cllr P Todd, Mr R A Latchford, OBE, Cllr H Tejan, Dr M R Eddy, Mrs E Bolton and 
Mr T L Shonk

ALSO PRESENT: Mr M Scott (Kent Police and Crime Commissioner), Mr A Harper 
(PCC's Chief of Staff) and Mr Robert Phillips (PCC's Chief Finance Officer)

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr M Campbell (Policy Officer) and Mr J Cook (Scrutiny 
Research Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

209. Minutes of the Police and Crime Panel held on 15 November 2016 
(Item 4)

1. In response to a question, the Commissioner explained that consideration of 
extending the Emergency Services Network for communications was still 
underway and that a further update could be provided later in 2017.

2. The Commissioner explained that an update from Compass House on hard to 
reach or isolated groups would be provided.  

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 15 November 2016 were an 
accurate record and that they be signed by the Chairman and that the Commissioner 
provide an update on victim service contact with hard to reach and isolated groups.

210. Meeting dates 2017/18 
(Item 5)

RESOLVED that the dates of meetings for 2017 be noted.

211. Draft Safer in Kent Plan 2017-2021 & Precept Proposal paper 
(Item B1)

Police and Crime Plan

1. The Panel were provided with the Commissioner’s draft Safer in Kent: The 
Community Safety and Justice Plan 2017-21 and budget, together with a report 
explaining the main themes of the draft Plan. The Panel noted that, although the 
draft Plan fulfilled the statutory requirement to publish a Police and Crime Plan, 
the Commissioner had chosen to call the document the Safer in Kent: The 



2

Community Safety and Criminal Justice Plan. The Commissioner presented a 
report and Appendices which set out the draft Plan and the results of the 
Commissioner’s consultation on the draft Plan, proposed a precept and confirmed 
that the draft Plan took account of the Strategic Policing Requirement and of the 
views of other stakeholders. The report and Appendices also set out the 
Commissioner’s reasons for an increase in the precept of 3.3% and provided 
information about the medium term financial picture and use of reserves. The 
Commissioner’s report included a commentary by the Commissioner’s Chief 
Finance Officer.

2. The Panel noted that the Commissioner had consulted widely in preparing the 
draft Plan and budget. The Panel noted that the priorities in the draft Plan 
included most of the topics mentioned as priorities in consultation. The Panel 
pointed out to the Commissioner that mental health had not featured strongly in 
the priorities identified in consultation but noted the Commissioner’s explanation 
that he considered this to be very important and that he wished to show 
leadership by including it in his priorities. The Panel noted those most of those 
consulted had been supportive of the proposal to increase the precept.

3. The Panel noted that the Commissioner wished to emphasise the extended role 
of Commissioners in criminal justice and the links to community safety and for 
those reasons had decided on a broader title for the Plan. 

4. The Panel were pleased to note the extent of the Commissioner’s consultation 
and were supportive of the more strategic approach he had taken to the content 
of the plan, with emphasis on his personal responsibilities.

5. The Panel sought clarification of the Commissioner’s intentions in respect of 
funding for Community Safety Partnerships and CCTV and noted that the 
Commissioner hoped to maintain grants to Community Safety Partnerships in 
future years but was unable to guarantee this if his own funding was reduced. The 
Panel noted the Commissioner’s view that other funding, for example through the 
Mental Health and Policing Fund he had set up, might be available for suitable 
projects by Community Safety Partnerships. The Panel noted the Commissioner’s 
view that CCTV funding was not a police responsibility.

6. The Panel noted that the Police and Crime Act gave the Commissioner new 
responsibilities in a number of areas, including complaints against the police and 
noted that the Commissioner was considering the options and would bring a 
report to the Panel later in the year.

7. The Panel sought clarification of the references to getting “the right support from 
the right person” in mental health cases and noted the Commissioner’s intention 
to engage further with social services, Clinical Commissioning Groups and the 
Kent and Medway Health Partnership to encourage them to become more actively 
involved.

8. The Panel noted that the draft Plan referred to the actions the Commissioner 
would take to support the plan. The Panel felt that it should be made clear that the 
Commissioner owned the plan and was not therefore just supporting its delivery. 
The Panel recommended that the Commissioner revise the wording to 
clarify his ownership and responsibility for delivering the Plan.



3

9. Panel members commented on key issues relating to local policing, including the 
need for visible policing to be continued and that more work could be done to 
address anti-social driving and speeding.  Members also commented on the need 
to address modern day slavery and vulnerable children.  The Commissioner noted 
the issues raised by Panel members and assured them that the Chief Constable 
would be required to address a range of such issues by producing details of how 
he would deliver the Commissioner's Police and Crime Plan.

10.The Panel were supportive of the draft Plan and noted that the Commissioner was 
willing to present progress reports at future meetings.

RESOLVED that the Panel support the Commissioner's Police and Crime Plan and 
that authority be delegated to Panel Officers to prepare and publish a report on the 
Plan in consultation with the Panel Chairman and Vice-Chairman.

Proposed precept

1. The Commissioner explained that he sought approval for an increase in the police 
precept of 3.3%, (equivalent to £5 per year for a Band D household) The Panel 
noted the Commissioner’s comment that the police precept in Kent would still be 
amongst the lowest, which was why a larger increase than 2% had been 
permitted by Government without the need for a referendum. The Commissioner 
explained that Government decisions on grant were based on the assumption that 
the precept would be raised by the maximum permitted amount.

2. The Panel noted that the budget would provide for an establishment of 3260 
officers (an increase of 80) and also for an increase in the PCSO establishment 
from 280 to 304 and that this would have a positive impact on visible policing. The 
Panel also noted that the Chief Constable intended to give additional powers to 
PCSO’s.

3. The Panel expressed concern about the proposal to use £5.1m from reserves to 
smooth out the savings requirement for the Force but were assured by the 
Commissioner that any underspend would be used to replenish those reserves. 

4. The Panel also sought and received an assurance that both the auditors and the 
Chief Finance Officer were content with the plan to reduce reserves from £65m to 
around £20m by 2021/22.

RESOLVED that the Panel unanimously support the proposed precept increase of 
3.3% for 2017/18.  The Panel also formally noted the excellent work of the 
Commissioner's staff in delivering the consultation work and Police and Crime Plan.

B2 - Questions to the Commissioner
1. I understand that the Essex PCC wishes to take on the oversight of the Fire 

Service in Essex. You have said that you do not intend to take the same 
approach. How will this difference affect collaboration between Kent and 
Essex Police? 
(Mr Mike Hill)



4

The Commissioner explained that the difference approaches to PCC 
involvement in overseeing Fires Services in Kent and Essex would not 
damage or disrupt existing collaboration agreements.  Work was already 
planned to improve and increase collaboration between the forces, including 
consideration of extending collaboration and joint working to more forces in the 
Eastern Region (joint Force car procurement being a good example already in 
place).

2. We are very aware that Kent Police have to make on – going savings and that 
the largest financial commitment for the Police is employees. We also see that 
Kent Police continue to recruit and only recently 54 police officers attended 
their “Passing Out” ceremony.  In Kent there are diverse communities and we 
need to ensure that the Kent Police workforce reflects this. I would like to know 
what the breakdown of the protected characteristics (Equality Act 2010) of the 
new recruits is and what steps the Commissioner is taking to ensure the Chief 
Constable has a diverse workforce to reflect the Kent communities. The media 
coverage of the “Passing out” parade I saw showed a picture of five white 
males – two new police constables, the Commissioner, the Chief Constable 
and the Chair of the Police and Crime Panel.  I also would like to know what 
action the Commissioner is taking to ensure that there is awareness of the 
reasons for staff and officers leaving and appropriate action taken and that 
there is resilience in Kent Police – for instance ensuring knowledge/experience 
transfer and “organisational memory” from those leaving the force to those 
staying or joining. 
(Mrs Elaine Bolton)

The Commissioner explained that he and the Chief Constable both agreed 
that continued positive action was necessary to encourage more people from 
minority communities to apply to join the Police Service and that this would 
help Kent Police reflect the diverse community is serves.  The Commissioner 
explained that in 2016/17 new joiners included 4.42% with a BME background 
and 3.98% stating a disability.  The Commissioner also highlighted that many 
people from a range of communities have enquired about joining the Force at 
many recent recruitment events.  The Commissioner explained that 
recruitment and developing and maintaining a representative workforce would 
be an important aspect of his discussions with the Chief Constable at their 
performance meetings.  To support this work, a monthly HR report was 
provided to him and the Chief Constable.  He advised the Panel that work was 
underway on retention of officers and succession planning to ensure expertise 
was not lost when officers retired or moved into different roles.  The 
Commissioner agreed to provide a more detailed breakdown of 
recruitment across the protected characteristics to the Panel Member.

Regarding the issue of the photograph referenced in the question, the 
Commissioner explained that it had been taken as part of a local focus 
approach whereby MPs in Kent were invited to meet new officers due to be 
posted to their areas.



5

3. Congratulations to the Commissioner on the launch of his Police Cadet 
Scheme. Do you have a breakdown of the diversity of the recruits to date not 
only in terms of ethnicity and gender but also with regards to how many are 
NEETS and they type of school the young people attend. 
(Mr Gurvinder Sandher) 

The Commissioner explained that of the 132 Cadets so far, 11 were from BME 
backgrounds and 41% of cadets were female.  He explained that no cadets 
were NEET (Not in Employment, Education or Training) but that they came 
from a range of education backgrounds, including 56 of the 130 that fell into 
vulnerable groups.  Work was underway to identify NEET young people that 
would be suitable for the programme.

RESOLVED that the Panel thank the Commissioner for answering the questions.

212. Commissioner's Decisions 011-012 
(Item C1)

RESOLVED that the Panel note the Commissioner's decisions.

213. Proposed National Association of Police and Crime Panels 
(Item D1)

1. Panel members discussed the benefits of establishing a national association 
of Police and Crime Panels, recognising that it may offer an opportunity for 
greater lobbying power and information sharing.  However, members 
highlighted that existing links established via the regional Panel networks had 
proved useful and had the benefit of being more focused and productive, with 
concerns raised that a national association may lack direction and prevent 
consideration of more local factors.  Cllr Sloan and Mr Sandher both 
commented on the positive work they had observed at the regional network 
events and were supportive of maintaining Kent's commitment to this joint 
working.

RESOLVED that the Panel should not support the establishment of a national 
association but would explore other options to support improved joint working with 
other Panels.

214. Panel Report 
(Item D2)

RESOLVED that the Panel approves its annual report for 2016.

215. Future work programme 
(Item D3)

RESOLVED that the Panel note the work programme.

216. Minutes of the Commissioner's Governance Board meeting held on 7 
November 2016 
(Item E1)



6

RESOLVED that the Panel note the minutes of the Governance Board meeting held 
on 7 November 2016.

(a) FIELD
(b) FIELD_TITLE 



1

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

KENT AND MEDWAY POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel held in the 
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Tuesday, 28 March 2017.

PRESENT: Mr P M Hill, OBE (Chairman), Cllr P Clokie, OBE, Cllr M Dearden, 
Cllr M Franklin, Cllr F Gooch, Cllr A Horton, Cllr J Knight, Cllr B Luker, Cllr K Morris, 
Mr T L Shonk (Substitute for Cllr Chris Wells), Cllr Sloan, Cllr P Todd, 
Mr R A Latchford, OBE, Cllr H Tejan, Dr M R Eddy and Mrs E Bolton

ALSO PRESENT: Mr M Scott (Kent Police and Crime Commissioner), Mr A Harper 
(PCC's Chief of Staff) and Mr Robert Phillips (PCC's Chief Finance Officer)

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr M Campbell (Policy Officer) and Mrs A Taylor (Scrutiny 
Research Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

217. Minutes of the Police and Crime Panel held on 2 February 2017 
(Item 4)

1. The Policy Officer clarified that page 5, paragraph 1 under ‘Proposed Precept’ 
should read £5 per year rather than £5 per week.  

2. The Policy Officer confirmed that the Panel’s report on the Commissioner’s Police 
and Crime Plan had been published and the Chairman had received a response 
from the Commissioner confirming that he had accepted the suggestions made by 
the Panel and amended the wording of the Plan.  

3. The Chairman thanked the Commissioner for revising the wording of his Plan 
following comments from the Panel.  

4. The Commissioner updated Members on the issues raised within the minutes and 
in particular Mrs Bolton’s questions.  

RESOLVED that, subject to the above amendment of £5 per year,  the minutes of the 
meeting held on 2 February were an accurate record and that they be signed by the 
Chairman.  

218. Police Cadet Scheme - progress report 
(Item B1)

1. The Police and Crime Commissioner introduced his report on the Police Cadet 
Scheme.  The Commissioner thanked a number of organisations who, from their 
own budgets, had contributed to the Scheme; he particularly thanked Gravesham 
Borough Council and the charity Safer Kent.  



2

2. The Commissioner explained that the plan was for 12 cadet units in total across 
Kent.  This was with an aim of meeting the demand ensuring that the resources 
were available where there was demand.  

3. Kent Police was recruiting a full time Youth Ambassador to work not only with the 
Police Cadets but with young people across the county.  

4. The Chairman offered the use of KCC outdoor education facilities for cadet 
activities and the Commissioner thanked the Chairman for his suggestions and 
confirmed he would look into them.  

5. A Member asked whether the Commissioner envisaged that the cadet scheme 
would result in young people joining the Police Force at an appropriate time.  The 
Commissioner explained that the Cadet scheme gave young people policing 
experience, and they could apply to join the Force if they were interested.   

6. A Member congratulated the Commissioner on the scheme, there were benefits 
but there were also a lot of resources being put in to the scheme and the Member 
asked how the success of the scheme would be evaluated?  The Commissioner 
confirmed he did not wish to set targets but that he would ensure value for money 
and ensure that the young people felt that the scheme was worthwhile.  

7. One Member commented on the £10 per month subscription, there was a concern 
that some vulnerable young people may not be able to afford this amount.  The 
Commissioner confirmed he had made funding available to the Force to ensure 
the circumstances of young people did not prohibit them from applying and 
participating in the scheme.  

8. In response to a question about safeguarding of cadets and preventing potential 
radicalisation the Commissioner confirmed that he would provide information 
outside of the meeting.  

9. The Commissioner confirmed, in response to the Chairman’s question, that the 
Youth Ambassador would be an individual over 18 employed by Kent Police 
directly.  

10.A Member asked for more information about the Commissioner’s ‘Backing Young 
People’ document.  The Commissioner explained that this would be published on 
Monday alongside the Police and Crime Plan; it pulled together work done by the 
Commissioner to ensure young people in the county had a voice.  The 
Commissioner wanted to ensure that those who could not vote had a voice and 
felt they were listened to.  

11.The Chairman stated that the scheme had the support of the Panel and he wished 
the scheme well.   

RESOLVED that the Police and Crime Panel note the PCC’s report on Kent 
Volunteer Police Cadets and that the Commissioner provides information to Panel 
members about safeguarding and preventing potential radicalisation.

219. Mental Health - verbal update (focus on progress in engaging others) 
(Item B2)



3

1. The Commissioner said that Kent Police and Kent and Medway NHS and Social 
Care Partnership Trust (KMPT) had agreed a new mental health strategy outlining 
ways in which organisations can work together to support those in crisis.  

2. In relation to governance, the Commissioner said this would be underpinned by a 
Mental Health and Policing Board that the Assistant Chief Constable and the 
KMPT Chief Executive had invited him to lead, at which he will hold both to 
account.  Kent MPs had also invited the Commissioner to host a round table 
event on mental health.  This group included the KMPT Chief Executive and 
representatives of most Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) across the 
county and focussed on issues specific to policing, commissioning of future 
services and working together following the introduction of the Policing and Crime 
Act that prevents children from being held in police cells under S136 and adults 
only in extreme circumstances.  The Commissioner explained that he was 
awaiting clarification on the definition of extreme circumstances.

3. The Commissioner was pleased to report that the street triage service was 
returning in limited form in Medway and Thanet from April, funded by the CCGs.  
The service will comprise of a mental health practitioner and police officer 
attending any incident where a person may have mental health issues and run 
Wednesday, Thursday and Friday nights in Medway and Friday, Saturday and 
Sunday in Thanet. The Commissioner added that both services would be for all 
ages

4. The Commissioner explained that both he and his predecessor had provided 
funding to reduce long waiting times for counselling sessions for child victims of 
sexual assault. Following engagement with CCGs, many had now agreed to take 
this on from the new financial year, so Commissioner funding would no longer 
‘prop up’ a NHS statutory service. 

5. The Commissioner’s Mental Health and Policing Fund had opened, with £250k 
funding available for community groups and local authorities to bid into for new 
projects or the expansion of current services to help reduce demand on policing 
due to mental health.  The Commissioner said that some money had already 
been allocated to those projects agreed last year, such as the continued presence 
of MIND counsellors in the Force Control Room, funding for two crisis cafes and 
the Medway safe haven bus.  The Commissioner asked Panel Members to 
promote his fund where appropriate.  

6. The Commissioner reaffirmed his commitment to the mental health and wellbeing 
of officers and staff, particularly in light of the recent Westminster attack and 
thanked those people who had taken time to write in or thank officers and staff for 
the job they do. He also referred to the longer term impact on the relatives, friends 
and colleagues of those involved in the Westminster attack, and those who 
witnessed it. 

7. A Member thanked the Commissioner for his update, and asked if he was 
confident that alternative accommodation was available for young people in 
mental health crisis who could no longer be held in police cells?  The 
Commissioner confirmed that the numbers were very low and that he was 
confident alternative accommodation would be found.  



4

8. The Commissioner said he had undertaken training on the new legislation; this 
had given him confidence that officers were being equipped with the necessary 
training.  

9. The Commissioner said there would be a new mental health team under the new 
policing model; there would be dedicated officers in addition to the street triage 
service.  

10. In response to a question the Commissioner clarified that Kent Police and KMPT 
had put together a strategy which he had been consulted on and would be 
launched in June. As part of the governance arrangements, the Commissioner 
would be chairing a Mental Health and Policing Board at which he would be 
asking questions and holding them to account.  

11.Referring to a question about information sharing the Commissioner confirmed 
that Kent Police did share information with the local authorities and the 
relationship was quite good, but sharing information with the NHS had been 
problematic, and this was something that needs work. Improving data sharing and 
data collection was one of the key ambitions of the new strategy that Kent Police 
and KMPT had put together.

12.The Chairman asked who would take on responsibility for young people who 
could not be looked after by the police.  The Commissioner said it was necessary 
for the NHS to commission the right services. The Commissioner had provided 
funding for counselling for child victims of sexual assault.  There was a need for a 
parity of esteem between mental health and physical health.

13.A Member asked whether the Commissioner found, from a policing perspective a 
difference between responses from CCG’s across Kent.  The Commissioner 
confirmed that he found the response variable.  There were concerns about 
whether the right services are being commissioned. 

RESOLVED that the Panel thank the Commissioner for his verbal update.

220. Public engagement plans 
(Item B3)

1. The Commissioner introduced his report; he holds the Chief Constable to account 
but was accountable to the people of Kent and it was therefore incumbent for him 
to get out and about to ensure wherever people live, they are getting a good 
service.   

2. The Commissioner said his website had changed.  It was based on the template 
for the Force website, which had saved money, and was clearer and more 
accessible.  The Commissioner had also embarked on new ‘Question Time’ 
events as well as visiting schools and he was keen to be accessible to as many of 
Kent and Medway’s diverse communities as possible.  The Commissioner offered 
his presence at any groups Members might be aware of.  

3. A Member asked whether there would be an increase in visible policing. The 
Commissioner confirmed that was what he expected to see and that if it didn’t 



5

happen he would continue to hold the Chief Constable to account.  The new 
policing model should release some demand on police officers to provide a more 
visible policing presence.  The Commissioner explained that he went out on patrol 
with police officers to ensure they were not taken away from their regular duties in 
order to talk to him.

4. Another Member asked what plans the Commissioner had regarding engagement 
with Looked after Children (LAC) and Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children 
(UASC)?  The Commissioner explained that he had done some work in this area; 
in addition there was a challenge in the county with LAC and UASC.   The 
Commissioner was keen to take suggestions if there were particular groups 
Members were aware of which would like to discuss issues with him.  The 
Commissioner did have concerns around the exploitation of young people, and 
was keen to ensure that he engaged with young people directly.

5. A Member referred to bullet point 1 on page 13, that the Commissioner would 
ensure concerns are listened to and acted upon, and asked how this would be 
done?  The Commissioner explained that he kept records of issues raised so that 
he could see an overall picture of issues raised and acted on.  He also ensured 
that local policing teams were aware so that they could take action where 
appropriate.

6. The Chairman was pleased that the Commissioner would be present at the Kent 
County show this year and was aware that the Youth Council would welcome the 
Commissioner’s presence at a future meeting.  

RESOLVED that the Police and Crime Panel thank the PCC for the report on actively 
engaging with residents in Kent and Medway. 

221. Questions to the Commissioner 
(Item B4)

1. My question relates to how useful the police in Kent and Medway find CCTV run 
by local authorities, and the value the police attach to the service in the light of 
possible alternative approaches to the use of technologies. This is also in the 
context of your statement that your policy of not funding local authority CCTV ‘will 
not change’.

In particular how many suspects have been apprehended as a result of live 
monitoring by local authority CCTV and of these what percentage result in 
convictions? Can you also provide equivalent figures for passive viewing of 
CCTV? Has there been an increase in relevant crime figures where live 
monitoring has been discontinued? Similarly have the figures changed where 
CCTV monitoring, both live and passive, have been discontinued?

Finally what is your view on the deterrent value of CCTV? (Don Sloan)

2. The Commissioner confirmed that CCTV provided reassurance to residents and 
businesses and important evidence to the police.  



6

3. It was the Commissioner’s opinion that CCTV did provide a deterrent, but, given 
the funding pressures on councils, he knew that some had been reviewing and 
reducing their services, and some were clubbing together to provide a service.  
Some councils had applied to police forces for funding and it was extremely rare 
that any force made a contribution to CCTV.  It was not a statutory requirement 
for police forces or Commissioners to provide CCTV funding. The Commissioner 
gives £500k to CSPs every year so he considered that they might wish to use 
some of this for CCTV. The Commissioner suggested the Member might wish to 
contact local authorities direct for any statistics. 

4. The Commissioner considered that CCTV was important and that it did benefit 
residents and businesses but the police were also researching what other 
methods of evidence capture could be used such as dash cam footage for 
example.  

5. The Member asked for clarification on the £500k to CSPs and the Commissioner 
confirmed that he gave a grant of £500k to CSPs across the county, and that 
some used part of this to fund CCTV. The Commissioner said he hoped that 
councils will continue to provide the service but he understood it had to be in 
context of pressures on councils. 

6. The HMIC recently found that Kent Police was deemed as good in their recent 
review, which was reported in the local media. But the HMIC did state that Kent 
has a “significant problem” with how it works with victims of crime, having noticed 
“worrying overall trends” as more than one in five crime investigations (21.9%) 
failed to progress due to the victim not supporting police action. This places Kent 
Police as the second worst force in the country and is significantly higher than the 
national average (13.8%). They also reported a “considerable fall in victim 
satisfaction” over the last five years. The HMIC warned that these figures 
“suggest that the force has a significant problem with how it works and supports 
victims”.

These results are not good for the victims of crime in Kent.

I would like to know what actions the Commissioner is taking to hold the Chief 
Constable to account to identify the reasons for why Kent Police are not 
supporting their victims, how they will ensure improved support and ensure that 
this support is sustainable. (Elaine Bolton)

7. The Commissioner confirmed that victims of crime were his top priority, and it was 
the top priority of Chief Constable to ensure they receive good service.  Victim 
services and force performance had been raised at every Governance Board and 
the Force had been challenged to justify performance.  Victims would continue to 
be raised at the Commissioner’s new accountability meetings and also continue to 
form part of his challenge at weekly 1-1 meetings with the Chief Constable.  HMIC 
had recognised that the Force had improved its response to vulnerability but there 
was always scope for further improvement and work continues with providers of 
victims’ services to improve.  The Commissioner said the statistic quoted relates 
to the decision of the victim not to pursue criminal charges, and could not be 
directly attributed to Force performance. The figure represents those who do not 
wish to take the matter further, or police attendance itself serves as the 
intervention the individual wanted. The Force recently undertook an audit and 



7

survey of those who did not wish to pursue charges and found satisfaction with 
officers to be high. The Commissioner explained that from April 2017 the Home 
Office would no longer collect victim satisfaction data in the same way. He was 
pleased to note that the Member acknowledged the Force’s good rating in this 
area, but there were a couple of issues identified for future action.  The 
Commissioner pointed out that Kent Police was rated as good or outstanding by 
HMIC in every area of inspection in 2016 – one of only four forces in the country. 
He said that there was no room for complacency, and he expected improvements 
to continue with the new model, but HMIC quite rightly change their questions 
each year and he expected challenges in future years.

8. The Commissioner confirmed the results of the Force audit and survey would 
form part of his next accountability meeting and extended an invitation for Panel 
Members to attend.  

9. Community Safety Partnership grant letters were distributed last month, and your 
sustained support for the CSPs is most welcome. However I’m becoming aware 
of Maidstone’s CSP concerns – and there may be similar concerns from other 
CSPs - about your additional stipulation that funding must not duplicate areas 
where your office has a formally commissioned service in place, and vice versa. 
The concerns appear to be that:

a. It could potentially impact on the way CSPs operate and their ability to 
deliver priorities at the local level. Equally it could potentially impact on 
smaller local voluntary sector organisations in receipt of CSP grants to 
deliver community safety projects on CSPs’ behalf.

b. It could limit opportunities for match funding arrangements. In particular it 
could limit opportunities for providing additional funding for local projects 
that CSPs have a greater demand for than the PCC funding allows, such 
as Maidstone’s Urban Blue Bus.

Would you consider that perhaps an even more effective, efficient use of funds 
and delivery of priorities in the Police & Crime Plan could be better achieved by a 
more stringent focus on outcomes and/or more concisely assembled SLAs?  (Fay 
Gooch)

10.The Commissioner explained that the Community Safety Partnerships would 
receive the same amount of money next financial year as last.  The CSPs were 
free to spend this as they wished in support of the Police and Crime Plan’s 
objectives.  However, in the past some had been used to fund services he had 
commissioned elsewhere, or by someone else, which was inefficient for 
taxpayers. The stipulation about no duplicate funding had no impact on match 
funding bids, and he was aware that some CSPs had used his grant to match 
fund or to contribute to schemes that supported the Plan.   In order to ensure the 
system was effective for all, including charities, councils and his office, he 
considered the funding should come via one mechanism rather than several so as 
not to spend taxpayers’ money twice.  

11.At a recent Parish Council meeting at Minster Parish Council serious concern was 
expressed at the lack of policing in the village and the regular incidence of feral 
youths in Tothill Street., The frustration is now very serious, at the same time St 



8

Nicholas at Wade also expressed the same lack of Police support in long term 
dogging and Drug issues in the village, They believe that Police action is vital to 
resolve this issue. Can the Commissioner comment and explain what he is doing 
to hold the Chief Constable to account for delivering effective policing in rural 
areas. (Roger Latchford.)

12.The Commissioner was concerned to hear of the problems residents had been 
experiencing.  The new Safer in Kent plan makes it clear that crime is important 
no matter where it takes place. The Crime Rural Advisory Group works alongside 
the Commissioner’s office as an independent forum to assist the Force in 
addressing rural issues. The Rural Task Force, rural Special Constables, local 
PCSOs and Community Wardens are integral parts of the extended police family 
within rural communities.  The Commissioner expressed his gratitude to Mr 
Latchford for raising the issues and confirmed that he had asked Kent Police to 
look into the matters and they would respond directly to Mr Latchford.  The 
Commissioner said he did visit the areas in October and would visit again if it 
would be helpful.  

13.Mr Latchford suggested that the Commissioner visited Minster Parish Council to 
discuss their concerns; the Commissioner confirmed that he would be happy to do 
this.  

222. Commissioner's Decisions 013 & 014 
(Item D1)

1. Regarding decision 13 – Mobile First, Integrated Software Procurement.  A 
Member asked for confirmation that if something was not suitable to Kent Police 
that the contract would enable the Force to quickly replace or remedy the 
problem.  The Commissioner gave the assurance that there would be clauses 
within the contract that if the service was not working for the Force they could get 
out of the contract.  

RESOLVED that the Panel note the Commissioner’s Decisions.

223. Future work programme 
(Item E1)

RESOLVED that the Panel note the work programme.  

(a) FIELD
(b) FIELD_TITLE 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
26 July 2017

DARTFORD TOWN AGAINST CRIME (D-TAC) PROGRESS 
REPORT

1. Summary

1. To consider the Dartford Town Against Crime (D-TAC) scheme’s progress 
during the past 12 months against the objectives / targets outlined in the 2016 -
18 business plan [attached at Appendix A].

2. Recommendation(s) 

That D-TAC’s achievements over the last year be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 D-TAC presented development plans to the Scrutiny Committee in July 
2016. At this time D-TAC had just been awarded a ‘Distinction’ by the 
National Association of Business Crime Partnerships in recognition of 
its successful work, and was embarking on extensive growth plans. 

3.2 D-TAC promotes the concept of a safe and secure Town Centre, and 
enables partners to adopt a proactive approach by allowing them to 
identify, target and focus on the most serious, prolific and professional 
criminals as well as those offenders who are engaging in petty crime 
and anti-social behaviour that nonetheless affects the local 
environment.

3.3 D-TAC is a sub-group of both the Dartford Town Centre Partnership 
and the Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership.  
However, the initiative has robust, independent governance with a 
formal constitution, terms of reference, a Board of Management and an 
active Steering Group. The Intelligence Manager co-ordinates the 
dissemination of information and promotes activity that will result in 
action being taken against persistent offenders.

This network of partners also facilitates:

 preventing and detecting crime and public disorder;
 targeting persistent offenders who are responsible for the 

majority of crime;
 reducing the opportunity to commit crime;
 assisting the apprehension and prosecution of offenders;
 reducing retail crime losses for members;
 creating a “safe and secure” environment for customers and 

staff;
 reducing the fear of crime amongst the general public;
 encouraging growth and investment in the town centre;  



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
26 July 2017

3.4 In conjunction with the business community D-TAC identified and 
presented to Members the following development areas for growth: 

 Develop radio infrastructure to ensure coverage across the 
Borough;

 Expand membership numbers over the next three years to 140 
clients (including affiliates);

 Increase the number of members using DISC;
 Provision of radios for lone workers operating in the Borough 

who require such provision. (e.g. Housing); and
 Increase revenues by 50% to £42,000 pounds per annum.

3.5 Members also suggested that D-TAC consider the use of new 
technologies to support the schemes expansion to satellite areas 
outside the Dartford Town Centre. D-TAC has embraced these ideas 
and developed a number of innovative solutions to support business 
districts across the Borough. However, due to a number of unforeseen 
pressures on the town centre some aspects of the business plan were 
temporarily postponed to ensure optimum deployment.

3.6 Nonetheless significant advancement towards achieving the objectives 
outlined in the 2016 – 18 Business Plan has been has been made and 
this includes:

 Installing the infrastructure required for Borough wide coverage 
which in turn facilities membership growth and reinforces the 
Council’s emergency plans;

 Introducing WhatsApp to support satellite business districts;
 Increases in the number of people reporting crime through DISC 

and WhatsApp
 Introduction of Body Worn video designed to assist lone workers 

and businesses particularly those in the night economy; 
 Radio Training, Counter Terrorism Training and Conflict 

Management Training; and
 On the back of these improvements it’s also anticipated 

revenues will begin to rise during the next 12 months.

3.7 The Intelligence Manager has also been asked to Chair the Kent 
Business Crime Network and D-TAC also anticipates that it will be 
awarded another Distinction from the National Association of Business 
Crime Partnerships in 2018.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Safer Communities – To create a safer Borough in which to live, work 
and socialise. SC2 – Reduce anti-social behaviour. 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
26 July 2017

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*

Financial Implications None arising from this report

Legal Implications None arising from this report

Staffing Implications None arising from this report

Administrative Implications None arising from this report

Risk Assessment Any reduction or withdrawal of service would 
have a negative impact on crime and disorder 
within the Borough.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A: Dartford Town Against Crime Plan 2016-18

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

July 2017 Lewis Kirnon & 
Mike Morgan
(01322) 343352

EARS N/A





Dartford Town 
Against Crime
Business Plan 
2016-18



Dartford Town Against Crime

Executive Summary
The increased mobility and anonymity of criminals and their ability to travel 
widely to steal, means that there is a greater need for crime prevention and 
reduction strategies that allow us to track both local and travelling criminals in 
order to manage their offending behaviour and reduce criminal opportunity. 
Although Dartford Town Centre is confident about its current security 
mechanisms some change is necessary in order to improve the environment 
and further reduce crime and disorder.

Dartford Town Against Crime (DTAC) is a business crime partnership working 
to make Dartford safe and secure. It provides a positive and co-ordinated 
response to the threats posed by crime and anti-social behaviour, and follows 
the good practice model established through the Home Office Retail Crime 
Initiative. DTAC will grow its membership numbers carefully, targeting town 
centre businesses first, and building links with strategic partners around 
Dartford in order to establish a strong network of clients in the area.

“We are hoping that 
it will get to the stage 
where persistent 
criminals will stay away 

from Dartford completely 
because they know they 

won’t succeed. We are also working 
hard to create an environment 
where businesses prosper and can 
concentrate their security resources 
on the few opportunist thieves.”

Councillor Jeremy Kite, MBE 
Leader, Dartford Borough Council

“DTAC has helped us to 
significantly reduce crime and anti-
social behaviour in Dartford and 
criminals now know that the town 
has excellent security systems. By 
pulling together the partnership 
creates a community spirit that’s 
united in fighting criminal and anti-
social behaviour.”

 Debbie Carey, Manager, 
Orchards Shopping 
Centre and Chair of 
DTAC Board



Business Plan 2016-18

How DTAC works
DTAC employs an Intelligence Manager to 
work specifically with partnership members, 
the police and the local authority to target 
criminal activity within Dartford. A database 
is used to target persistent offenders, 
hold details of sightings, intelligence and 
incidents and complement existing police 
intelligence systems. 

This proactive approach allows businesses, police, local authorities, voluntary 
sector and other concerned partners to work closely together to reduce 
opportunities for a wide range of town centre crime and to promote the 
concept of a safe and secure place.

Working directly with the police, the Intelligence Manager will collate, analyse and 
thereafter disseminate intelligence and information to all members of the scheme. 
He/she will develop target profiles on those criminals considered the most active 
within the sphere of Dartford Town Centre. Target profiles will be distributed to all 
members and held in secure locations away from public scrutiny. Members can 
use the packages to recognise people strongly suspected of crime within the 
town centre, and to alert other members to their presence.

Where persistent offenders are arrested in any of the member’s premises, 
they will be served with an Exclusion Notice by the member, banning them 
from the premises of every member for twelve months. In this way, persistent 
offenders will find it increasingly difficult to offend in Dartford Town Centre. In 
addition, where persistent criminals exhibit persistent and continuing anti-
social behaviour, consideration will be given to providing evidence to Police 
and the Local Authority for proceedings under the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime 
and Policing Act 2014 for example a Civil Injunction.

“The business crime operation forms a key part of the strategy we 
have developed in Dartford to tackle crime and fear of crime. It 
works superbly in conjunction with the 50-camera town centre 
CCTV system. The collation and sharing of crime data within the 
partnership identifies the most prolific criminals. The exclusion 
scheme enables us to ban offenders from entering shops and 
stores in the town. Our intention is to make Dartford a safer place to 
shop and do business.”

 Inspector Gary Woodward, Kent Police



Dartford Town Against Crime

Supporting our Clients
In the current political climate, with 
increasing fears of terrorist activity, the 
scheme recognises that Police resources 
are limited and businesses will play an 
important role in securing their own 
premises. DTAC also recognises that 
prevention rather than detection is the 
way forward; especially in terms reducing 
criminal activity. Good customer service, 
and the provision of new technology are the key to DTAC’s future and these are 
the basis of its future plans. 

The private sector are essential partners in the initiative and have given their 
full support to the development of the scheme. This is demonstrated by the 
number of private sector business representatives who are active participants. 
The commitment of local retailers and other private sector representatives is 
also indicated by their willingness to give their time as members of the Board 
of Management and Steering Groups. We help clients in the following ways:

•  Large retail businesses use security guards to deter theft and to provide safety. 
We support guards and staff by providing training, access to information on 
known persistent offenders and links to CCTV and the Police. We also provide 
the latest intelligence relating to credit card fraud and cyber-crime. 

•  Licensed premises & event venues use security guards to monitor guests 
and fire capacities and to organise emergency response. Nightclubs and 
bars may be included in this category. However, these businesses are 
extremely vulnerable to drug dealing, violent behaviour and allied crimes. 
DTAC links these venues with Kent Police Licensing and helps to keep 
them informed on current threats.

•  SME’s get access to DTAC’s Intelligence Manager who helps to tailor 
security services to meet their needs.

•  Large service providers, such as hospitals, train stations, schools and 
colleges, can all benefit from additional support with reducing and 
preventing crime as well as assisting with tracing absconding patients.

•  Building management companies generally install surveillance equipment 
and employ security guards to monitor that equipment, to staff front desks/
security checks, and sometimes for general patrol. However, DTAC can 
provide intelligence relating to fly-tipping and organised crime that blight 
development sites builders merchants. 

• We can exclude known offenders from all members’ premises.



Business Plan 2016-18

Objectives
The scheme has developed a network of information sharing between local 
businesses, Police, and other public sector agencies that help to:

• Reduce criminal and anti-social behaviour.

•  Target persistent offenders who are responsible for the majority of crime.

• Reduce retail losses from crime.

•  Create a ‘safe and secure’ environment for customers and retail staff.

•  Encourage and promote investment in Dartford town centre and later the 
surrounding borough.

•  Strengthen partnerships with the local Police, Local Authority, Town Centre 
Managers and the Private sector. 

Targets
DTAC will base its success for the next three years on meeting the following 
objectives: 

1. Increase membership over the next three years from 80 clients to 140.

2.  Treble the number of Known Offenders on DISC from 45 to 135 offenders.

3. Increase the amount of Members using DISC

4.  Develop radio infrastructure to ensure coverage throughout Dartford

5. Increase revenue by 50% to £42,000 pounds per annum.

Keys to Success
1.  Listening to client concerns and objectives to create tailored support 

packages

2.  Ensuring links with other local initiatives but particularly with the Dartford 
Community Safety Strategy.

3.  Training security guards carefully and maintaining training (e.g. to report 
incidents)

4.  Investing in the latest technology to support the intelligence network

5. Excluding known offenders.



Dartford Town Against Crime

DTAC Ownership/Implementation
The scheme is managed by Board of Management (BoM) and run on a day 
to day basis by the Intelligence Manager in conjunction with colleagues. 
The Intelligence Manager provides the link between the members of the 
initiative, the Town Centre Management Team, Dartford Borough Council, the 
Police, CCTV staff, local retailers and other agency representatives. He has 
responsibility for monitoring the progress of the project provides quarterly 
reports to the BoM. A regular report on progress can be made available to 
members.

The scheme works to a robust set of protocols allowing members to identify, 
target and focus on the most serious, prolific and professional criminals as 
well as those offenders who are engaging in petty crime that nonetheless is 
affecting the local environment. 

Safer Business Award
THE Safer Business Award is available to local, 
business crime-reduction partnerships, and recognises 
good practice through a partnership approach. 
Successful applicants must meet the agreed 
operational standards set out in the good practice 
guides and supporting documentation. Home Office 
support has helped to set these standards. DTAC has 
achieved Safer Business Award status with Distinction!

Safer Socialising Award
The Safer Socialising Award is also available to licensed 
premises that help to prevent anti-social behaviour 
and promote good practice. This award provides 
recognition for businesses helping to make Dartford 
safer at night.

Competitive Edge
DTAC will build a competitive edge through high levels of customer service 
and assurance. DTAC will strive to be a partner in the security and protection 
of client’s assets, with intelligence as a major tool in that protection. This 
strategy will require DTAC to carefully audit a client’s security situation 
and to work with them on plans to upgrade and maintain that security. The 
Intelligence Manager will continually liaise with clients and with the guards 
sent to client sites to learn about the challenges they are facing.



Business Plan 2016-18

Marketing Strategy
To reach its target markets DTAC will use the following tactics:

•  Development of a basic “brochure” web-page with services and contact 
information advertising in Council publications

•  Business cards and brochures for DTAC to distribute on appointments and 
while networking with the Dartford area business networking groups

• Direct selling work based on target lists

•  Direct mail of brochures and letters to these target lists of potential clients 
in Dartford

Funding & Future Growth
The success of this plan is dependent on employing an Intelligence Manager, 
the purchase of radios and getting clients to utilise our intelligence data base 
(DISC). It is therefore essential that DTAC sets out its funding strategy carefully 
to ensure future liquidity. To enable this:

•  The Orchard Shopping Centre is providing support from their security team

•  Dartford Borough Council, on behalf of DTAC will take responsibility for 
employment of the Intelligence Manager.

•  Kent Police will provide support in terms of proportionate resources and 
intelligence sharing

Any existing cash surplus generated by the DTAC will be ploughed back into 
the scheme. Set up costs, including the purchase of new radios and DISC has 
been met from core funding.

“DTAC plays a major part in making Dartford safer, by acting as 
a conduit between its members and the police. By ensuring a 
two-way line of communication between them, we can improve 
confidence in making Dartford a safer place to work, shop, 
socialise and live.”

Mike Morgan, DTAC Intelligence Manager



Dartford Town Against Crime

Contact: Intelligence Manager

Dartford Borough Council 
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent DA1 1DR

Email: intel.manager@dartford.gov.uk

Telephone: 01322 343400



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE
26 July 2017

RESPONSE to UNAUTHORISED ENCAMPMENTS [Draw-Down]

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides an overview of Dartford Borough Council’s and Kent Police’s 
responses to Unauthorised (Traveller) Encampments in the Borough. It includes an 
explanation of the Legislative context and how the Council and the Police operate in 
partnership within the context of a bespoke Memorandum of Understanding (attached 
as Appendix A to this report). 

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Committee note the contents of the report and the Memorandum of 
Understanding between the Council and Kent Police as attached at Appendix 
A to the report.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The issue of Unauthorised Encampments (UE’s) has been a challenge 
for Local Authorities, the Police and Private Landowners across the 
country for many years. Few, if any, local authorities would welcome a 
UE on their land. However, many tolerate the incursions, either as a 
matter of policy where the impact on the community is assessed as 
being low, or because of a lack of capability/capacity to tackle the 
issue. A period in the early 2000’s where Dartford experienced 
significant numbers of UEs led directly to the Council’s stance of not 
tolerating UEs and to the formation of the Enforcement Team within 
Enforcement & Regulatory Services, to provide the capability to follow 
proper process and effect prompt removal of UEs from Council land.

3.2. The team had an immediate impact and has generally been able to 
deal effectively with most UEs since. However, more recently, 
differences in approach between this Council and other partners, 
specifically Kent Police and KCC had led to a mismatch of 
expectations. A report from the EARS Manager was submitted to the 
Police Deputy Chief Constable outlining concerns regarding Police 
policy which, at the time, suggested that the ‘problem’ of UE’s was a 
matter for the local authority to resolve. This led to a change in Kent 
Police Policy to reflect a more pragmatic, collaborative approach to 
UE’s in Kent.

3.3. With co-operation from the local Police Inspector at Dartford  a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) was drawn-up and agreed at 
Director/Senior Police Officer level and is attached as Appendix A to 
this report.



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE
26 July 2017

3.4. With the appointment of a new Enforcement Manager and a renewed, 
unambiguous DBC / Police approach to ALL UE’s in the Borough, the 
numbers of UE’s subsequently reduced and the processes for ‘dealing’ 
with each respective UE was refined according to the circumstances.  

4. What is an Unauthorised Encampment?

4.1 Unauthorised encampments (UEs) are defined by the Government 
as “encampments of caravans and/or other vehicles on land without 
the landowner or occupier's consent and constituting trespass”. 
Unauthorised camping is not a criminal offence. It is a civil offence 
(trespass), giving landowners the right to repossess their property 
using the due process of law. The prevention of trespass is the 
responsibility of the landowner.

5. Who deals with Unauthorised Encampments?

5.1 It depends on who owns or controls the land. Private landowners, Local 
Authorities and the Police all have powers to deal with UEs.

5.2 All UEs on Dartford Borough Council (DBC) land will be dealt with by DBC 
Enforcement Team Officers. If the UE is on Highways land or land owned by 
parish councils within the borough of Dartford, Kent County Council (KCC) 
and Parish councils have provided authority to DBC Enforcement Officers to 
take the necessary action on their behalf. 

5.3 If the UE is on privately owned land it is for the landowner to resolve. DBC 
Enforcement Team will liaise with the landowner and offer advice and 
guidance as necessary.

6. Who should be informed about Unauthorised Encampments?

6.1 The below table illustrates the issue and who should be called:

ISSUE WHO TO CALL

Encampment has already occurred Dartford Borough Council – 01322 
343434
Kent County Council Unauthorised 
Encampment 
03000 414141

Encampment about to take place Kent Police – 101
Dartford Borough Council – 01322 
343434



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE
26 July 2017

DBC ensures that all reports of UE’s are logged and dealt with appropriately.  

7. Unauthorised Encampments on Dartford Borough Council Land 

7.1 The Council must follow a process based on legislation and Government 
guidance to show that the UE is on the land without consent, make enquiries 
regarding general health, welfare and children's education, ensure that the 
Human Rights Act 1998 has been fully complied with and assess a UE’s 
effects on the local area. The Council can then serve notices and summonses 
that will enable authority to be obtained from the courts to order the travellers 
to leave the site. DBC ensures that a consistent, balanced but robust 
approach to UEs is taken and that decisions are made objectively, based on 
all relevant factors.

8. Removal of Unauthorised Encampments from Dartford Borough 
Council Land

8.1 The Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 gives Local Authorities in 
England and Wales powers to make directions to leave land being used by 
itinerant groups (section 77). It is offence to fail to comply with such a 
direction. In proceedings for an offence under this section it is a defence for 
the accused to show that failure to leave or remove vehicles or other property 
as soon as practicable, or re-entry with a vehicle was due to illness, 
mechanical breakdown or other immediate emergency. If a direction to leave 
is not complied with, the Local Authority can apply to the Magistrates Court for 
an order requiring the removal of vehicles and any occupants from the land 
(section 78).

8.2 DBC Enforcement Officers, accompanied by Kent Police Officers, will 
seek to immediately attend the site and carry out a risk assessment. If it is not 
appropriate for the Police to use their Section 61 powers to order the 
trespassers to leave the land, DBC Enforcement Officers will then serve 
verbal and written notice for them to leave, carry out welfare assessments and 
the requisite notice will be served to vacate the land within a prescribed time, 
usually 24 hours. A community Protection Warning Letter may also be served 
on the itinerant groups.

8.3 DBC Enforcement officers will attend at Magistrates Court and lay the 
information and obtain a summons for the trespassers to attend at court. 
Once granted, this summons is served the same day for the trespassers to 
attend at court the following morning. A Community Protection Notice may 
also be served with the summons.



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE
26 July 2017

8.4 Failure to attend and / or leave land by a time specified on the requested 
date to vacate, in contravention of Sections 77 and 78 will result in an eviction 
/ controlled removal.

8.5 Following the encampment moving off the site, the DBC Enforcement 
Manager will notify all relevant partners and interested parties that the site has 
been vacated. A clean-up operation may then be required along with action to 
target harden and secure the site if possible. 

9. Unauthorised Encampments on private land

9.1 The DBC Enforcement Team will make every effort to contact the 
landowner to ascertain if the encampment has permission or not. DBC 
Enforcement Officers will attend the UE and will provide support, advice and 
guidance to the landowner as required around welfare assessments and 
removal / eviction of the UE. 

9.2 UEs may be dealt with through negotiation but if this is not possible, action 
can be taken to remove trespassers from the land.  Landowners can ask a 
trespasser to move and, if they refuse, may use reasonable measures to 
remove them. Landowners may employ bailiffs for this purpose. Alternatively, 
a landowner can regain possession of their land by pursuing a claim for 
possession through the County Courts under Civil Procedure Rules 55. 
County Court bailiffs can be used to remove trespassers from the land once a 
possession order has been granted.

10. The role of Kent Police in dealing with Unauthorised Encampments

10.1 Kent Police and DBC work together very closely regarding incidents of 
UEs. 
In certain Circumstances a senior Police Officer has the discretion to order the 
travellers to leave and remove any vehicles and other property they may have 
with them (sections 61 and 62 of the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 
1994 and Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003). These powers can be used when 
two or more people are trespassing on land with six or more vehicles or where 
they have damaged land or property, where there has been 
threatening/abusive/insulting behaviour used against the occupier, the family 
or agent and where the landowner has asked the trespassers to leave (and 
they have not).

10.2 Subject to the above, the Police may then order the immediate vacation 
from the site. The Police may consider using their powers when there is 
disruption to local business, schools or hospitals; where significant damage 
has been caused to the property, e.g. forced entry; where there is evidence of 
offences being committed by the trespassers; or where any of the trespassers 
have used threatening behaviour.



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE
26 July 2017

10.3 The Police have a duty to preserve the peace and prevent offences 
against people and property and this applies to the whole of the community, 
including gypsy / travellers.

11. Conclusion

11.1 Dealing proportionately, lawfully and appropriately with UE’s is a 
complex and often subjective process which takes a great deal of skill and, 
often, moral courage from DBC officers who, whilst acting robustly in the 
interests of the wider public in Dartford, have to act impartially and in 
accordance with all relevant law.  

11.2 Notwithstanding these challenges the DBC Enforcement team, together 
with local Police partners have established a widely regarded reputation for 
the manner in which they deal with UE’s and are often sought to speak at 
meetings and conferences and are frequently visited by local authorities for 
advice and guidance. 

12.  Relationship to the Corporate Plan

12.1 Safer Communities – To create a safer Borough in which to live, work 
and socialise.

13.   Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None

Administrative Implications  None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

14. Details of Exempt Information Category

None.

15. Appendices

Appendix A – Memorandum of Understanding between Dartford 
Borough Council and Kent Police (Dartford District) – Managing 
Unauthorised Encampments



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE
26 July 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

MoU at Appendix A Mark Salisbury
(01322) 343339

EARS 
Manager



Appendix A

Memorandum of Understanding between Dartford Borough Council and Kent 
Police (Dartford District)

Managing Unauthorised Encampments

PURPOSE

1. This memorandum of understanding is intended to provide a description of 
working practices, roles and responsibilities which underpins the protocol 
on the management of unauthorised camping within the Dartford Borough 
Council area. It will seek to minimise community tensions and disruptions 
caused by unauthorised encampments.

AIM

2. To clearly identify the roles and responsibilities of all parties including the 
Police, Dartford Borough Council, and where appropriate other agencies 
such as Kent County Council. This will include identification of the lead 
organisation and the most appropriate action to manage the encampment. 

3. To consider the needs of all parties including residents, landowners, local 
businesses, gypsies and travellers.  

4. To manage unauthorised encampments in a supportive, effective and 
efficient way, addressing the support needs and rights of gypsies and 
travellers and balancing these with the rights of the relevant existing local 
community. 

5. To set out recommended courses of action which local authorities, the 
police and other partner agencies should follow to provide an effective 
response to unauthorised camping in their area. 

WHO DOES THE POLICY RELATE TO? 

6. This memorandum relates to all travelling groups and all unauthorised 
encampments in the Dartford Borough Council area. 

7. For the purposes of the memorandum the term gypsies and travellers is 
intended to relate to all travelling groups. 

        THE KEY PRINCIPLES 

8.  All offensive behaviour in any unauthorised encampment situation will be 
treated in the same manner within the rule of law. 

9.  Gypsies and Travellers must have equitable access to services 
PROCESS TO BE FOLLOWED WHEN UNAUTHORISED 
ENCAMPMENTS OCCUR 



10.An unauthorised encampment is any encampment that takes place on land 
outside of the existing approved Gypsy and Traveller sites in Dartford and 
without the permission of the landowner.

 
11.When there is an unauthorised encampment there will be a clear and 

consistent response that will be implemented in consultation with all 
relevant partners, it will include an early warning to all interested parties (as 
per Appendix ‘C’ refers .) 

12.An Encampment Response meeting will form part of the Community Safety 
Unit (CSU) morning meeting, who will identify the relevant parties to be 
invited, depending on the location of the encampment and the 
circumstances. As a minimum, membership of this group should involve 
representation from Dartford Borough Council and Kent Police.  

13.  A joint visit to the site of the incursion involving the landowner / Lead 
officer and the Police to gather information on the following: 

 Any aggravating factors such as damage that has been 
caused 

 The purpose of the group and length of intended stay
 The number of caravans and vehicles – registration numbers 

and descriptions should be obtained
 Clarify exact location 
 A welfare questionnaire for each caravan and its occupants 

identifying any vulnerable members of the group and any 
specific health needs, young children / babies, pregnant 
women, etc. 

 Animals on the site
 Other hazards apparent to the members of the gypsies or 

travellers group, staff attending the site, or to the local existing 
community

The findings of the visit will be recorded on a visit report / risk assessment, 
(including the capture of any supporting body camera and EGT evidence 
where appropriate). This report will enable relevant parties to assess the 
options and take relevant action. As per Appendices ‘A’ and ‘B’ options 
include:

 Section 61 of the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 
(Police led – Appendix ‘A’ refers)

 Section 77 of the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 
(Local Authority led – Appendix ‘B’ refers)

 Landowner agrees to tolerate encampment or Landowner led 
action under Common Law using bailiffs or an eviction / 
possession order.

14.A visit report/risk assessment will be commenced by the CSU 
representative identifying all relevant details of site visits and actions taken 
or to be taken. Actions will be allocated within the CSU daily meeting.



Considerations to be taken into account in delivering the above process will 
include the following:

 Unauthorised Camping on the Public Highway. All encampments on 
the highway are technically an obstruction. The Kent County Council 
Gypsy and Traveller Unit should be advised. The term ‘Highway’ 
includes any adjacent verge.

 Urgent action will be taken to remove unauthorised encampments 
on sites that impact upon:- 

 Local Amenities e.g. school car park, parks / leisure services facilities 
affected. 

 Disruption to the local economy as a result of occupying a shopping 
centre car park. 

 Significant actual disruption to the local community. 
 Actual obstruction of a public highway.
 Any aggravating factors identified within Section 61 that may impact on 

Police activity

The above factors form the basis of either a Section 61 
or Section 77 decision.

 Contact with the Local Community – This will include as appropriate:- 
- Involvement of the parish council clerk.
 

15.ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

• CSU Representative– Provision of coordinating role and ensure that 
progress is cascaded through all relevant departments. 

• Landowner – Responsible for instigating legal action to remove any 
unauthorised encampment in consultation with the CSU Co-ordinator, 
unless they are unable to do so, for example elderly or infirm. If so the CSU 
Co-ordinator may take the lead. 

• Kent Police – The Dartford Community Safety Unit Inspector will be the 
contact between Kent Police and Local Authority. 

Police will share all relevant information and undertake a role in terms of 
maintaining public order, prevention and detection of crime and support the 
move on from the site and visits to the site. In practice, unauthorised 
encampments which require a police input should be reported through the 
101 number.

16.COMMUNICATION OF THE MOU

The MOU will be communicated in the following ways:- 



• Publish agreement on all partner websites. 
• Cascade through relevant sections and departments and named contacts 
for partners support, relevant teams in delivery of the agreement and 
developing a response to any new or emerging issues. 
• Consult as appropriate on any changes or developments with staff, 
community and gypsies/travellers. 

17.MONITORING THE AGREEMENT 

The agreement will be monitored through the Dartford CSU meeting, who 
will review all encampments and delivery on the agreement. They will 
review this MOU and the review period will be ‘not less frequently than 
every 3 years’. This will be carried out using information provided by the 
coordinator and all partners. 
Any issues from an individual encampment can be brought to the next 
meeting of the CSU by any partner in the agreement. 

Signatories:

 ……… ………………………                                 Date……………
……………………………….                                 Date…………… 

Appendix ‘A’

Police eviction powers        

Section 61 Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994

         If-

 

 

I believe that 2 or more of you 
have entered the land as 
trespassers that you have a 
common purpose of residing on 
the land

 Who is the landowner?
 Are there 2 or more people?
 Have they entered the land as 

trespassers?
 Are caravans or other 'living' 

vehicles present?

And that reasonable steps have 
been taken by or on behalf of the 
person entitled to possession of 
the land to ask you to leave

What reasonable steps has the landowner taken 
to ask the trespassers to leave? e.g.
 Verbal request: (supported by written statement)
 Are there witnesses to the request?
 Have notices been served requesting them to 

leave - who served them, and how. Were they 
displayed prominently?

 Do the Police have a copy of any notice served?
I FURTHER BELIEVE THAT:

One or more of you has caused 
damage to the land or property on 
the land 

Damage can be ANY damage e.g.
 Padlock to gate
 Digging away earth mounding 

(cost money to have put in place or to repair)
 Could be litter in worst cases or engine oil 

contamination etcOR



One or more of you has used 
threatening, abusive or insulting 
words or behaviour towards the 
occupier, a member of his family 
or an employee or agent of his.

 Equivalent to Section 5 Public Order Act
 Only applies to landowner or agent – NOT all 

members of public
 Will the victim provide a written statement?

You have between you 6 or more 
vehicles (including caravans) on 
the land

 Vehicles includes motor vehicles 
and caravans

 Where S61 applies, consider this 
Guidance.THEN S61 MAY BE APPLIED.  IF IT IS, 

 S61 Notices must be served and copies kept 
(carbon)

 Details of people and vehicles must be recorded
 A ‘reasonable’ time (in the circumstances) must 

be given for them to leave the land
 Trespassers welfare issues must be taken into 

account HUMAN RIGHTS TESTS
Is the eviction proposed
 Legal - are the elements of Section 61 present?
 Proportionate - is the decision balanced?

Have the needs of the landowner or settled community 
been balanced with the needs of the trespassers?
Do all the trespassers need to be evicted or can specific 
individuals be identified?

 Accountable - is the rationale behind the decision 
recorded and available?

 Necessary - is it necessary to evict the group?
- Would other policing methods suffice e.g. high profile 

patrols, or 
Individual arrests for other offences?

FAILURE TO COMPLY
 Power of arrest - any person who fails to 

comply without reasonable excuse to 
leave the land 

 Power to seize any vehicle not removed 

DECISION MAKING 
GUIDANCE
 It is 

recommended 
that decisions to 
evict be made by 
an Officer not 
below the rank of 
Inspector.

 All decisions, 
whether to evict 
or not to evict, 
must be 
recorded, 
including 
rationale.

OR



Notification of Anauthorised Encampment

Initial Site Visit to be carried out jointly by Police/DBC (if 
during Office Hours)

Consideration should be given for EGT/Body Worn Video (BWV) 
footage of the site

Discussed during CSU Morning 
Meeting

Section 61

Police Enforce Sect 61 
with CSU Support

Evidence collated re 
site at eviction, 

(EGT/BWV)

Section 77

Verbal Direction to 
Leave

Section 77 'Pack' 
completed

Travellers Leave of 
their own accord

Evidence Collated re 
site at Evection, 

(EGT/BWV)

Travellers Remain on 
Site

CSU Visit with Police 
to inform Travellers of 
intention to apply for 

day 3

Apply for Order

DBC, Police and 
Recovery Agents 

attend to facilitate 
removal

Evidence Collated Re 
Site at Eviction, 

(EGT/BWV)

Landowner to 
enforce/Tolerate Site

Regular visits by 
Police/CSU & Daily 

Review at CSU 
Meeting

Agents remove 
Travellers with 

Police Support if 
necessary

Evidence Collated re 
Site at Eviction 

(EGT/BWV)



          
Contact List & early warning notification.

www.beanpc.kentparishes.gov.uk                                 Clerk: Jan Becket          T: 
01474 832999
beanparishcouncil@btinternet.com
www.darenthpc.kentparishes.gov.uk                            Clerk: Keith Holmes     T: 
01474 700416
keithpc@btinternet.com

       www.longfieldandnewbarnpc.kentparishes.gov.uk     Clerk: Mrs Jan Grigg     T: 
01474 707290
longfieldparishcouncil@btconnect.com
www.southfleetpc.kentparishes.gov.uk                        Clerk: Jackie Hardings T: 
01474 833622
clerk@southfleetpc.kentparishes.gov.uk
www.stoneparishcouncil.com                                         Clerk: Jenny Thomas    T: 
01322 384400
clerk@stoneparishcouncil.com
www.sutton-at-honepc.kentparishes.gov.uk                Clerk: Katheryn Gale    T: 
01322 862291
kathryn-sahpc@dsi.pipex.com

         www.swanscombeandgreenhithetc.kentparishes.gov.uk Clerk: Graham Blew 
T:01322 385513   
         graham.blew@swanscombeandgreenhithetowncouncil.gov.uk
         www.wilmingtonpc.kentparishes.gov.uk                           Clerk: Ian Armitt     T: 
01322 221149 
         clerk-wpc@outlook.com
       

         P J M Recovery Ltd.                                                                                                          
T: 01322 666669 
         KCC Gypsy & Traveller Unit    Bill Forrester & Palminder  Sandher                    T: 
03000 413451 
         Kent Police CSU                                                                   P.S. Martin Sharp         
M: 07870 252660
         Waste Services                                                                     Dave Thomas                
T: 01322 343273    
         Parks & open spaces                                                           Dave Bennett                
T: 01322 343472       

Appendix ‘D’

SECURING OF INCURSION SITE
CONTACTS

1. Pinden Quarry, Green Street Green Road, Longfield, Dartford, Kent, DA2 
8EB

     Tel: 01474 707149
     Fax: 01474 708293 
     Website: www.pinden.co.uk
      ‘Provision of Skips’

http://www.beanpc.kentparishes.gov.uk/
http://www.darenthpc.kentparishes.gov.uk/
http://www.stoneparishcouncil.com/
http://www.swanscombeandgreenhithetc.kentparishes.gov.uk/
http://www.wilmingtonpc.kentparishes.gov.uk/
http://www.pinden.co.uk/


2. Mark Luck, Wested Lane, Swanley, Kent, BR8 8EE

Tel: 01322 613355
Fax: 01322 613265
Website: WWW.MARKLUCKLIMITED.CO.UK
‘Tipper loads or grab loads of a clean inert material (soil/sub soil/clay/chalk)’

http://www.marklucklimited.co.uk/


CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE
26 July 2017

COMMUNITY SAFETY PERFORMANCE REPORT

1. SUMMARY

To note the Quarterly Performance Report produced by the Dartford & Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership.
       
2. RECOMMENDATION

That the Committee notes the Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership’s 
Quarterly Performance Report (June 2017), detailing performance in relation to levels 
of crime, anti-social behaviour and other indicators as set out in Appendix A to this 
report [enclosed as item A in the EXEMPT agenda papers]. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership’s (CSP) 
Performance Report - June 2017 [Item A in the EXEMPT agenda 
papers] details performance in relation to levels of crime and disorder 
and anti-social behaviour recorded in the boroughs of Dartford and 
Gravesham. The Performance Report was discussed by the CSP on 
22 June 2017.

3.2 The format differs from previous performance reports by utilising a 
revised set of performance indicators, as set-out in the 2016-19 
Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategy and updated in 
the CSP’s 2017 Refresh document. The new indicators are more 
reliant on data from partner agencies than in previous years, and 
difficulties have arisen from different reporting periods being used by 
agencies, and variations in the frequency with which data is collated 
and made available. Some of this data is taken directly from front-line 
recording systems rather than the audited figures which are released to 
the public. 

3.3 CSPs across Kent have moved away from the traditional Police-led 
statistics of previous years and have now adopted a range of 
alternative measures which demonstrate progress in tackling risk and 
harm, and improving quality of life. There is however no standard 
dataset and Community Safety Unit (CSU) officers have to make 
individual enquiries with partner agencies to obtain the information 
each CSP requires. This has been identified as an area in which 
efficiency could be improved if a collaborative request was submitted 
by KCC or CSUs jointly, and this will be explored at county Community 
Safety Managers’ meetings. 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE
26 July 2017

3.4 Work continues within the Dartford and Gravesham CSP at a County 
Level to both improve access to data sets and, more importantly, 
having insight into what risks they are identifying. This issue is all the 
more important given the recent concerns raised in the HMIC report   
Kent Police: Crime Data Integrity Inspection 2017. Police have yet 
to provide partners with a detailed explanation as to the reasons for the 
concerns, and their likely impact on recorded crime for Dartford and 
Gravesham. The HMIC report is currently embargoed. 

3.5 Members are invited to note the Quarterly Performance Report 
enclosed as item A in the EXEMPT agenda papers. Representatives of 
the CSU and Kent Police will be available to respond to Members’ 
questions.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Safer Communities – To create a safer Borough in which to live, work 
and socialise. SC2 – Reduce anti-social behaviour. 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None arising from this report

Legal Implications None specifically

Staffing Implications None arising from this report

Administrative Implications None arising from this report

Risk Assessment Any reduction or withdrawal of service would 
have a negative impact on crime and disorder 
within the Borough.

6. Obligation of Confidence

An obligation of confidence arises as the data contained in this report, 
while not restricted, is considered to be sensitive and the Council is 
required to treat the information as confidential.

7. Appendices 

Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership’s Quarterly 
Performance Report (June 2017) – agenda item A (EXEMPT). 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE
26 July 2017

June
2017

Tony Henley,
Community Safety 
Manager

EARS 
Strategic 
(ES)

Obligation 
of 

Confidence





CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE
26 July 2017

2017 REFRESH TO COMMUNITY SAFETY STRATEGY (2016-19)

1. Summary

To place before the Committee, the Community Safety Strategy 2016-19 (2017 
Refresh) for Members’ consideration.
       
2. RECOMMENDATION

That the Committee considers the Community Safety Strategy 2016-19 (2017 
Refresh), at Appendix A to the report, and comment accordingly.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Committee, at its meeting in February 2017 [Min.No.25], 
considered the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety 
Partnership’s (CSP) Strategic Assessment 2016 document. The 
priorities identified, together with views expressed by partner agencies, 
and elected Members, were reflected in the Community Safety 
Strategy 2016 -19 (2017 Refresh) document (Appendix A to the report) 
and agreed by the CSP on 23 March  2017.  The 2017 Refresh 
document which updates the CSP’s 2016-19 Community Safety 
Strategy guides the work of all CSP partner agencies and ensures that 
the focus upon the CSP’s agreed priorities is maintained.

3.2 Members are invited to consider the 2017 Refresh document and 
comment accordingly. Officers and representatives of Kent Police will 
be available to respond to Members’ questions.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Safer Communities – To create a safer Borough in which to live, work 
and socialise. SC2 – Reduce anti-social behaviour.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None arising from this report

Legal Implications None specifically

Staffing Implications None arising from this report

Administrative Implications None arising from this report

Risk Assessment Any reduction or withdrawal of service would 
have a negative impact on crime and disorder 
within the Borough.



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE
26 July 2017

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A: Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 
2016-19 (2017 Refresh)

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

June 
2017

Tony Henley
(01322) 

Kath Donald

EARS 
Strategic 
(ES)

Gravesham 
CSU 
(Strategic 
Manager)

N/A



16 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2016-19 
(2017 Refresh) 

Dartford and Gravesham 
Community Safety Strategy 

 



1 
 

Foreword 
 
Welcome to the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategy for 2016-19, refreshed for 
2017 to take into consideration the Community Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2016. 
 
Partnership working across Dartford and Gravesham goes from strength to strength.  Since the formation 
of our joint Partnership in 2006, our commitment to working together has ensured real and tangible 
improvements to the quality of life of our communities.  Levels of crime and anti-social behaviour have 
fallen significantly over the last ten years in each of our Boroughs despite both the national and local 
challenges of reductions in financial and staffing resources and increasing demands on all our services. 
 
In the last year, we have continued to build upon our previous success and experienced further reductions 
in domestic burglary, vehicle crime, theft and handling offences and drug offences.  We have also achieved 
a decrease in anti-social behaviour that we know can have a considerable impact on our neighbourhoods 
and on people’s feelings about their personal safety. Recognising the importance of meeting the needs of 
victims, we have strengthened the support available for individuals and families experiencing domestic 
abuse and through developing a better understanding of factors that can contribute to offending 
behaviour, we have established new initiatives to provide better opportunities for offenders to recover 
from drug and alcohol misuse and see them on the road to recovery. 
 
Working in partnership is essential and reaps good results but recognising that improvements cannot be 
secured overnight and that some initiatives need to be delivered over a longer period of time, this year we 
have adopted a different approach by developing a three year strategy rather than an annual plan.  The 
new strategy includes short, medium and longer term objectives built around several themes that deal with 
those community safety issues that have the greatest impact on our services and our neighbourhoods.  
 
We hope that this Community Safety Strategy demonstrates how all the Partnership’s statutory agencies, 
together with the voluntary and community sector and residents, can all contribute to reducing crime, 
disorder and anti-social behaviour and most importantly of all, help to keep local people safe.  
 

  
 
Councillor John Cubitt 
Leader, Gravesham Borough Council 
 

 
   Councillor Jeremy Kite 

Leader, Dartford Borough Council 
 

 
 

  



2 
 

Introduction 
Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) is made up of statutory agencies brought 
together under a shared responsibility placed upon them by the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  The Act has 
been amended over the years since its introduction to include responsibilities to not only lower crime but 
to tackle anti-social behaviour (ASB) and substance misuse, recognising that these issues can have 
considerable impact on local communities and to reduce the reoffending of those who repeatedly commit 
crime. 
 
The CSP has continued to operate in a time of significant change in the public sector.  Key statutory 
partners have all faced reductions in expenditure and resources and external funding to support 
community safety activity has also reduced.  However, many of the statutory requirements placed on 
Partnerships remain and there are key national thematic policy drivers that have influenced our direction 
and the decision to adopt a new three-year Strategy that will be reviewed on an annual basis. 
 

Our Partnership 
Dartford and Gravesham CSP has a strong track record of achievement in reducing crime and ASB and 
improving community safety locally.  This has only been possible because of the excellent working 
relationship between the specified authorities that make up the Partnership.  Currently these are: 
 

• Kent County Council; 
• Dartford Borough Council; 
• Gravesham Borough Council; 
• Kent Police; 
• Kent Fire and Rescue Service; 
• Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group; 
• Kent, Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company; 

 
These agencies all have a statutory duty to work together to tackle crime and disorder however, very 
significant contributions are made to Partnership activities by a host of voluntary and private sector groups, 
charitable organisations and local community groups, without which our ability to tackle community safety 
priorities would be much more restricted.  Each year the CSP has a legal duty to complete a Strategic 
Assessment of the levels of crime and ASB being experienced in our two Boroughs.  The purpose of the 
Assessment is to: determine whether priorities remain the same or whether there are new priorities to 
address; highlight performance, progress and achievements against commitments made in the previous 
Community Safety Plan and identify key crime, disorder and ASB risks and threats to our local communities. 
 
The key findings of our Strategic Assessment 2016 – Progress and 
Achievements 
 
In the year ending 30 September 2016, increases were seen in both Dartford and Gravesham in both 
victim-based crime and crimes against society. 
 
Dartford 
Category YE Sept 14 YE Sept 15 YE Sept 16 % change (15 to 16) Per 1,000 pop. 
Victim-based crime 7795 7522 8,388 +11.5 80.7 
Crimes against society 523 464 619 +33.4 5.9 
Total crime 8318 7986 9007 +12.8 86.7 
 
 
 



3 
 

Gravesham 
Category YE Sept 14 YE Sept 15 YE Sept 16 % change (15 to 16) Per 1,000 pop. 
Victim-based crime 7180 6783 7697 +13.5 72.4 
Crimes against society 521 460 612 +33 5.8 
Total crime 7701 7243 8309 +14.7 78.2 
 
 This Community Safety Strategy incorporates the issues identified as priorities within the Strategic 
Assessment but also reflects new demands being placed upon partner agencies, recently introduced 
legislative responsibilities and fresh community safety challenges being faced nationally as well as within 
our local neighbourhoods.   
 
Our Priorities for 2016-19 
 
The Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2015 identified the following areas as 
priorities for the Partnership to focus on: 

• Violent Crime and Domestic Abuse 
• Anti-Social Behaviour (Incorporating Criminal Damage related to ASB) 
• Acquisitive and Property Crime 
• Substance Misuse 
• Reducing Re-offending 
• Road Safety 

 
2017 Refresh: 
The Strategic Assessment process carried out in December 2016 identified an increase in criminal damage 
offences across both Dartford and Gravesham which warrants including criminal damage as a priority in its 
own right from 2017.  In order to understand factors behind this, a profile of criminal damage offences in 
our area will be carried out by Kent Police. 
 
There are many common factors and links between these seven areas of work, and all contribute to the 
following three overarching themes. 

 
1. Protecting vulnerable people from harm; 
2. Disrupting and preventing organised acquisitive crime; 
3. Protecting and strengthening communities. 

 
 

The following diagram demonstrates how the priorities identified in the Strategic Assessment align with the 
three thematic priorities.  The thematic terms are broad, and the connections shown are not necessarily 
exhaustive.  



4 
 

 

For example; Substance Misuse affects individuals who find themselves addicted to substances; victims of 
the violent actions of those under the influence; and also the wider community when areas experience 
disorder related to drink or drug use.  These aspects would fall under the Protecting Vulnerable People, and 
Protecting and Strengthening Communities priorities.  

The partnership has therefore structured its strategy around these three themes, and further information 
will be provided later in the Strategy to explain how each of the three thematic priorities assimilate the 
priorities identified by the Strategic Assessment process. 

This new Strategy runs for three years (2016-19) and will be refreshed annually following the completion of 
the Strategic Assessment process.  The new model focuses less on tackling individual crime types, instead 
placing a greater emphasis on: 
 

• Identifying and addressing the needs of the most vulnerable; 
• Improving efficiency by integrating existing processes more effectively; 
• Reducing demand; 
• Making communities more resilient. 

 
The intention is also to adhere to the HIPE model: 
 

• Harm-focused; 
• Intelligence-led; 
• Problem-oriented; 
• Evidence-based. 

 
Key Policy Drivers 
 
Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 
The Act introduced new powers to tackle ASB that provide better protection for victims and communities.  
The new Community Trigger and Community Remedy empower victims and communities, giving them 



5 
 

greater say in how agencies respond to complaints of ASB and issue sanctions for offenders whilst other 
new tools, such as the Criminal Behaviour Order (CBOs) and Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs), have 
provided new approaches for addressing persistent ASB and crime.  The CSP will continue to make use of 
new powers whenever possible and appropriate. 
 
Transforming Rehabilitation 
The Transforming Rehabilitation Programme set out the Government’s plans to overhaul the way in which 
offenders are managed in the community to reduce reoffending.  Key aspects of the reform have included: 
the creation of a new National Probation Service to manage high risk offenders (June 2014) and the 
creation of regional private sector Community Rehabilitation Companies (CRCs) managing all other 
offenders (February 2015).  Every offender released from custody is now to receive statutory supervision 
and rehabilitation in the community. 
 
Police and Crime Commissioners 
In May 2016, the current Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) for Kent was elected. The CSP and the 
Office of the Kent PCC work collaboratively on shared objectives within the PCC’s own Safer in Kent plan 
including: supporting victims and those experiencing mental health issues; tackling abuse, exploitation and 
violence;  fighting crime and ASB; and improving road safety.  The work of the CSP has also been heavily 
dependent on funding grants allocated by the PCC for the last four years.  
 
New Domestic Abuse Measures 
Following the extension of the definition of domestic violence in March 2013, several further measures 
have been introduced that have changed the way in which agencies are able to support victims of domestic 
violence and abuse.  In March 2014, the Domestic Violence Disclosure Scheme (known as Clare’s Law) was 
extended to all police forces across England and Wales, allowing police to disclose to individuals, details of 
their partner’s abusive past. The Serious Crime Act 2015 also created a new offence of ‘controlling or 
coercive behaviour’ in intimate or familial relationships that came into force in December 2015. This 
includes honour-based violence, female genital mutilation and forced marriage and victims are not 
confined to one gender or ethnic group. 
 
Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 
The threat to the UK from terrorist organisations and extremist groups resulted in the national threat level 
being raised to ‘Severe’, meaning that an attack is considered highly likely.  Under this legislation, specified 
authorities (local authorities, police, education, probation, prisons and health) all have a duty, whilst 
exercising their functions, to have due regard to the need to prevent people from being drawn into 
terrorism.  Chanel (the multi-agency approach to support individuals at risk of being drawn into terrorist or 
extremist activity) has also been placed on a statutory footing and seeks to safeguard individuals who might 
be vulnerable to radicalisation. 
 
Modern Slavery Act 2015 
The Act came into force in November 2015, consolidating several existing slavery offences and creating two 
main modern slavery offences: Slavery, servitude and forced or compulsory labour and human trafficking 
(where a person arranges or facilitate the travel of another person with a view to that person being 
exploited).  The ‘exploitation’ includes: slavery, servitude and forced or compulsory labour; sexual 
exploitation; removal of organs; securing services by force, threats or deception; and securing services from 
children or vulnerable people. Specified public authorities now have a duty to notify the Home Office of any 
individual that is identified by them as a suspected victim of slavery or human trafficking. 
 
Safeguarding and Child Exploitation 
Child sexual exploitation (CSE) has become a major policy priority in recent years following a number of 
high profile CSE cases in the UK. Sexual exploitation of children and young people under 18 involves 
exploitative situations, contexts and relationships where young people (or a third party or persons) receive 
‘something’ (e.g. gifts, money, affection) as a result of them performing and/or another person/s 



6 
 

performing on them, sexual activities.  The production, distribution and possession of indecent images and 
live streaming of child abuse together with online exploitation are recognised as a national issue. 
 
Troubled Families Programme 
In April 2012, Government launched the national Troubled Families Programme.  Phase 1 of the 
Programme, which ran until the end of March 2015, aimed to work with families who were experiencing 
difficulties in any two of the following: employment, school attendance, ASB or offending by young family 
members.  Identified families were allocated to professionals from a range of agencies or to dedicated 
Family Intervention Programme staff to provide intensive support. In June 2014, Government announced 
plans to extend the Troubled Families Programme for a further five years although the new Phase 2 has 
broadened the range of qualifying criteria that may be used to identify a troubled family, adding domestic 
abuse, physical and mental health problems and adult offending.   
 
The Serious Crime Act 2015 
This Act improved the legislative powers available to local partners to tackle serious and organised crime, 
including a new offence of participating in the activities of an organised crime group and more preventative 
capability through Serious Crime Protection Orders.  These Orders are intended for use against those 
involved in the most serious offences including drugs trafficking, fraud and money laundering.  This is a 
court order used to protect the public by preventing, restricting or disrupting a person’s involvement in 
serious crime.  Local Councils are expected to work alongside law enforcement agencies, sharing relevant 
intelligence, to make the best use of these powers. 
 
The Psychoactive Substances Act 2016 
The Act received Royal Assent in January 2016 and aims to tackle the trade in harmful psychoactive 
substances and protect young people from the risks posed by them.  The new legislation prohibits the 
production, supply and importation of these potentially dangerous drugs and carries severe sentences. 
 
Delivering the Strategy 
The Strategy is intended to operate as a live and working document and the following process will be used 
in order that any significant changes in circumstances can be incorporated into the Strategy through an 
annual ‘refresh’ if necessary. 

Planning and delivery process 
 

 



7 
 

 
 
Our Partnership Structure 
 
The Partnership has been structured to ensure that the priorities in this Strategy can be effectively 
delivered and that performance and progress is regularly monitored with appropriate checks and balances 
in place to keep work on track.  As well as a joint overarching strategic group that brings together statutory 
agencies at a most senior level, the Partnership has a number of Operational Sub-Groups that deliver 
projects on the ground. 
 
Our two Boroughs, through their Community Safety Units (CSUs), carry out the day-to-day co-ordination of 
Partnership activity.  The positions of Chair and Vice-Chair of the Partnership are alternated between the 
two Councils’ Leaders and senior officers representing strategic links to other partnership boards provide 
co-ordination across the piece. 
 

Partnership Organisational Structure 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Further Groups also contributing to the work of the Partnership include: G-Safe, D-TAC, Community Cohesion Group 
(GBC), Dartford Vulnerability Forum, Kent and Medway Prevent Delivery Board and local ASB Groups.  

DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM 
COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP (CSP) 

CSP Management Group 

Dartford  
Community Safety Unit 

Gravesham 
Community Safety Unit 

CSP 
Key Delivery Groups 

 
Drug and Alcohol Action Group 

 
North Kent Domestic Abuse 

Forum 

 
MEAM Project Groups 

 

 
Reducing Re-offending Group 

Integrated Offender 
Management Groups 

 



8 
 

Community Safety Units 
 
The two Community Safety Units (CSUs) located in each Civic Centre act as the operational arm of the CSP 
providing a joint working framework for staff from the Local Authority to work alongside Kent Police’s 
Community Policing Team and facilities for partners such as the Kent County Council Community Wardens. 
 
The CSU splits into a two-tier arrangement; dealing with short-term operational issues on a daily basis but 
also looking strategically at medium and long-term projects connected to the priorities for the partnership.  
The CSUs are partnership focused, engaging with a wide range of statutory and voluntary sector agencies. 
 
Key objectives;  
 

• To ensure that the operational activities are targeted toward the aims of the Partnership by; 
o Considering current intelligence and statistical information provided by all agencies in the 

borough; 
o Utilising that information to quickly identify geographical areas or ‘hot spots’ suffering 

increased crime or anti-social behaviour 
o Prioritising activities and coordinate an appropriate and effective response by partner agencies 

in a joined up approach. 
• To work with and within communities and provide support in tackling neighbourhood priorities. 

 

 
 
 
 



9 
 

Tasking & Coordination Group 
 
The group meets to discuss incidents and issues that have developed over the time since the last meeting.  
CSU staff attend and the meeting is open to all partner agencies well as other Police and Council 
departments.  It is expected that if those outside of the CSU want an issue raised they attend the meeting 
in order that they can seek support/advice whilst retaining ownership of the problem. 
 

Counter Terrorism (Prevent & Channel) 
 
Prevent is a key component of the Government’s counter terrorism strategy; CONTEST.  Prevent provides a 
platform to help agencies respond to the ideological challenge of terrorism and those who promote it; 
preventing people from being radicalised or drawn into terrorism by working with communities and 
institutions. 
 
Both CSUs meet to discuss information, intelligence and concerns affecting the Dartford & Gravesham 
areas, included are representatives from Kent Police (who lead the meeting), the Metropolitan Police as 
well as representatives from the community safety teams at the London Borough of Bexley and the Royal 
Borough of Greenwich. 
 
Channel is a multi-agency approach to provide support to individuals who are at risk of being drawn into 
terrorist-related activity or who are in danger of being radicalised. Channel forms part of the wider Prevent 
Strategy but seeks particularly to:  
 

• Safeguard individuals who might be vulnerable to being radicalised so that they are not at risk of 
being drawn into terrorist-related activity;  

• Ensure that individuals and communities have the ability to resist all forms of terrorism and violent 
extremism activity likely to lead to terrorism.  

 
Troubled Families 
 
Kent County Council operate the Early Help service across all Kent districts.  This service aims to provide 
support to families who are experiencing issues such as low school attendance, minor offending, or 
perpetrating anti-social behavior, but do not require the intervention of Specialist Children’s Services.  
Within each area families with multiple issues are identified and provided with additional support. 
 
Each CSU has links with the local Early Help team and with a member of Kent County Council staff 
responsible for monitoring progress of support provided and improving delivery of local services to assist 
families. This working relationship can add value to the work of the CSU and Kent Police around reducing 
crime and anti-social behavior.  
 

Cross Border Intelligence Sharing  
 
The group has been set up to facilitate closer working arrangements and information sharing relating to 
people who are involved with a ‘gang’.  Intelligence shows that members of London-based gangs travel into 
Kent and other counties to sell drugs, often exploiting vulnerable individuals and using their properties to 
deal drugs. Violence can also occur between rival gangs, or as punishment for unpaid debts. 
 
Rather than being seen as a group of young people who are ‘hanging around’ the Government defines a 
gang as ‘a group who see themselves (and are seen by others) as a noticeable group, and engage in criminal 
activity and violence. They may also identify with or have claim over territory; and/or be in conflict with 
other, similar gangs.’1 

 



10 
 

1 Definition adopted by HM Government, as taken from the Centre for Social Justice’s 2009 report, Dying to Belong   
 

Vulnerable young people are at risk of being drawn in to anti-social or criminal activities, they could also be 
at risk of child sexual exploitation (CSE). 
 
 
  



11 
 

Protecting Vulnerable People from Harm 
 

 
Why is this objective a priority? 
Protecting vulnerable people from harm has been identified as a priority because the Partnership 
recognises that personal safety is paramount.  Certain offences such as domestic abuse, or sexual offences, 
are known to suffer from under-reporting and with rapidly changing populations and when language 
barriers may prevent victims from accessing services, it is important that the Partnership takes steps to 
raise awareness of services and assistance, particularly amongst hard to reach groups.   
 
Work in this area covers a range of serious offences including: 

• Domestic violence and abuse; serious violent crime; 
• Child abuse and exploitation; 
• Human trafficking and modern slavery; 
• Alcohol-related violence. 

What are our challenges? 
Approximately 30% of all violent crime recorded locally is domestic abuse, affecting hundreds of victims, 
their children and families each year. Domestic abuse, sexual offences (particularly those involving children) 
and exploitation of people through slavery and human trafficking and hate crime are all widely 
acknowledged as suffering from under-reporting.  There are also established correlations between alcohol 
dependency and violent crime.  Our key challenges will be to reduce the rate of repeat victims of domestic 
violence and abuse and to take action to encourage all vulnerable victims of crime to have confidence in 
the services available to them to allow them to come forward and seek assistance and advice.  Protecting 
vulnerable people from harm presents complex challenges: we recognise that building confidence to 
address under-reporting will not be easy, there may be language barriers or fear of reprisals and we need 
to work within our local communities to encourage hard to reach groups in particular to access support 
services. 
How will we measure our impact? 

• Number of Domestic Violence Protection Orders issued; 
• Number of Early Help cases in which domestic abuse is a key issue; 
• Number of victims accessing One Stop Shop services; 
• Number of victims assisted through the Sanctuary Scheme; 
• Measure of repeat victimisation rate for victims of domestic abuse; 
• Number of missing children receiving a return interview 
• Number of licensed premises meeting criteria for the Safer Socialising Award; 
• Number of violent crimes. 
• Number of clients engaging with CGL treatment and recovery programmes; 
• Number of Accident  and Emergency attendances as a result of violence; 
• Number of G-Safe and D-TAC Exclusions. 

Key Delivery Groups 
• North Kent Domestic Abuse Forum; 
• G-Safe and D-TAC Boards; 
• Reducing Re-offending Group; 
• Community Cohesion Group (Gravesham); 
• Drug and Alcohol Action Group; 
• Integrated Offender Management Groups; 
• Dartford Vulnerability Forum. 

 
 

 



12 
 

Disrupting  and Preventing Organised 
Acquisitive Crime 

 
 
Why is this objective a priority? 
Whilst there have been good reductions in the number of thefts from sheds and garages in both areas and 
a reduction in residential burglary in Gravesham, there has been an increase in residential burglary in 
Dartford.  Being safe in one’s own home remains a key priority for all local people and this extends to the 
boundaries of their properties.  It is also often the most vulnerable victims and communities that suffer the 
greatest impact of burglary or theft of property from garages and outbuildings.     
Organised crime groups operate across Kent, some limiting themselves to one type of crime, others 
engaging in a combination of offences e.g. handling stolen goods and targeting particular areas for 
burglary. Organised crime that is associated with drugs criminality and in particular, the importation and 
supply of Class A drugs, remains a threat locally.   
 
What are our challenges? 
The rate of Burglary Other Than Dwelling (BOTD) offences e.g. breaks into garages and sheds per 1,000 
population, remain higher locally than in other parts of Kent.  Within our Most Similar Group (MSG) 
Dartford and Gravesham CSP recorded the highest rate of BOTD offences than any other Partnership area 
within the Group in 2015, although our position improved from 15th to 10th in 2016. This indicates that this 
form of acquisitive crime is more prevalent in our area and that we need to increase our joint efforts to 
counter it. Disrupting organised crime networks and identifying those involved is heavily dependent on 
intelligence and information – some of this may be more readily accessible by partner agencies (including 
Council services) than by police, therefore, it is crucial that tackling organised crime is seen as a multi-
agency objective.   
 
The Partnership will also need to develop public confidence to encourage reporting to authorities and 
needs to raise awareness of the support that is available to those with information that come forward in 
order that intelligence gaps are closed.  
How will we measure our impact? 

• Number of Organised Crime Groups operating in our area; 
• Number of prolific offenders (IOM cohort) re-offending; 
• Number of acquisitive crimes recorded (shoplifting, burglary, burglary other than dwelling); 
• Number of drug offences (supply); 
• Number of Trading Standards/Immigration visits made to disrupt groups/individuals involved in the 

sale of counterfeit and illegal tobacco and alcohol. 
 

Key Delivery Groups 
• Reducing Re-offending Group; 
• Integrated Offender Management (IOM) Group; 
• G-Safe and D-TAC Boards; 
• Dartford Vulnerability Forum. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



13 
 

 

Protecting and Strengthening Communities 
 

 
Why is this objective a priority? 
The Prevent Strategy is part of the Government’s counter-terrorism strategy, Contest.  It aims to stop 
people becoming a terrorist or supporting extremism.  At present, the national threat level stands at 
‘Severe’ interpreted as a terrorist attack being ‘highly likely’. It is important to emphasise that this is a 
reflection of the national threat and does not mean that our own geographical area faces the same degree 
of risk.  The Home Office categorises Local Authority areas across the UK on the basis of risk as either 
Priority (Tiers 1 and 2) or Non-Priority Areas (Tier 3) and Kent and Medway have both been deemed to fall 
within Tier 3.  Nonetheless, the Counter Terrorism and Security Act received Royal Assent on 12 February 
2015, placing the Prevent programme on a statutory footing and Part 5 of the Act (Chapter 1 s. 26-35) 
places a general duty on all specified authorities to, when exercising their functions, have due regard to the 
need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism.  No area - however low the perceived risk - is 
immune. 
 
Both Dartford and Gravesham have a strong history of celebrating the great diversity of our local 
populations and recognise the important role that local people themselves have to play in building 
communities that are safe, where people from very different cultural backgrounds, with different beliefs 
and lifestyles, can live alongside each other with mutual respect for each other and their local environment.  
It is important that the Partnership is proactive in addressing issues that could threaten community 
cohesion and that partner agencies work collaboratively to demonstrate that hate crime will not be 
tolerated.  
 
Whilst individual incidents of anti-social behaviour (ASB) may be considered minor offences, persistent ASB 
can have a very detrimental effect on individuals and families that are its victims and neighbourhoods as a 
whole.  Certain environmental crimes often linked to ASB place a considerable demand on local services 
and can be costly to address; experience of previous work carried out by the CSP has demonstrated that 
involving local people in initiatives that enable them to take ownership of and pride in their 
neighbourhoods, is effective in reducing ASB.   
 
Despite continuing reductions, Gravesham’s rate of ASB incidents per 1,000 population is the second 
highest in Kent, while Dartford’s is the fourth highest.  In Dartford deliberate fire-setting increased 
significantly in 2015 (by over 50% to 179 incidents) due to malicious activity at a number of open spaces.  In 
2016 Dartford’s increase in deliberate fires was 4.0%, compared to an increase of 9.1% in Gravesham, and a 
Kent average increase of 4.1%.  ASB is often firmly linked to criminal damage and both Boroughs have 
experienced an increase in these offences.  In the year ending 30 September 2016, there were 1,385 
criminal damage offences recorded in Dartford and 1,404 offences in Gravesham – accounting for 15.4% 
and 16.9% of all victim-based crime recorded in each area respectively. 
How will we measure our impact? 

• Number of Prevent/Channel training sessions provided; 
• Number of Channel referrals made; 
• Number of criminal damage offences per 1,000 population in key Wards; 
• Number of deliberate fires by type; 
• Number of ASB incidents per 1,000 population; 
• Use of ASB tools and powers (number of CBOs, CPNs and injunction applications); 
• Number of Licensing Reviews completed; 
• Number of noise complaints received by Environmental Health officers; 
• Number of Deter Young Offenders; 
• Number of families ‘turned around’ (Troubled Families); 



14 
 

• Number of referrals to the MEAM process; 
• Number of young people referred to KF&RS Intervention courses (e.g. Climbing Fit, Fighting Fit). 
• Number of hate crimes recorded. 

Key Delivery Groups 
• Community Cohesion Group (Gravesham); 
• Drug and Alcohol Action Group; 
• Reducing Re-offending Group; 
• Local ASB Groups; 
• G-Safe and D-TAC Boards. 

 
 



15 
 

Action Plan 
 
The aims and objectives of the Community Safety Strategy guide the overall direction of the Partnership in the medium and long term (at least three 
years).  To ensure that identified priorities are being addressed and that the impact of work being carried out is able to be monitored on a regular 
basis, the Strategy is underpinned by a clear commitment to action in the shorter term.  The following Action Plan addresses each of the priority 
areas identified in the Strategy and whilst not exhaustive, provide details of key pieces of work to be completed.  CSP Sub-Groups will ensure that 
activity is focused on the items identified in the Action Plan and progress being made in the delivery and impact of this activity will be reported back 
to the Main Partnership on a quarterly basis as part of standard performance reporting.  
 
It is important to note that Dartford and Gravesham each have Prevent and Modern Slavery Action Plans (not contained within this document) in 
place that provide a structured approach to tackling these specific issues.  Progress on the delivery of these Plans will also be provided to the 
Community Safety Partnership as part of performance monitoring. 
 
  



16 
 

Protecting Vulnerable People from Harm 
 

 
 
Ref 

 
Action Plan 

Coordinating 
Delivery Group 

Strategic 
Assessment 

priority 
 
1.1 

 
To raise public awareness of the different forms of domestic abuse and sexual violence. 

 
DA Forum 

Domestic abuse, 
violent crime 

1.2 To ensure early identification and continue to promote preventative interventions to decrease domestic 
abuse and its severity. 

 
DA Forum 

 
Domestic abuse 

1.3 To continue local One Stop Shop provision. DA Forum Domestic abuse 
 
1.4 

To ensure that vulnerable victims who want to remain within their homes are assisted through the Sanctuary 
Scheme. 

 
DA Forum 

 
Domestic abuse 

 
1.5 

To ensure that victims are provided with an enhanced level of support throughout the criminal justice process 
(via the Independent Domestic Violence Advisor (IDVA) service and through local charitable organisations). 

 
DA Forum 

 
Domestic abuse 

 
1.6 

To develop stronger links between Early Help workers and specially trained domestic abuse staff (intervening 
at an early stage and minimising risk pre-MARAC). 

 
DA Forum 

 
Domestic abuse 

1.7 To identify additional support that can be provided to Early Help Workers identifying domestic abuse within 
their clients’ families. 

 
DA Forum 

 
Domestic abuse 

 
1.8 

To encourage greater reporting from minority groups (LGBT) and male victims of domestic abuse and ensure 
they are supported. 

 
DA Forum 

 
Violent crime 

 
1.9 

 
To establish how repeat/serial perpetrators of domestic abuse can be identified earlier to reduce their risk of 
offending/re-offending. 

DA Forum, IOM, 
Reducing  
Re-offending Group 

 
Domestic abuse 

 
1.10 

To ensure that all appropriate staff have been trained to recognise possible cases of modern slavery, human 
trafficking or CSE and provide appropriate interventions. 

CSUs  
Violent crime 

 
1.11 

To establish the nature and extent of human trafficking and modern slavery in Dartford and Gravesham. CSUs  
Violent crime 

 
 
1.12 

 
To work with emergency planning teams to make sure that support will be available for victims who may be 
rescued at short notice. 

 
CSUs 

 
 
Violent crime 



17 
 

 
1.13 
 

To provide training to staff as appropriate regarding and recognising the signs of gang activity (e.g. of 
‘cuckooing’ - where organised criminal groups target vulnerable people and take over their homes to use 
them as a distribution point for stolen goods or illicit drugs. 

 
CSUs 

 
Violent crime 

 
1.14 

 
To work collaboratively with G-Safe and D-TAC deliver joint initiatives e.g. Safe Socialising Scheme, to reduce 
the risk of alcohol-related violence in the night-time economy. 

 
DAAG, G-Safe, D-
TAC 

Substance misuse, 
Violent crime 

 
1.15 

 
To continue to deliver the CGL-led Making Every Adult Matter (MEAM) Project and promote referrals to 
address the complex needs of individuals engaging in drug or alcohol-related crime and ASB. 

DAAG and MEAM 
group 

Substance misuse, 
ASB 

 
 
1.16 

 
To raise awareness of the dangers of new psychoactive substances (Legal Highs) through joint work with Early 
Help and Open Access Teams. 

 
 
DAAG 

Substance misuse, 
ASB 

 
 
1.17 

 
To use Licensing powers as appropriate to reduce alcohol-related ASB, particularly that associated with 
street-drinking). 

 
 
DAAG, CSUs 

Substance misuse, 
ASB 

 



18 
 

Disrupting and Preventing Organised Acquisitive Crime 
 

 
Ref 

 
Action Plan 

Coordinating 
Delivery Group 

Strategic 
Assessment 

priority 
2.1 Kent Police to develop and share with partner agencies profiles of those involved in organised acquisitive 

crime in order that well-informed joint activities can be delivered to address it.  
Kent Police CSU 
teams 

 
Acquisitive crime 

 
2.2 

To ensure effective partnership arrangements are in place with neighbouring Districts and London Boroughs 
for the sharing of information and intelligence to identify cross-border offenders and gangs; 

CSUs  
Acquisitive crime 

 
 
2.3 

 
To monitor those within the IOM Cohort at risk of offending and to use effective offender management to 
rehabilitate and manage those involved in organised crime and the risks they present. 

IOM, Reducing  
Re-offending Group 

 
 
Acquisitive crime 

 
2.4 

To share intelligence with drug and alcohol service providers on key locations identified as being areas in 
which drug and alcohol misuse is most prevalent. 

 
DAAG 

Substance misuse 

 
2.5 

To work with Trading Standards and Immigration Services to target key premises and/or individuals who are 
suspected of involvement in the supply of counterfeit and illegal tobacco/alcohol. 

 
DAAG, CSUs 

Substance misuse 

 
 
2.6 

To raise awareness of cyber-crime (e.g. theft of personal information compromised data) and its potential 
impact, encouraging people to report unusual activity that could be cyber-crime to Police (incorporating 
specific packages tailored to the needs of older people). 

CSUs  
Acquisitive crime 

 
2.7 

To encourage communities to protect and secure their property by raising awareness of services offered 
through Community Safety Shops, the Crime Prevention Panel and seasonal events.  

 
CSUs 

 
Acquisitive crime 

 
2.8 

To carry out preventative activity aimed at groups more vulnerable to being targeted to certain forms of 
acquisitive crime (e.g. training for older people (Silver Surfers on on-line safety against scams). 

 
CSUs 

 
Acquisitive crime 

 
2.9 

 
G-Safe, D-TAC, Police and CRC to refer prolific offenders of acquisitive crime to the IOM, assessing where 
substance misuse is driving criminal behaviour and identify appropriate interventions. 

IOM, Reducing Re-
offending Group 

Acquisitive crime, 
Substance misuse 

2.10 Kent Police to share intelligence regarding commodity based criminality (e.g. high-end vehicle theft and 
trading) and identify opportunities for partner agencies to assist in addressing it. 

CSUs  
Acquisitive crime 

 



19 
 

Protecting and Strengthening Communities 
 

 
Ref 

 
Action Plan 

Coordinating 
Delivery Group 

Strategic 
Assessment 

priority 
 
 
3.1 

 
To develop a joint Dartford and Gravesham Prevent Action Plan (building on existing Plans in place) progress 
against which will be reported to CSP quarterly meetings. 

Community 
Cohesion Group 
(GBC); KCC Prevent 
Delivery Board 

 
 
Violent crime 

3.2 To deliver appropriate training for staff and partner agencies (WRAP and tailored training specific to local 
needs). 

 
CSUs 

 
Violent crime 

 
3.3 

 
To carry out a review of all forms of hate crime occurring in each of our Boroughs and develop interventions 
that seek to address it. 

CSUs, Community 
Cohesion Group 
(GBC) 

 
 
Violent crime 

3.4 To use tools and powers under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 to address persistent 
ASB (e.g. dispersal powers, CPNs, injunctions). 

CSUs; ASB Groups  
ASB 

 
 
 
3.5 

 
 
To offer intervention-based approaches to reduce repeat incidents by those engaged in ASB (including the use 
of restorative justice) and linking with Early Help Teams where appropriate. 

CSUs, ASB Groups, 
Reducing Re-
offending Group 

 
 
 
ASB 

 
3.6 

To work in conjunction with partner agencies to target locations where youth-related ASB is most prevalent 
to identify and deliver appropriate interventions. 

CSUs; ASB Groups  
ASB 

 
3.7 

 
To promote referrals to Making Every Adult Matter (MEAM) to address the complex needs of individuals 
engaging in drug or alcohol-related ASB. 

 
DAAG, MEAM 
Groups 

ASB/substance 
misuse 

 
3.8 

 
To refer young people involved in deliberate fire-setting to programmes delivered by KF&RS. 

CSUs, ASB Groups  
ASB 

3.9 To work with local schools to raise awareness of the new KF&RS Road Safety Centre. CSUs Road safety 
3.10 To promote responsible driving through seasonal community safety campaigns and targeted initiatives e.g. 

Licence to Kill. 
 
CSUs 

 
Road safety 

 



20 
 

Key Contacts 
 
Dartford Borough Council 
Community Safety Unit 
Civic Centre 
Home Gardens 
Dartford 
Kent DA1 1DR 
Tel. 01322 343434 
 

Gravesham Borough Council 
Community Safety Unit 
Civic Centre 
Windmill Street 
Gravesend 
Kent DA12 1AU 
Tel. 01474 337000 
www.gravesham.gov.uk 

Kent Police 
Thames Way 
Northfleet 
Gravesend 
Kent DA11 8BD 
Tel. 101 
www.kent.police.uk 
 

Kent County Council 
Community Safety Unit 
Invicta House 
Maidstone 
Kent ME14 1XX 
Tel. 03000 41 41 41 
www.kent.gov.uk 
 

Kent Fire and Rescue Service 
The Godlands 
Straw Mill Hill 
Maidstone 
Kent ME15 6XB 
Tel. 01622 692121 
www.kent.fire-uk.org 
 

Kent, Surrey & Sussex 
Community Rehabilitation Company 
Joynes House 
New Road 
Gravesend 
Kent DA11 0AT 
Tel. 01474 552 339 
www.ksscrc.co.uk 

NHS Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning Group 
2nd Floor, Gravesham Civic Centre 
Windmill Street 
Gravesend 
Kent DA12 1AU 
Tel. 03000 424903 
www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk 
 

Kent Police and Crime 
Commissioner 
Office of the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner 
Kent Police HQ 
Sutton Road 
Maidstone, ME15 9BZ 
Tel. 01622 677055 
www.kent-pcc.gov.uk 

 





               
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

26 July 2017

WORK PROGRAMME: 2017-18 MUNICIPAL YEAR and BEYOND

1. Summary

1.1 To agree the contents and timeframe for a rolling Work Programme for the 
2017-18 municipal year and beyond, as required by the Committee’s 
Protocol. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the draft rolling Work Programme attached at Appendix A to the report 
be approved, subject to any amendments/additions Members may wish to 
make, with the guidance of the Strategic Director (External Services).

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Committee is responsible for setting its own work programme under the 
terms of its Protocol [Section K1-3 dated February 2016].  

3.2     A revised rolling Work Programme and timetable for the 2017-18 municipal 
cycle and beyond is attached at Appendix A for discussion and approval. 
Members and Officers may have further topics they wish to suggest for 
possible consideration by the Committee.

4.   Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1     Scrutiny of the responsible local authorities [in the discharge of their crime 
and disorder functions] through the provision of an agreed Work Programme, 
should lead to an increase in public confidence, a reduction in anti-social 
behaviour (ASB) and help to meet the Safer Community Corporate 
Objectives (SC1 and SC2). 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment Reduction in the incidents of crime 

and disorder and ASB in Dartford 
Town Centre and environs.



              
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE

26 July 2017

6.   Appendix

Appendix A: Draft rolling Work Programme for 2017-18 and beyond;

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Crime and 
Disorder (O&S) 
Agenda and 
Minutes of July 
2016 and 
February  2017;
ToRs as agreed 
on 10 May 2017 
Protocol [Feb. 
2016]. 

May 2017 David Hook
01322 343276

Member 
Services
SD(ES)

N/A



Appendix A

CRIME and DISORDER (Overview & Scrutiny) COMMITTEE
 

ROLLING WORK PROGRAMME 2017-18 and BEYOND

Background:

On a statutory basis to:

 Consider the CSP’s annual Strategic Assessment (SA) document;

 Consider the CSP’s Community Safety Strategy and annual Refresh 
documents.

On a discretionary basis and with the prior agreement of the 
Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) as 
appropriate, to review the contributions made by CSP partner 
Agencies to the aims of the Partnership.

Plus:

 To consider the CSP’s mid-term Performance Report;
 To receive updates from the Council’s Kent Police and Crime Panel 

(PCP) representative and to note the Panel’s Minutes as appropriate;
 To receive Dartford Town Against Crime (D-TAC)Annual Review;
 To consider Draw-Down topics via the Chairman on an ad-hoc basis 

with the agreement of the Managing Director;
 Discretionary topics as agreed by the Committee under the guidance of 

the Strategic Director (External Services)

The Committee’s Work Programme is subject to review at each meeting. 
Discretionary items may be rescheduled and new items added in accordance 
with the Committee’s wishes and the guidance of the Strategic Director 
(External). 

A draft Work Programme for the 2017-18 municipal year and beyond is set 
out overleaf for Members’ consideration.



Appendix A

Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee

 Draft Work Programme 2017-18 and Beyond

2017/18: Summer Meeting - 2 July 2017

 Kent Police & Crime Panel (PCP) Update;
 Dartford Town Against Crime (D-TAC) Annual Review ;
 CSP Community Safety Strategy (2016-19) – 2017 Refresh;
 CSP Performance Report – June 2017;
 Committee’s Annual Report 2016-17;
 Domestic Abuse (DA) Framework Update

2017/18: Winter Meeting - 21 February 2018
 

 Presentation by Kent Police & Crime Commissioner (PCC) Mr Matthew 
Scott [t.b.c.];

 Presentation by Kent County Council, Trading Standards 
 PCP Update;
 CSP Strategic Assessment 2017;

2018/19: Summer Meeting - 25 July 2018 
 

 Community Safety Strategy 2017-20 (2018 Refresh);
 PCP Update;
 D-TAC Annual Review;
 Committee’s Annual Report 2017-18;
 Committee’s Rolling Work Programme 2018-19 and Beyond

2018/19: Winter Meeting – 21 February 2019

 Strategic Assessment 2018;
 PCP Update;
 Review Committee’s Rolling Work Programme

Member Services May 2017 



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW and SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE

26 July 2017

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17

1. Summary

To consider a report of the work carried out by the Crime and Disorder (Overview 
and Scrutiny) Committee during the preceding 2016-17 municipal year.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That, subject to any amendments proposed by Members, the Committee’s Annual 
Report for 2016-17 (attached as Appendix A to this report) be submitted to the 
next meeting of the General Assembly of the Council.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. In accordance with the Committee’s Protocol (Appendix B to the report) the 
draft Crime and Disorder (O&S) Committee Annual Report for 2016-17 is 
attached for consideration at Appendix A.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The work of the Committee supports the aim of creating safer communities 
and a safer Borough in which to live, work and socialise.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix A: Crime and Disorder (O&S) Committee draft Annual Report 2016-
17;



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW and SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE

26 July 2017

Appendix B: Crime and Disorder (O&S) Protocol [February 2016];

Appendix C: Terms of Reference (ToRs) [10 May 2017];

Appendix D: Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with Dartford &   
Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) [June 2015]

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Crime and Disorder (O&S) 
Protocol (Feb. 2016), MoU with 
D&G CSP (June 2015), ToRs 
(10 May 2017), Annual Report 
2015/16, Committee Agendas 
and Minutes dated 27 July 2016 
and 15 February 2017 

David Hook
Committee Coordinator

Member Services 
(01322 343276)

Member 
Services/
Executive 

Directorate 
(ES)

N/A



APPENDIX A

CRIME AND DISORDER 
(OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY)        

COMMITTEE

Draft Annual Report 2016-17



Introduction and Background

The Council has a legal duty under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to carry 
out all of its various functions with regard to the need to prevent crime and 
disorder and reduce re-offending in its area. ‘Crime and Disorder’ is defined 
as including forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-social behaviour or 
other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment or the misuse of 
drugs, alcohol and other substances.

The Council appointed the Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) 
Committee in October 2009 under the provisions of the Police and Justice 
Act 2006 and the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 and in direct response to the provisions of the subsequent Crime and 
Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009. 

The 2006 and 2007 Acts and the 2009 Regulations granted the Council the 
power to scrutinise both crime and disorder matters and hold the Dartford and 
Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (the CSP) and other partner 
organisations to account for their performance; including their work with the 
Council to meet specific local targets as set out in detail in the Memorandum 
of Understanding (MoU) between the Council and the CSP (Appendix D). 

The Crime and Disorder Committee’s Protocol (attached as Appendix B) 
requires it to review, scrutinise, and make reports and recommendations 
regarding the functioning of the responsible authorities listed below which 
comprise the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP): 

Dartford Borough Council

Gravesham Borough Council

Kent County Council

Kent Police

Kent Fire and Rescue Service

Kent, Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company [formerly Kent 
Probation]

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group 

Work carried out by the Crime & Disorder Committee compliments the work 
of the Scrutiny and Policy Overview Committees, whose specific remits are 
set out in their respective Protocols. 

The Committee’s Protocol requires it to report to the Council annually on the 
work it has undertaken in the preceding municipal year. This Annual Report 
provides a summary of the work undertaken by the Committee during the 
2016-17 Municipal Year, drawing on the comprehensive Minutes of the 



Committee’s meetings held during 2016-17 as published in full on the 
Council’s website.

Annual Report  2015-16

On 27 July 2016 at the first meeting of the Committee in the 2016-17 
municipal cycle Members considered the contents of the draft Crime and 
Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee Annual Report for the preceding 
2015-16 municipal year and agreed to submit the document to the next 
meeting of the General Assembly of the Council.

Standing Invitations 

The Committee renewed standing invitations to attend and contribute to their 
meetings in the forthcoming municipal cycle to; Councillor Mrs Ann Allen MBE 
(Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Development) and Councillor Chris 
Shippam (Deputy Leader and Dartford representative on the Kent and 
Medway Police and Crime Panel (PCC)). 

Standing invitations were also extended to the Strategic Director (External 
Services), Dartford’s District Commander (Kent Police) and all Dartford CSU 
staff (Council and Police) to attend the Committee’s proceedings as 
appropriate and when their principle duties permitted. 

WORK PROGRAMME 

In accordance with its Protocol [attached as Appendix B to the report] the 
Committee is required on a statutory basis each year to consider the Dartford 
& Gravesham’s Community Safety Partnership (CSP) Strategic Assessment 
(SA) document, in addition to, the CSP’s three year Community Safety 
Strategy together with any annual Refresh documents.

On a discretionary basis and with the prior agreement of the CSP as 
appropriate; the Committee reviews on a rolling basis the contributions made 
by CSP partner Agencies to the aims of the Partnership as a whole. In 
addition, the Committee considers the CSP’s mid-year Performance Report, 
receives updates from Dartford’s Representative on the Kent & Medway 
Police & Crime Panel (PCP), an annual update from D-TAC (Dartford Town 
Against Crime), plus ad-hoc topics drawn-down with the agreement of the 
Strategic Director (External Services) and the Managing Director as 
appropriate.

The Committee met twice during the 2016-17 municipal cycle. At its first 
meeting on 27 July 2016 the Committee undertook a review of its work 
programme and agreed an initial rolling Work Plan (WP) document for the 
ensuing 2016-17 municipal year (and beyond) as set out in the table overleaf:  



Initial Rolling Work Plan 2016-17 and Beyond

Meeting Work Plan Items
Summer 
2016
(July)  

CSP Community 
Safety Strategy 2016 

to 2019

CSP Performance 
Report June 2016

D-TAC Update 
[Annual each July]

PCP Update

Domestic Abuse 
Framework 
Update

Committee 
Annual Report 
2015-16

Work Plan for 
2016-17

Winter 2017
(February)

Presentation by PCC
[subsequently 
cancelled by PCC’s 
office]

CSP Strategic 
Assessment 2016

Update on 
implementation of 
new ASB Powers

Review Work 
Plan

Summer 
2017
(July)

CSP Community 
Safety Strategy (2016 
to 2019) 2017 
Refresh doc.  

Presentation by North 
Kent Crime 
Prevention 
Partnership / KP: 
Neighbourhood 
Watch – Sharing Best 
Practice

CSP Performance 
Report June 2017

Kent Police 
presentation on 
Bluewater Safety 
Shop / Community 
Safety at Home 
facility

D-TAC [Annual] 
Update

PCP Update

Review Work 
Plan

[Domestic 
Abuse 
Framework 
Update]

Winter 2018
(February)

CSP Strategic 
Assessment 2017

Presentation by Kent, 
Surrey and Sussex 
CRC

PCP Update

Review Work 
Plan

The Committee agreed the Work Plan (WP) as set out above, with two 
amendments at the direction of the Strategic Director (External Services) and 
three subsequent changes in timing:
 

(i) Review of Kent’s Domestic Abuse (DA) Framework would be 
considered in July 2017;

(ii) D-TAC 6 monthly Update would become an Annual Review each 
July to coincide with the CSP’s mid-year Performance Report;

(iii) Presentation by Kent PCC in February 2016 cancelled by PCC’s 
office, new date to be explored;



(iv) Presentation by North Kent Partnership on ‘Neighbourhood Watch – 
Best Practice’ b/f to February 2017;

(v) Kent Police presentation on ‘Bluewater Safety Shop/Community 
Safety at Home’ b/f to February 2017.

Details of all WP items considered by the Committee in the 2016-17 municipal 
cycle are summarised below.

WORK PLAN ITEMS completed in the 2016-17 MUNICIPAL YEAR

27 July 2016 

Item 1: Committee Protocol & Lead Member Participation

Members considered a report from the Head of Legal Services which 
enclosed the Committee’s Protocol, revised to include details of the process 
for Lead Member participation at the Committee’s meetings.

The Strategic Director (External Services) confirmed that the Scrutiny 
Committee Protocol had undergone a similar revision to provide for the 
participation of Lead Members in the proceedings of that Committee.

The Committee resolved to note the report from the Head of Legal Services 
and adopt the revised Protocol as attached at Appendix B to the report.  

Item 2: Kent Police and Crime Panel (PCP) – Update

The Committee received a verbal update from the Chairman, who had 
attended the PCP meetings held in November 2015 and February 2016 on 
behalf of the Deputy Leader, Dartford’s nominated PCP representative. 

Members were referred to the relevant PCP Minutes enclosed in the agenda 
papers and advised that the principal item of note in the period under review 
had been the election of the new Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) for 
Kent and Medway, Mr Matthew Scott. 

Members resolved to note the contents of the PCP Minutes as submitted, 
congratulated Mr Scott on his election as PCC and welcomed his attendance 
at a future meeting of the Committee.

Item 3: Dartford Town Against Crime (D-TAC) – Progress Report

The Committee received a progress report and presentation on the Dartford 
Town Against Crime (D-TAC) Scheme. Principal points highlighted by Officers 
included: 

 The D-TAC Scheme had been established in December 2002  and 
comprised the local business community, Kent Police, the Council and 
other public service providers with the aim to promote the concept of a 



safe and secure Town Centre environment to encourage investment 
and growth;

 The Scheme identified and targeted the most serious and prolific 
professional criminals operating in the Town Centre, plus those 
engaged in petty crime and Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB);

 The Scheme had grown to 66 full members who generated £31K in 
fees, to help fund the provision of digital radio handsets for the ‘Shop 
Safe Radio’ system for shop owners to communicate with Kent Police, 
the Council, Town Centre security and each other to help identify, track 
and apprehend offenders operating in the Town Centre – in particular 
‘Dartford’s Top 10’ known offenders;

 The fundamental benefit of the Scheme for members was information 
sharing [under the Data Protection Act 1988]. D-TAC members had 
access to DISC (Database for Safer Communities) to share data on 
known offenders, shared the Council’s CCTV facilities and had access 
to the D-TAC Intelligence Manager and the Orchard Shopping Centre 
Control team;

 Monthly D-TAC meetings involved retailers, licensed premises owners, 
drugs charities, Council Officers, Kent Police and representatives of the 
Probation Services and addressed issues of criminal gangs, mobile 
criminals, individual offenders, persistent offenders and those involved 
in ASB. Information sharing strengthened the partnership mechanism 
and created added value benefits for individual members of the 
Scheme;

 D-TAC operated as a sub-group of both the Dartford Town Centre 
Partnership and the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety 
Partnership and had its own formal constitution, terms of reference, 
Board of Management and active Steering Group;  

 The Council’s Intelligence Manager co-ordinated the dissemination of 
information and promoted activity which resulted in positive action 
being taken against persistent offenders;

 D-TAC together with the business community and relevant agencies 
had identified five (5) areas for growth in the next 3 year cycle to 2019 
including; increased Shop Safe radio coverage across the whole 
Borough, expansion of the membership to 140 (including affiliates), 
increased use of DISC and the provision of radios for lone workers 
across the Borough. It was hoped to increase D-TAC revenue by some 
50% to £42K per annum.

Members enjoyed a wide-ranging Q&A session with D-TAC and CSU Officers 
and the CSU Kent Police Inspector. Principal points confirmed for the 
Committee included:



 Extension of the D-TAC Scheme from the Town Centre across the 
Borough including Eastern Dartford;

 Historical problems of ASB around Co-op stores in Swanscombe and 
Longfield would be re-examined and solutions sought;

 A new transceiver would extend the present ‘Shop Safe Radio System’ 
beyond Temple Hill to the wider Borough in cooperation with shop 
managers; 

Members agreed that D-TAC, together with the Council’s CSU team and Kent 
Police had dealt effectively with a wide range of crime in the Town Centre in 
the period under review, and resolved to note the report and approve the 
Strategic Director’s proposal that the Committee receive a D-TAC Update on 
an annual basis (each summer) to coincide with the presentation of the CSP’s 
Performance Report. 

Item 4: CSP Community Safety Strategy 2016-19

The Committee were briefed on the contents of the Dartford & Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP’s) new Community Safety Strategy 
2016-19 document as agreed by the CSP at their meeting on 24 March 2016. 

The new Strategy document covered a 3 (three) year period and replaced the 
previous CSP Annual Plans. Key points highlighted in the new Strategy for 
Members included:

Priorities

 Violent Crime and Domestic Abuse
 Anti-Social Behaviour (incorporating Criminal Damage related to ASB)
 Acquisitive and Property Crime
 Substance Misuse
 Reducing Re-offending
 Road Safety

Common factors and links between the six (6) priority areas of work 
contributed to the CSP’s three (3) overarching Strategy themes of:

 Protecting vulnerable people from harm;
 Disrupting and preventing organised acquisitive crime; and
 Protecting and strengthening communities.

Members were advised that within the CSP; the role of Kent Police was to 
focus on the arrest and detention of perpetrators and that the focus and core 
business of the two Community Safety Units (CSUs) was to address Anti-
Social Behaviour (ASB), Environmental crime, Alcohol-related violence and 
Domestic Abuse (DA). 

Areas of CSP work which required a multi-agency approach included; CSE 
(child sexual exploitation), modern slavery and human trafficking, combatting 



terrorism and the adoption of the Government’s Prevent & Channel strategy to 
protect people at risk of being drawn into terrorism.

Members participated in a wide-ranging Q & A session with Council and Kent 
Police officers which identified the following principal areas of concern for 
concerted and continued action: 

 CSP data accuracy;  gathering CSP partner agency data from various 
sources who used varying calculation methods was challenging;

 Domestic Abuse (DA) data - obtaining data for victims attending 
hospital A&E and GP surgeries was hampered by doctor/patient 
confidentiality requirements; 

 Awareness Training - Dartford’s changing demographic had 
highlighted a need for relevant Council staff to receive ‘awareness’ 
training to identify vulnerable people and institute safeguarding 
measures for victims of Domestic Abuse, Child Sexual Exploitation, 
Modern Day Slavery and Domestic extremism;

 Protecting Vulnerable People from Harm - The Government’s 
Prevent Strategy allied to recent Acts of Parliament which had 
addressed Policing, Serious Crime, Anti-Social Behaviour, Modern 
Slavery, Safeguarding and Child Exploitation; required the Police and 
other CSP partner Agencies to co-operate and evolve their working 
practices to meet the requirements of the new Legislation.
 

The Committee resolved to note the contents of the Dartford & Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership’s (CSP) Community Safety Strategy for the 
period 2016-19. 

Item 5: Performance

The Committee considered the Performance Report (PR) approved by the 
Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) on 13 June 
2016 in camera with all members of the press and public excluded.

The PR detailed performance in relation to recorded levels of crime and anti-
social behaviour (ASB) and other indicators as set out in the Dartford and 
Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 2016-19 document.

Members were advised of a format change for the June 2016 PR from 
previous years, with a revised set of Performance Indicators (PIs) which 
corresponded to those used in the CSP’s new 2016-19 Safety Strategy 
document. 

The new PIs were less Police-led and more reliant on data from other CSP 
partner Agencies, some of which was not in the public domain. The new PI 
data varied in terms of frequency and reporting period covered but, wherever 
possible had been compared to data provided for the 2015 and 2016 PR 
documents. Other Kent CSPs had also adopted a range of alternative 
measures [to the traditional statistical Police-led approach] to demonstrate 
progress in tackling risk and harm and improving life for Kent residents. 



In a subsequent Q&A session with CSU and Kent Police Officers, the 
following principal points were confirmed for Members:

 Domestic Abuse (DA) - One Stop Shop (OSS) Services - relocation 
of the Dartford OSS would provide an increased range of services, 
Health workers had a vital role to play in identifying domestic abuse 
(DA) and caring for children who had witnessed DA, the DA Forum 
provided good working links to tackle DA including programmes to 
support young people at risk of DA / becoming perpetrators of DA; 

 Increased issue of ‘Cannabis Warnings’ - The new Cannabis 
Website whereby residents reported their concerns direct to the Police 
(including via a mobile App.) had proved to be a great success; 

The Committee resolved to note the June 2016 Performance Report approved 
by the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) on 13 June 2016.  

15 February 2017

Item 1: Kent Police and Crime Panel (PCP) Update

The PCP met twice in the period under review, on 8 September and 15 
November 2016 respectively, as detailed in the published PCP Minutes 
enclosed in the agenda papers. In the absence of any Dartford Member 
representation at either meeting, the Committee resolved to note the Minutes 
as published.

Item 2: Neighbourhood Watch (NW) – Sharing Best Practice 

The Committee received a verbal presentation (originally scheduled for July 
2017 in the Work Plan) from Ms Erin Scott, Neighbourhood Watch (NW) & 
Volunteer Liaison Officer, Kent Police. Principal points advised to Members 
included:

 The NW Scheme was founded in Cheshire in 1982 as a public 
response to a local murder;

 More than 1 million NW Schemes now operated across the UK with 
over 6,000 in Kent and Medway, including some 600 Schemes in 
Dartford and Gravesham; 

 The NW Scheme represented a partnership between the Police and 
the Public with individual Schemes led by Volunteers appointed by 
local Police Forces as Scheme Co-ordinators and Deputy Co-
ordinators following vetting and training; 

 Schemes could raise money for their activities and on average watched 
over two (2) streets with NW Notices displayed in residence windows at 
either end of a Scheme to deter potential perpetrators;

 Home Office surveys of HM Prisons revealed that NW Schemes played 
an effective role in dissuading criminals who tended to ‘move on’ when 
they observed NW Notices in an area;



 Schemes were encouraged to report their observations to their local 
Police partners who in return updated Scheme with the latest Police 
intel, statistics, crime trends and scams operating in their areas;

 Police numbers in Kent, including beat officers had increased; but 
public co-operation and help continued to be vital with notable Police 
successes secured from observation and feedback from NW Schemes 
e.g. recent closure of a brothel in Ashford;

 More NW Schemes were needed in Kent, the 600 Schemes currently 
operating in the Dartford & Gravesham CSP area was viewed as a 
comparatively ‘low’ figure, however, many existing Schemes were 
already carrying vacancies for the position of Volunteer and a 
recruitment drive was being undertaken by Kent Police aimed at 
colleges and other institutes of higher education in an effort to attract a 
younger more IT savvy profile of candidate for Neighbourhood Watch, 
whilst retaining the older more traditional members.

Members participated in a subsequent Q&A session with Kent Police 
representatives and CSU officers in which the following principal points were 
confirmed:

 There was no optimum figure for the number of NW Schemes for North 
Kent; demand was public led and dependant on the recruitment of 
Volunteers to manage individual Schemes, with an existing vacancy for 
new Chairman of North Kent Neighbourhood Watch (NKNW) being 
carried. Once an appointment had been made a re-assessment of 
overall provision would be made;

 ‘Information overload’ was a danger for Kent Police (KP) given the 
6,000 NW Schemes operating in Kent and was addressed through a 
‘sift and review’ process, whereby non-relevant and/or over-taken 
information was discarded, with Scheme Co-ordinators advised 
accordingly. Calls from the 101 Service were subjected to a similar sift, 
review and feedback operation;

 The Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner (PCC) had allocated 
start-up funding for the re-branding of the NW Scheme, including a new 
social-media App. for NW, to try and attract younger members. Given 
the Scheme’s traditions and the age profile of the majority of its 
members, progress had been slower than hoped for, but was being 
made.

Item 3: Bluewater Safety Shop and Safety at Home Facility

The Committee received a presentation (originally scheduled for July 2017 in 
the Work Plan) from the CSU Inspector and Kent Police’s Safety Store and 
Safer Home Manager from the Bluewater Shopping complex. Principal points 
covered in the presentation included:

The Safety Store had expanded its operation significantly since 2014,  when it 
had operated as a ‘1 Stop Shop’ for Kent Police, the RSPCA, Kent Fire & 
Rescue and the North West Kent Crime Prevention Panel. The facility had 
been re-branded with a definitive image and expanded into the current Safety 
Store facility, which operated as a ‘mock house’ to demonstrate ‘best practice’ 



procedures to the public in the home environment for; better health & safety, 
protection of valuables, combat theft, prevent cyber-crime and alert parents 
and children to the dangers of on-line grooming. 

In addition to the support of Kent Police, who now maintained a new ‘back-
office’ facility in the safety store, Bluewater Management had given financial 
help to the development, including rent-free tenure. 

The Safer Home Objectives were identified as:

 To provide Kent Police (KP) with a wider public showcase to 
demonstrate professional crime prevention products and information;

 To provide KP with a Bluewater working environment to conduct 
interviews and complete paperwork, improve the Bluewater team’s 
profile and efficiency within the complex and compliment the Bluewater 
Community Engagement Strategy;

 Raising public awareness of policing priorities to mobilise community 
involvement;

 To provide a platform/opportunity for relevant Community 
Stakeholders/Partners to compliment the Safer Home objectives;

 The Vision of the ‘The Safer Home’ facility was to educate the public in 
terms of safety within the home environment with an added crime 
prevention dimension.

The ‘Safer Home’ store construction as a family home included the following 
features: 

 Public Entrance – this resembled a brick-build house with Bluewater 
and Kent Police logo branding;

 Kitchen – used to demonstrate good safety measures and tips in a 
‘real’ environment e.g. plugs and sockets etc.;

 Lounge – fully furnished to reflect a home with safety and security 
videos e.g. ‘Stay Safe’ running on a loop on the ‘family’ TV; 

 Study –also fully furnished to reflect a common home environment to 
demonstrate crime prevention measures, and to host workshops for  
demographic group’s e.g. to educate the elderly on current fraud 
‘scams’ being perpetrated in the area;

 Technology –Play Stations, X-Boxes, laptops and tablets (all with 
internet access) used to raise parental awareness of how common 
technology can be used to groom children on-line;

 Work Stream Ideas – Young adults were able to test their knowledge 
of Child Safe-Guarding measures by taking the CEOP’s ‘Thinkuknow’ 
module test on a dedicated computer terminal; examples of scam 
emails and letters were available for public view and education; 
literature on Domestic Violence awareness and tell-tale signs of abuse 
in the home environment were also displayed;

 Police Back Office – this provided a crucial working facility for Kent 
Police to conduct witness and victim interviews and take statements, 
saving police time and increasing police presence on high visibility 
patrol around the Bluewater complex;



 Future Steps in 2017 - on 31 March 2017 the Home Store would 
move to a new unit within Bluewater and undergo a ‘refresh’; a charity 
rowing event was planned for August against Macey’s Department 
Store in New York with the proceeds going to local charities in the 
Dartford area; in October /November 2017 Kent’s Chief Constable or 
Kent’s Police & Crime Commissioner was due to host a Chief Officer 
event at Bluewater.

In subsequent discussion with Kent Police representatives, Members made 
the following principle suggestions for increased use of the Home Store facility 
at Bluewater: 

 Increase co-ordination between the Bluewater and Dartford Town 
Centre Shop Safe Scheme teams;

 Institute measures at Bluewater, similar to The Orchard Centre scheme 
in Dartford, to help adults with learning difficulties’;

 Use the Home Store facility to conduct routine health checks on the 
elderly and to host a meeting of Dartford’s Elders Forum;

 Develop existing contacts and co-operation with Darenth Valley 
Hospital over measures to identify and combat Domestic Violence (DV) 
and educate the public on those measures;

 Host a maternity event at the Store for expectant and new mothers on 
e.g. social awareness over ‘breast-feeding’ in public;

 Continue the tradition with the new Dartford Mayor [from May 2017] of 
sponsoring charity events within Bluewater and the Home Store facility.

Kent Police were thanked by Members for a second excellent presentation.
 
Item 4: Update – New Anti-Social Behaviour Powers – Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014

The Committee received a summary of the report from the Community Safety 
Officer and in a subsequent Q&A discussion with the Strategic Director, CSU 
Officers and the Kent Police Inspector; the following principal points were 
confirmed for Members:

Community Trigger (CT): 

 The CT process gave victims of anti-social behaviour (ASB) the 
ability to demand a review of their cases where the locally 
defined threshold for ASB had been met, but did not replace the 
formal complaints process for individual organisations within the 
CSP;

 No CTs had been activated in Dartford (as at February 2017). 
However, the co-location of the local policing team within the 
Council’s Community Safety Unit together with the Council’s 
Housing Services team also located in the Civic Centre building; 
enabled those three principal bodies to readily exchange 
information and review ongoing ASB cases; thus effectively 
undertaking the CT process albeit in a less formal manner;



Civil Injunctions (CIs) and Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPOs): 

 Civil Injunctions (CIs) were used primarily against anti-social 
individuals;

 PSPOs were designed to deal with a particular nuisance or 
problem in a designated area;

 The Council considered use of both CIs and PSPOs as they 
deemed appropriate;

 CIs and PSPOs could be used in tandem or consecutively, e.g. 
a PSPO could be imposed to provide an underpinning solution 
to an area based problem, followed by a CI applied against a 
persistent ASB offender(s) within the area of the PSPO. 

Designated Public Place Orders (DPPOs):

 DPPOs were due to be replaced by PSPOs in October 2017 - 
some 3 years after the 2015 Act came into effect;

 The extant DPPO for the Town Centre during the hours of the 
‘Nightime Economy’ would be replaced by a revised PSPO with 
similar conditions;

 All existing DPPOs would be reviewed and relevant conditions 
transferred to new PSPOs as relevant, with further new 
conditions added if appropriate.

Members resolved to note the contents of the report. 

Item 5: Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) – 
Strategic Assessment 2016

The Committee considered the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety 
Partnership’s annual Strategic Assessment (SA) 2016 document, approved by 
the Partnership on 26 January 2017. 

The covering report advised Members that the Council was under an 
‘obligation of confidence’ with regard to the Strategic Assessment 2016 
document, because it contained data that had been provided In-Confidence. 
As a consequence, the document had been classified as EXEMPT in the 
agenda papers and was considered by Members in closed session.  

The SA 2016 document advised that the CSP was required, under the 
provisions of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, to produce a Strategic 
Assessment (SA) on an annual basis. The SA was based on research, 
evidence and intelligence, gathered from both local and Kent-wide sources for 
analysis wherever possible, at a Dartford [and Gravesham] level. SA 2016 
detailed recorded crime and disorder offences for both Boroughs separately, 
for the period 1 October 2015 to 30 September 2016 and fed into the CSP’s 
3 year Community Safety Strategy for the period 2016-19. 

The main aim of the annual SA was to identify any changes in circumstance 
that might necessitate amendments being made to the existing Strategy and 



to ensure that new or emerging local priorities were addressed. SA 2016 also 
provided the CSP with its first opportunity to make a year-on-year 
comparisons with its SA 2015 document, since changes to several definitions 
of crime types and the application of new Home Office Counting Rules for 
recorded crime were introduced in 2014. 

The SA also drew comparisons between the Partnership and other CSPs 
within its Most Similar Group (MSG) of CSPs.  In this context the Partnership 
continued to ‘suffer’ on a comparative basis, because of Kent Police’s high 
level of accuracy for the recording of reported crime [assessed at 96% by Her 
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) in 2014]. In comparison, other 
CSPs within the Partnership’s MSG had assessed levels of accuracy for the 
recording of reported crime that ranged from 94% down to only 85%. These 
differing levels of reporting accuracy by Police Forces represented within the 
MSG made a truly objective assessment of the Partnership’s performance 
difficult to properly assess. Based on levels of crime recorded locally per 
1,000 of the population, the position of the Partnership within its MSG 
remained unchanged from 2015 at 13th out of 14 CSPs assessed in the 
Group; the Partnership had recorded crime levels above the average 
experienced by other areas in England and Wales with similar demographics 
for the period under review. 

Members were advised that within the Partnership’s overall performance for 
the period 1 October 2015 - 30 September 2016 total recorded crime in 
Dartford had risen by 12.8%. This mirrored an average increase in crime of 
12% for every Kent and Medway District in the period under review. 

Dartford had experienced a significant rise in the volume of violent crime 
during 2015-16 with offences of violence against the person increasing by 
29% - slightly above the Kent average of 28%. This significant increase was 
mainly attributed to an increase in the number of domestic abuse [DA] cases 
and the accuracy now used in reporting such cases, making DA the single 
category placing the greatest demand on CSP resources. Offences of ASB 
had also increased in the period under review, by 12.8%, with the related 
offence of Criminal Damage identified as a new priority for the CSP to 
address in Dartford going forward.

In response to specific questions and expressions of concern from Members, 
the Strategic Director, CSU Officers and the CSU Kent Police Inspector, 
confirmed the following points for the Committee:

 Dartford’s increase in crime and anti-social behaviour (ASB) recorded 
in SA 2016 was a reflection of an increased crime rate across the 
County, coupled with changes to the recording of historic crime, in 
particular cases of Domestic Abuse (DA) where every incident had to 
be recorded separately;

 Increased reporting and recording of Domestic Abuse (DA) offences, 
(including historic incidents) had significantly driven up statistics for 
Dartford. Increased recording of cyber-crime and fraud in the Borough 
had also pushed up statistics and reflected the national trend in 
increased fraud and cyber-crime which had seen a new national centre 
opened recently to combat these offences;



 The performance of Dartford [and Gravesham] within its Most Similar 
Group (MSG) of CSPs continued to suffer in comparative terms with 
some Police Forces represented within the MSG recording fully 11% 
less reported crime than Kent Police, to the Partnership’s detriment in 
terms of fully comparative assessment;

 The 50% increase in the number of first-time entrants into the criminal 
justice system recorded in SA 2016 was a cause of concern for 
Dartford CSU Officers and the local police team. Dartford Children and 
Young People’s Board had noted the increase as being the opposite of 
the trend encountered in Dartford in previous years and agreed work 
was required to identify possible causes and solutions. The profile of 
other offences recorded in SA 2016 remained much the same as for 
2015, with offences committed at Bluewater continuing to be a major 
contributor to Dartford’s statistics; 

 Increased gang related crime, including by gangs displaced from 
adjoining Boroughs and the Metropolis, was being tackled by Kent 
Police under a variety of Protocols, including measures to tackle child 
sexual exploitation and modern-day slavery with the aim of making 
Dartford a difficult place for gangs to operate: public feed-back and 
information had an important role to play in achieving this goal;

 The Council had no powers to prevent the placement of offenders and 
vulnerable persons in Dartford by London Boroughs and other 
agencies, but did address any issues that arose [from such transfers] 
with CSP partners post arrival. The KCC Community Warden Scheme 
had played an increasingly useful role in the period under review and 
KCC Wardens attended daily CSU briefings at the Civic Centre;

 CSU Officers had undertaken anti-social behaviour (ASB) training 
delivered by a barrister specialising in use of the new powers in 
December 2016. This had increased awareness of the options for 
using the new powers;

 Kent Police had carried out a joint initiative with the Metropolitan  
Police aimed at dismantling criminal businesses operating in the 
Borough and neighbouring Bexley;

 The Council was pressing KCC to introduce a new template for the 
Strategic Assessment (SA) to cater for the reality of differing reporting 
methods and methodologies across Kent CSP’s and to introduce 
greater reality to comparative performance against statistics. Dartford 
was prepared to pilot a new risk assessment based model for a future 
SA document, reflecting the MORILE [Management of Risks in Law 
Enforcement] methodology.

The Committee resolved to note the contents and the priorities contained 
within the Strategic Assessment 2016 document, and noted the intention of 
the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership to refresh the 
Community Safety Plan to address the priorities contained within SA 2016.

Item 6: Work Plan 2016/17 – Update

Members agreed the contents of a revised rolling Work Plan for the remainder 
of the 2016-17 Municipal Year, plus the summer and winter meetings of the 
forthcoming 2017-18 Municipal cycle. 





February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 1

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
PROTOCOL 

‘Crime and disorder’ is defined as including forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-social 
behaviour or other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment or the misuse of drugs, alcohol 
and other substances.

Introduction This Protocol recognises the division of executive and non-executive roles 
and responsibilities, the overview and scrutiny role performed by non-
executive Councillors and the part played by all Councillors in 
representing local communities.

Terms of Reference To review and scrutinise, and make reports or recommendations, 
regarding the functioning of the responsible authorities which comprise 
the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (the CSP):

Dartford Borough Council [a responsible authority]
Gravesham Borough Council [a responsible authority]
Kent Police [a responsible authority]
Kent County Council [a responsible authority]
Kent Fire and Rescue Service [a responsible authority]
Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company [a 
responsible body] 
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group [a 
responsible authority]

Guidelines (a) Terms of Reference agreed by the General Assembly of the 
Council (the GAC);

(b) Standing Orders and Financial Regulations;
(c) Codes of Conduct;
(d) Secretary of State/Home Office guidance issued from time to 

time.

Committee 
accountability

To the Council as the ultimate decision making body from which all of the 
other elements in the decision-making process derive their authority.

Elected Member 
accountability

Individual elected Members have a collective responsibility for the 
Council's functions.  This collective responsibility extends to a duty to 
ensure that the Council complies with the law and does not act unlawfully.

Compliance 
principles

The Committee will:
 Comply with the Council's crime and disorder aims as stated from 

time to time in the Council's Strategic and Policy Framework;
 Recognise the legitimate right of the Cabinet to provide political and 

operational leadership to the Council and will not attempt to usurp 
the power vested in the Cabinet by the GAC;

 Recognise that Officers continue to owe a duty to all Members of the 
Council;



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 2

 Guarantee the right of Officers to express their advice on matters 
within their areas of responsibility, particularly (but not exclusively) 
on technical professional issues.  Officers must not be pressurised to 
change their advice to suit political aspirations.  Questions to Officers 
must be within Officers' remit and will as far as possible be confined 
to questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and decisions 
within Officers' remit;

 Will not criticise or adversely comment on any individual Officer by 
name;

 Not attempt to thwart the Cabinet by engaging in vexatious or 
unnecessarily repetitive overview and scrutiny activities.

Frequency of 
meetings

No less than once in every twelve month period, the Committee will meet to 
review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken by the CSP and the 
responsible authorities (acting collectively or individually), in connection with 
their crime and disorder functions, as the Committee considers appropriate.

Membership Committee membership cannot include any member of the Council’s 
Cabinet.

The Overview and Scrutiny Process 

In accordance with its Terms of Reference, the Committee can only discharge overview and scrutiny 
ns functions relating to crime and disorder/community safety.

1.What may be 
scrutinised

1.1 decisions and/or actions of the CSP and the responsible authorities (either 
collectively or individually);

1.2 the CSP’s annual strategic assessment to inform the Community Safety 
Plan;

1.3 the CSP’s partnership plan;

1.4 Councillor Calls for Action (CCfAs);

1.5 crime and disorder/community safety related local improvement targets; 

1.6 subject to section U. of this Protocol, any other local crime and disorder 
matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s crime and disorder/community 
safety functions;

1.7 items related to crime and disorder/community safety referred to in the 
Members' Information Bulletin;

NB: Overview and scrutiny of the CSP’s crime and disorder functions will 
not focus on day to day operational performance, which is the proper 
concerns of managers of the responsible authorities.

1.8 matters related to the systemic failure in the discharge of crime and 
disorder functions irrespective of the fact that there is a right of recourse to 
a review or right of appeal conferred by or under any enactment (see 
section E.3).



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 3

2.What may be 
reviewed
2.1 The matters referred to in sections 1.1 – 1.3 and 1.6 – 1.8 of this Protocol.

A.Draw downs Draw downs for the purposes of scrutinising/reviewing 
decisions/actions of the CSP, responsible authorities, Cabinet etc. 
and/or the scrutiny/review of the effects/outcomes of a decision post 
implementation

A.1 For each meeting of the Committee:

 through the Chairman of the Committee, up to three items in total for the 
Political Group on the Council forming the administration on the Council;

 through the Chairman of the Committee, up to three items in total for the 
Political Group on the Council forming the largest party in opposition on 
the Council;

 one item only for any other Political Groups on the Council, dealt with on 
a ‘first come first served basis’.

 In cases of genuine urgency, the Chairman may authorise more than the 
allocated number of draw downs per Political Group on the Council, 
referred to this section A.1  

A.2 Each Committee meeting may draw down for overview and scrutiny 
purposes, no more than seven items in total.  These seven items may 
comprise a combination of items relating respectively, to a Call-in, CCfA, 
the overview and scrutiny of decision(s)/actions of the CSP and the 
responsible authorities (either collectively or individually), Cabinet/Officers, 
local improvement targets etc.  Whatever combination is applied, the 
Committee is restricted to the overview and scrutiny of seven items in total, 
per Committee meeting.

 A.3 (a) A draw down(s) must be on written notice to Member Services by no 
later than noon on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 
clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from 
midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day 
on which the meeting is held).

(b) The need (if any) for participants (CSP representatives, Members, 
Officers, and other external participants) to appear before the 
Committee will be notified to Member Services by no later than noon 
on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' 
(sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to 
midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the 
meeting is held).

A.4 Where the Committee wish to review/scrutinise an item for the purposes of 
examining the effect and outcomes of the CSP and/or the responsible 
authority, Cabinet etc. decision post implementation, drawing down the item 
may need to be delayed to a future date. 

NB: The focus of the review/scrutiny in such circumstances will be 
concerned with the effects and outcomes of the decision whether or 
not reference was made to effects or outcomes (potential or perceived) 
in any background document before the Committee.



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 4

A.5 When more than one Political Group on the Council notifies a draw down of 
the same item, the Political Group which first gave notice in accordance 
with section A.1 of this Protocol, will lead at the meeting, on the discussion 
of the item and the Chairman will exercise his/her discretion about the right 
of the Political Groups to sum up.

B. Requests for 
information
B.1 Any Committee member may make requests for information, on written 

notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before the 
Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 
24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and the following will 
apply.  The request for information will:

 detail the item(s) to be drawn down, supported by reasons for the draw 
down(s);

 the nature of the information requested e.g. a full report from the CSP, 
background information, research, data, statistics, etc.;

 if applicable, identify the need for participants (CSP representatives, 
Members, Officers and/or other external participants) to appear before 
the Committee (refer to the general principles on participation detailed in 
section D of this Protocol);

 provide an indication if at all possible, of the questions and the likely 
topics to be raised on the item(s);

 provide an indication if at all possible, of whether the request for 
information is for the purposes of informing the debate or for the 
purposes of putting questions to participants.

B.2 On receipt of a request for information, Member Services will notify the 
Strategic Director (External Services) and links officers of the CSP and 
responsible authorities. Where the request for information relates to a 
Cabinet decision/action, the Strategic Director (External Services) and the 
Cabinet Chairman will be notified accordingly. 

B.3 Where information requested is readily available and routinely collected, it 
will be provided within 14 days of receipt of the request, save that if some 
or all the information cannot reasonable be provided within the 14 day 
period, the information will be provided as soon as reasonably possible and 
in any event, no later than 7 clear days’ (seven weekdays i.e. 7 periods of 
24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).  

B.4 Information will be depersonalised, unless the identification of an individual 
is necessary or appropriate in order to enable the Committee to properly 
exercise its powers or disclosure is permitted by or under the Data 
Protection Act 1998.  



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 5

B.5 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to prejudice legal 
proceedings or current or future operations of the CSP and the responsible 
authorities, whether acting collectively or individually.

B.6 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to constitute a breach 
of confidence actionable by any person.

B.7 Schedule 12A, Parts 1-3 of the Local Government Act 1972 as regards the 
categories of exempt information and reg.5 of the Local Authorities 
(Overview and Scrutiny Committees) (England) Regulations 2012 and 
Standing Order 46(2) as regards confidential information, will apply to the 
proceedings of the Committee.

B.8 The overview and scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the 
receipt of information, particularly where requests for additional information 
are made or where the information requested is voluminous and/or where 
there are costs implications associated with providing the information.  In 
these circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee 
Chairman accordingly.

B.9 To facilitate the overview and scrutiny process, the CSP and responsible 
authorities are under a duty to pro-actively provide information to the 
Committee on request (reg.4 of the Local Authorities (Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees) (England) (Regulations 2012).

C. Call-in of Cabinet 
decisions
C.1 This Call-in procedure will be operated in such a way as not to have a 

concomitant negative effect on the efficiency of Cabinet decision-making.

This Call-in procedure will only apply to Cabinet decisions/actions, subject 
to the restrictions/limitations detailed in sections C.8, C.9, C.11, C.13, 
C.15 and C.16 of this Protocol.

C.2 (a) Call-in will be by three Members of the Committee (involving 
representation of at least two political groups), in writing, to Member 
Services by no later than noon on the day before the Cabinet meeting.  
Member Services will notify the Cabinet Chairman of the Call-in.

(b) Once a member of the Committee has signed a Call-in, he/she may 
not do so again until a period of six months has expired.

C.3 A special meeting of the Committee may be called in accordance with the 
rules detailed in Standing Order 27 (Special Meetings of the Cabinet, 
Committees and Boards) and will be held before the next meeting of the 
Cabinet (Cabinet meetings are scheduled on a four weekly basis), with a 
view to reporting to the next Cabinet meeting. Where it is not possible for 
the Committee to report to the next Cabinet meeting, the Committee 
Chairman will consult with the Cabinet Chairman and agree a date for 
referring the Call-in back to the Cabinet for consideration/reconsideration.

Referring the Call-in back to the Cabinet will not be delayed by more than 4 
weeks from the date of the notice of Call-in.



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 6

C.4 Once a Call-in has been effected, the Cabinet may at its discretion, either:

(a) defer consideration of the proposed decision and/or action (the 
Deferred Decision) to its next scheduled meeting or where it is not 
possible for the Committee to report to the next scheduled meeting of 
the Cabinet, defer consideration until receipt of the Committee's report; 
or

(b) take the decision and/or action which decision/action will stand as 
suspended (the Suspended Decision) until the next scheduled meeting 
of the Cabinet or where the Call-in is referred to the GAC by the 
Committee, until referred back to the Cabinet by the GAC for 
reconsideration.

C.5 Following consideration of the Call-in, the Committee will, on a report 
(setting out the Committee's concerns, recommendations, conclusions, 
suggestions and/or comments), either refer the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet for 
consideration/reconsideration, or request a debate on the Call-in at the next 
ordinary meeting of the GAC, or if necessary, at an extraordinary meeting 
of the GAC, but subject to the rules detailed in Standing Order 1.(3) on the 
convening of extraordinary meetings.

C.6 On receipt of the Committee's report:

(a) the Cabinet will consider/reconsider the Deferred Decision/ Suspended 
Decision and the contents of the Committee's report before coming to 
a final decision. Providing the Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision 
is not contrary to the budget or policy framework, the Cabinet may or 
may not amend the Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision before 
reaching a final decision and implementing it; or

(b) the GAC will consider the Call-in and may object to the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision in which case the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision will be referred back to the Cabinet 
(with the GAC's views) for consideration/reconsideration.  Unless the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision is contrary to the budget or 
policy framework, the Cabinet may choose whether to amend the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision or not before reaching a final 
decision and implementing it.

NB: The GAC has no locus to make a decision in respect of a Cabinet 
decision unless the Cabinet decision is contrary to or not wholly 
consistent with the budget or policy framework agreed/adopted by the 
Council.

C.7 Following the Cabinet's consideration of a Deferred Decision or 
reconsideration of a Suspended Decision, the decisions(s) will take effect 
i.e. be implemented immediately. In addition, a Suspended Decision will 
become effective:



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 7

(a) on the date of the GAC meeting where the Call-in has been referred to 
the GAC and the GAC does not object to the Suspended Decision 
and/or does not refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet.

(b) on the date of the Committee meeting, where the Committee does not 
refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet or to the GAC. 

C.8 A Call-in (i.e. the decision itself) cannot be the subject of further scrutiny 
after implementation, pursuant to the draw down mechanism detailed in 
section A of this Protocol.

NB: This restriction does not preclude a subsequent draw-down of the 
subject matter of the decision for purposes related for example, to 
topic scrutiny or reporting on matters of local concern.

C.9 This Call-in procedure will not apply to urgent Cabinet decisions and/or 
action to be taken by the Cabinet which need to be implemented urgently.  
The definition of 'urgency' means any matter of immediate urgency (i.e. 
where any delay likely to be caused by the Call-in would prejudice the 
Council's or the public's interest), making the prompt exercise of the powers 
of the Cabinet, in consultation with the Managing Director and the 
Monitoring Officer/Chief Finance Officer desirable and/or necessary and 
which cannot await the next meeting of the Cabinet, or the next ordinary 
meeting of the GAC.

NB: The definition of 'urgency' as detailed above, excludes urgent key 
decisions under Standing Order 54(8) (Special Urgency) and urgent 
departure decisions under Standing Order 55(3) (Decisions outside the 
Budget or Policy Framework).

C.10 Cabinet decisions and/or actions to be taken which are not subject to Call-
in will take effect, i.e. be implemented immediately.

C.11 Subject to the draw down rules in section A.2 of this Protocol, the 
Committee may only Call-in two decisions per three-month period.  

C.12 Key decisions of Officers, area committees/joint arrangements (referred to 
in the Cabinet's Forward Plan) may be subject to individual Call-in in 
accordance with the procedure detailed in this Protocol.

C.13 Call-in will not apply to urgent departure decisions (refer to Standing Order 
55(3)) and urgent key decisions (refer to Standing Order 54(8)).

C.14 The rules detailed in sections B and D of this Protocol will apply to an 
individual Call-in.

C.15 A CCfA does not provide an additional opportunity for a Cabinet decision to 
be challenged.  A previous Call-in will only be relevant, if the circumstances 
of the Call-in and the CCfA are clearly different. 

C.16 The operation of this Call-in procedure will be monitored annually by the 
Monitoring Officer and if necessary, a report submitted to the GAC with 
proposals for review.



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 8

D.Participants
D.1 The nature of a Call-in, the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic 

under review/scrutiny will generally determine who participates in the 
proceedings of the Committee.

D.2 Persons required to attend if summoned

Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, the 
giving of 14 clear days’ notice, (fourteen weekdays i.e. 14 periods of 24 
hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays 
and the day on which the meeting is held) and information being provided 
as to the nature and scope of the overview and scrutiny:

Council participants

Cabinet members and Council Officers  may be required to attend 
meetings of the Committee, to give evidence, make representations and/or 
answer questions (Section 21(13)(a) of the Local Government Act 2000).

CSP participants

Representatives of the CSP, responsible authorities and co-ordinating 
body invited (but cannot be compelled) to attend Committee meetings 
(Section 21(13)(b) of the Local Government Act 2000).

D.3 Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. 

Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, 
members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. may 
be invited (but cannot be compelled) to attend the Committee, to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence. 

Where the Committee seeks to engage with the third sector (voluntary and 
community groups), it will respect the principles of the Council’s Compact.

D.4 Expert advisors and assessors 

The Committee may consider the available options for future direction in 
the development of crime and disorder policies and may appoint experts, 
advisors and assessors to assist the Committee in the process.

D.5

D.5A

Lead Members 

Subject to the rules detailed in section D.7(a) to (c) of this Protocol, Lead 
Members who are members of the Committee may be requested (but 
cannot be compelled) to make representations, answer questions or give 
evidence on their respective portfolios. 

Councillors who are not members of the Committee

The rules detailed in Standing Order 36, will apply to the attendance at 
Committee meetings, of Councillors who are not members of the 
Committee.

D.6 The overview and scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the 
availability of a participant to attend, when summoned or invited.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 
accordingly.



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 9

D.7 Participation Rules

(a) The nomination of specific Cabinet members and Lead Members as 
participants and any necessary substitutions, will be within the 
discretion of the Cabinet Chairman and, in relation to Officer 
participants, within the discretion of the Managing Director.

(b) Subject to paras. (a) and (c) of this section D.7 and section V.6 of this 
Protocol, any Lead Member(s) may attend meetings of the Committee 
and with the consent of the Chairman, make representations, answer 
questions or give evidence on the subject matter of their relevant 
portfolio. 

(c) Lead Members who are members of the Committee cannot be 
involved in the scrutiny process of their relevant portfolio unless they 
are substituted on the Committee and in doing so, the Lead Member’s 
role is limited to making representations, answering questions or giving 
evidence on the subject matter. Once substituted, the Lead Member, 
as an ordinary member of the Committee, cannot vote at the meeting 
even if he/she is able to attend at a later stage of the meeting and can 
only speak with the permission of the Chairman.

(d) The Managing Director may restrict the attendance of Council Officers 
to above a certain grade or in accordance with other criteria to ensure 
that junior Officers are not put under undue pressure.  This restriction 
is consistent with the European Convention on Human Rights.

(e) (i) Subject to pars.(i) and (iii) below, the Chairman reserves the right 
(supported by detailed reasoning to the Cabinet Chairman or 
Managing Director (as appropriate)), to strongly request the 
attendance of a named Cabinet member(s)/Lead Member(s), Council 
Officer(s), representatives of the CSP and/or responsible authorities as 
participants in the proceedings of the Committee, subject to written 
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day 
before the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays 
i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding 
bank and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).

(ii) The CSP’s representative will be its Chairman or Vice-Chairman.

(iii) The nomination/appointment by the responsible authorities of 
representatives as participants in the overview and scrutiny process, 
and substitutions, will be at the discretion of their governing bodies or 
as detailed in their constitutions.

(f) Council Officers who are subject to disciplinary proceedings and/or 
investigation will not be called as participants.

(g) When questioning participants, due regard will be had to the 
Compliance Principles referred to in this Protocol and to paras.(h) and 
(i) below.  Participants may leave the meeting on the conclusion of 
their particular issues.



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 10

(h) Participants may decline to answer questions in open session of the 
Committee on the grounds that the answer might disclose information 
that would be exempt or confidential under the access to information 
provisions.  In that event, the Committee may resolve to exclude the 
public and the press in accordance with Standing Orders in order that 
the question may be answered in private session.

(i) Participants are not obliged to answer any question which they would 
be entitled to refuse to answer in a court of law for example any 
question relating to a participant’s past conduct/actions which could not 
be answered without acknowledging or referring to possible 
inappropriate conduct/actions/inactions.

(j) To better inform the Committee, participants may be required to provide 
their evidence in writing and may be questioned by the Committee on 
that evidence.

(k) The substance (rather than the detail) of oral evidence and participants' 
responses will be documented by the Committee Co - ordinator and 
circulated to them for comment, before the next meeting of the 
Committee.

(l)Participants may be asked to explain:

(i) what the policies are;

(ii) the justification and objectives of those policies;

(iii) the extent to which those objectives may have been met;

(iv)how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of the 
policy measures and the manner of their implementation.

(m)Participants may be asked explain and justify;

 advice they have given prior to decisions being taken;

 decisions they themselves have taken under delegations from the 
Cabinet, CSP etc.

NB:As far as possible, Council Officers should avoid being drawn into 
discussions on the merits of alternative policies where this is politically 
contentious.  Any comment by Council Officers on the Cabinet's policies 
and actions should always be consistent with the requirement for 
Officers to be politically neutral.



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 11

E. Councillor Calls for 
Action (CCfA)
E.1 Subject to the ‘excluded matters’ rule detailed in section E.2 and the 

restrictions detailed in sections E4, E5, E.7 and E10 of this Protocol, any 
ward Member may refer to the Committee for scrutiny, any crime and 
disorder matter.

The flowchart at Annex 1 describes the CCfA procedure.

E.3 A matter does not fall within a description of an ‘excluded matter’ if it 
consists of an allegation that a function for which the Council is responsible 
has not been discharged at all or that its discharge has failed or is failing on 
a systematic basis, notwithstanding the fact that the allegation specifies or 
refers to an excluded matter (reg.4. the Overview and Scrutiny (Reference 
by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) (England) Order 2012).

E.4 Referral of a genuine, significant and persistent local community concern 
by the local ward Member as a CCfA for scrutiny is a measure of last 
resort, once other approaches for informal resolution have been exhausted.  
Local ward Members are advised to seek advice from the relevant Director 
before agreeing to champion a CCfA.

E.5 The CCfA may be referred for scrutiny on behalf of a constituent, or on the 
local ward Member’s own initiative, providing the local ward Member has 
the support of the local community and the Member does not have a 
disclosable pecuniary interests or prejudicial interest in the matter.  

E.6 The Committee may receive a CCfA via the Cabinet in circumstances 
where the local ward Member has declined to champion the CCfA and the 
constituent has then referred the issue to the Cabinet (section 19(5) of the 
Police and Justice Act 2006). 

E.7 Subject to the draw down rules at section A.2 of this Protocol, the referral of 
a CCfA to the Committee will be limited to one CCfA per meeting.  

E.8 The referral of a CCfA to the Committee by a local ward Member will be on 
written notification to Member Services, by no later than noon on the 16th 
day before a Committee meeting, i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 
16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank 
and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).

E.9 The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol will apply. 

E.10 The acceptance of a CCfA will be at the discretion of the Committee.  In 
considering whether or not to accept a CCfA, the Committee may have 
regard to any representations made by the local ward Member as to why it 
would be appropriate for the Committee to accept the CCfA.

E.11 If the Committee decides not to accept the CCfA, Member Services will 
within 5 days’ of the meeting, formally notify the ward Member of the 
Committee’s decision and the reasons for it.  The Committee’s decision is 
final.  There is no right of appeal.

E.12 The local ward Member may address the Committee (but not vote) on the 
matter raised.  

E.13 Following consideration of a CCfA, the Committee may report or 
recommend accordingly to the CSP and the responsible authorities (either 



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 12

collectively or individually), GAC and/or the Cabinet.  The rules detailed in 
sections H and M of this Protocol, will apply.

E.14 The Committee may submit a copy of its report or recommendations to the 
local ward Member or await the CSP’s and the responsible authorities’ 
(either collectively or individually), GAC’s or the Cabinet’s response before 
doing so.  

F. Committee member 
business

Subject to the rules on draw down detailed in section A.2 of this Protocol, 
any Committee or (sub-committee) member has the legal right [Section 
21A(1) of the Local Government Act 2000] to place any matter relevant to 
the Committee’s functions on the agenda.  This right will be exercised by 
giving written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th 
day before a Committee meeting i.e.16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 
16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank 
and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).  

The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol, will apply. 

GH. The duty to have 
regard to reports/
recommendations

G.1
The CSP, responsible authorities and co-ordinating body may be required 
by the Committee to have regard to the Committee's Overview or Scrutiny 
Report and/or recommendations (Section 9FF(2) of the Local Government 
Act 2000).  

G.2
Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations 
have been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be 
re-addressed fully by the Committee.

H. Co-option

H.1
The Committee may recommend to the GAC, the appointment/co-option of 
additional persons to serve on the Committee or its sub-committee, subject 
to the following:

(i) a person co-opted to serve on the Committee/sub-committee will not 
be entitled to vote on any particular matter, unless the Committee so 
determines and subject to the GAC’s permission in advance, on voting 
rights.

(ii) a co-opted person's membership may be limited to the exercise of the 
Committee's/sub-committee’s powers in relation to a particular matter 
or type of matter.

(iii) the Committee will only co-opt an employee, officer or member of the 
responsible authorities comprising the CSP to serve on the 
Committee/sub-committee, providing this person:



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 13

(a) is not the chairman or vice chairman of the CSP or the nominated 
representative/member or substitute of the responsible authorities ; 
and

(b) is not a Cabinet member (or an executive member of Kent County 
Council or Gravesham Borough Council).

(iv) the membership of a person co-opted to serve on the Committee/sub-
committee, may be withdrawn at any time by the Committee.

(v) [Voting] Co-optees will comply with the Council’s [Member] Code of 
Conduct set out in Part 5 of the Constitution.

(vi) Co-optees will have access to exempt/confidential information 
considered/to be considered by the Committee.  The rules detailed in 
section Q.4 of this Protocol, will apply.

J.2 Co-optees will count towards establishing a quorum.

K. Work programme

K.1
The Committee will be responsible for setting its own work programme and 
in doing so, will take into account wishes of Committee members who are 
not members of the largest political group on the Council.

K.2
Duplication of activities or major additions to the Committee’s work 
programme will be avoided.

K.3
The CSP and the responsible authorities will be informed in advance, of 
overview and scrutiny exercises (including their scope). 
 

K.4
The Committee will receive an annual report on its workings and may make 
recommendations for future work programmes.

L. Appointment of 
independent experts, 
advisers/assessors

L.1

L.2

Subject to available resources and GAC authority, the Committee may 
invite independent experts, advisers and assessors to contribute to the 
overview and scrutiny process undertaken by it, its sub-committees or task 
groups.  Independent experts, advisers and assessors will have no voting 
rights and will not count for the purposes of establishing a quorum. 

The criteria for selection will be;

(a) candidates must be able to demonstrate to the Chairman an expert 
knowledge of the subject in question;

(b) candidates will have no contact with the Borough Council, which could 
be seen as prejudicial to their independence;

(c) (c) candidates will not be employees of the Council, a person/organisation 
contracted to provide services on behalf of the Council or an 
employee, officer or member of the CSP, responsible authorities or co-
ordinating body.



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 14

L.3 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will be expected to follow the 
principles referred to in the [Member] Code of Conduct, including the 
requirement to declare interests and respecting confidentiality.

L.4 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will receive payment in 
accordance with a standard scale of fees, to be agreed by the Cabinet, plus 
travel and other reasonable/legitimate expenses.

L.5 Independent experts, advisers and assessors may at the Committee’s 
discretion, remain in the meeting room when confidential and/or exempt 
information is being discussed.

L.6 In considering independent experts’, advisers’ and assessors’ 
recommendations, the Committee will have regard to the advice of the 
Council's Statutory Officers (Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer) who are legally bound respectively, to report to the GAC 
on inter alia:
 the corporate approach of the Council;
 contravention of law and/or Standing Orders, Financial Regulations;
 unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice;
 vires and propriety of expenditure;
 overall integrity of the budget, capital and revenue and the fiduciary duty 

and responsibility of all Members (Section 112 and 114 Reports).

NB: The GAC retains the ultimate responsibility of censure.

M. Overview or 
Scrutiny reports 
and/or recommendations
M.1 All comments, conclusions and recommendations to the CSP, responsible 

authorities, GAC and/or Cabinet (referred to in this part of the Protocol as 
the ‘relevant body’ will be accompanied by an Overview or Scrutiny Report 
prepared by the Committee Co-ordinator, in consultation with the 
appropriate Officer and the Committee Chairman under the existing rules 
for the preparation of committee reports.

M.2 The Overview or Scrutiny Report will include:
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed or scrutinised;
(b) a summary of the evidence considered;
(c) a list of the participants involved in the overview and scrutiny exercise;
(d) any recommendations on the matter reviewed or scrutinised, including 

where applicable, an indication of the costs associated with 
implementing the recommendations;

(e) a summary of the views of Members dissenting from the majority 
recommendation(s);

(f) the mechanism for monitoring progress in implementing the 
recommendation(s).

M.3 All motions (whether passed, rejected, opposed etc.) by the Committee will 
be detailed in the Overview or Scrutiny Report.

M.4 The Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations will be published 
and sent to the link officer of the relevant body.

M.5 The CSP, responsible authorities and co-ordinating body are under a legal 
obligation to consider the Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations and respond to the Committee within 28 days (or as 
soon as reasonably possible) of the date of the Overview or Scrutiny 
Report, indicating what (if any) action the body proposes to take (see 



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 15

section H.1 above).  The same principles shall be applied to Cabinet and 
GAC. 

Relevant bodies may fully accept, partially accept or reject the Overview or 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations.  If the relevant body partially 
accepts or rejects the Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations, the body must detail its reasons.

M.6 The Committee Chairman, may at the request of the relevant body, attend 
its meeting and present the Overview or Scrutiny Report and answer 
questions.

M.7 If in disagreement with the decision of the Committee, any Councillor(s) 
who expresses a minority view, may through the Committee Chairman, 
refer a 'minority view' report to the relevant body for consideration and 
provided they do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial 
interest in the matter under discussion, the Councillor may be requested to 
attend the body’s meeting and present their views and answer questions.  

M.8 If at all possible, Overview or Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations 
should be included on the agenda of the next available meeting of the 
relevant body unless the matter which is the subject of the Overview or 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations is scheduled to be considered by 
the relevant body within a period of four weeks from the date the 
Committee issues the Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations.  In such circumstances, the Committee's Overview or 
Scrutiny Report/recommendations will be considered by the relevant body 
in the context of their deliberations on the substantive item on the body’s 
agenda.

M.9 Only one Overview or Scrutiny Report per meeting of the relevant body 
may be submitted by the Committee for consideration.

M.10 Following receipt of the relevant body’s response, the Committee may, by 
motion, move 'that the matter be referred back to the [named] relevant 
body' either 'for further information' or 'for further consideration' or as the 
case may be, with an instruction that some specified action be taken or that 
the Committee considers that no further action is necessary.

M.11 Overview or Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations to the GAC will be 
copied to the Cabinet Chairman.  The GAC will not consider an Overview or 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations until the Cabinet has had the 
opportunity to comment.

M.12 Local ward Members and other non - executive Councillors will have the 
opportunity at GAC meetings, to raise issues either through questions, 
motions or through policy and other debates. 

N. Cabinet Key 
Decisions

Where the Cabinet has decided not to include a particular decision in the 
forward plan, but the Committee believes that it should have been included, 
the Committee may require the Cabinet to make a report on the decision to 
the GAC in accordance with Standing Order 54(9).  The Committee's 
consideration of any such matter will be in public, but subject to the rules on 
confidential and exempt information.



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 16

P. Monitoring Officer 
reports 

The Committee may consider whether it would be appropriate, following 
receipt of a Monitoring Officer report to the Cabinet (and copied to all 
Members of the Council), to hold a short enquiry into the matter which is 
the subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it and to 
recommend accordingly to the Cabinet.

Q. Consideration of 
items at meetings
Q.1 Without prejudice to the rules detailed in Standing Orders on the 

consideration of urgent items, items will not be considered at a meeting of 
the Committee unless included on the agenda for the meeting.  The order 
of business will be as set out in Standing Order 58(10)(a)(i) to and 
including (iii) and the business as otherwise set out in the agenda in 
accordance with Standing Order 58(10)(a)(iv) will be in the order of:

 Call – in;

 decisions and/or actions of the CSP and the responsible authorities 
(either collectively or individually);

 the CSP’s annual strategic assessment; 

 the CSP’s partnership plan;

 Draw downs;

 CCfA;

 Key Decisions;

 any other local crime and disorder matter related to the 
Council’s/Cabinet’s crime and disorder/community safety functions;

 Officer decisions pursuant to Standing Order 38 (Delegation of Urgent 
and Routine Matters);

 Minority member business;

 Scrutiny Committee member business;

 Monitoring progress of agreed actions;

 Members’ Information Bulletin. 



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 17

Q.2 The order of business may be altered by the Committee in accordance with 
the rules detailed in Standing Order 58(10)(b).

Q.3 Cabinet decisions and Officer decisions under Standing Order 38 
(Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters) and under the Scheme of 
Delegations to Officers, cannot be reversed or amended.

Q.4 Voting Committee members have a right of access to exempt or 
confidential information considered by the Cabinet, but only if it is relevant 
to an issue(s) before the Committee (Standing Order 51(4)).

Q.5 In exercising its powers, the Committee must respect, support and not 
compromise the duties and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards 
and Panels of the Council. If a scrutiny investigation reveals potential 
disciplinary and probity issues, the Committee will refer the matter to the 
Managing Director.

Q.6 Litigation proceedings by or against the Council must not be prejudiced by 
any scrutiny investigation.  In the circumstances, it may be necessary to 
defer further consideration of the matter until the proceedings have been 
dispensed with.

Q.7 Consultation undertaken by the Committee in accordance with its Terms of 
Reference will not compromise/prejudice consultations undertaken by any 
other Committee/Board of the Council. 

R. Conduct of 
meetings
R.1 Meetings will be open to the public and the press unless confidential and/or 

exempt information is being considered.  The Access to Information 
Procedure Rules detailed in Standing Orders will apply.

R.2 The access to information provisions relating to access to and inspection of 
agenda and connected reports and minutes as detailed in Standing Orders 
will apply.

R.3 Minutes will be drawn up and recorded in accordance with the rules 
detailed in Standing Order 15.

S. Task groups/
informal Member 
working groups

S.1 Task groups (or informal Member working groups) may be appointed at 
any time by the Committee to examine specific issues in detail.  Task 
groups will be time limited and will tend to work more flexibly and 
informally.

S.2 The Committee may appoint any of its Members to work informally with 
other bodies or authorities etc., particularly in relation to external or cross-
authority overview and scrutiny matters, where this will contribute to the 
Committee’s functions.



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 18

S.3 Whilst a task group cannot substitute for the Committee or exercise the 
formal powers associated respectively with overview and scrutiny (which is 
the preserve of the Committee and its sub-committees), the task group 
may contribute to or inform the overview or scrutiny process.

S.4 Task groups will be made up of no less than 3 Committee members.  The 
political balance rules need not apply.

S.5 Because of the relative informality of task group meetings, and the 
evidence gathering nature of much of the discussion, chairing the meetings 
will involve different skills from those required by traditional committee 
meetings.  The task group Chairman will need to be sure that all task group 
members are clear about the purpose of the meeting and are given the 
opportunity to pursue a line of questioning – via a number of 
supplementary questions if necessary.

S.6 The task group may obtain information through different media, including 
face-to-face interviews; questionnaires; focus groups; site visits; reports; 
and written submissions from participants. 

S.7 Participants will be offered the opportunity to comment on the accuracy of 
the record of their attendance. 

S.8 Once the evidence is taken, the Committee Co-ordinator will draft a report 
and recommendations to reflect the preliminary views of the task group.  
The draft report and recommendations will be agreed by the task group 
Chairman before it is circulated to the Cabinet Chairman and the Strategic 
Director (External Services) for comment.

S.9 The Committee will consider the task group’s report and/or 
recommendations and any comments from the Cabinet Chairman and/or 
Strategic Director (External Services).

S.10 The Committee will refer the task group’s report and/or recommendations 
to the relevant body i.e. CSP, responsible authorities, GAC and/or Cabinet 
with a note of the debate and any changes arising from the debate.

The rules detailed in sections G, H and M of this Protocol will apply.

S.11 The Committee may refer the issue back to the task group for further 
consideration.

T. Sub-committees
T.1 The Committee may appoint sub-committees in accordance with the rules 

detailed in Standing Order 58(1)(4) and may delegate any of its functions 
to its sub-committees.

T.2 Sub-committees may exercise the formal powers associated respectively 
with overview and scrutiny.



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 19

U. Regulatory bodies
U.1 The Committee will not scrutinise individual decisions made by the 

Committees, Boards and Panels entrusted to discharge the Council’s 
regulatory functions (the Regulatory Bodies).  Scrutiny of decisions of 
Regulatory Bodies is clearly not an alternative to normal appeals 
procedures.  However, the Committee may make reports and/or 
recommendations in accordance with section M. of this Protocol.

U.2 Scrutiny of the discharge of a Regulatory Body’s functions will be restricted 
to one per Committee meeting on notice by the Committee Chairman.  The 
rules detailed in section A. of this Protocol will apply. 

U.3 Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations 
have been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be 
re-addressed fully by the Committee.

V. Declarations of 
interest
V.1 Elected Councillors and voting co-optees are subject to the [Member] Code 

of Conduct.

V.2 Representatives from the responsible authorities and other partner 
organisations are subject to their respective professional codes of conduct. 

V.3 Participants who are not bound by codes of conduct will be subject to the 
Nolan principles of transparency and accountability.

V.4 All participants (including Council Officers) summoned or invited to attend 
Committee meetings, will declare any interests and the nature of the 
interests at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the interests 
become apparent to them. 

V.5 No Committee members may be involved in scrutinising a decision in 
which they have been directly involved.

The Committee’s policy development and/or review work may draw directly 
from the outputs of its scrutiny functions (scrutiny of Cabinet decisions 
and/or proposed decisions).  It may also involve the consideration of policy 
themes and matters of local concern, which may have potential 
implications for the policies of the Council. In the circumstances, subject to 
the rules detailed in section V.6 of this Protocol, Committee members and 
Lead Members who have been directly involved in policy development, 
may participate in the Committee’s policy development and/or review work.  

V.6 With the exception of Cabinet members who are required to attend the 
Committee to give evidence in accordance with section D of this Protocol, 
any Member at the meeting (not restricted to members of the Committee) 
with a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in a matter, may 
not take part in the discussion or remain in the meeting room or public 
gallery to observe the vote on the matter.



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 20

W. Review of this 
Protocol

This Protocol will be reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently, if 
experience, circumstances and legislation highlight that amendments are 
required.



February 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol C&DC 21

ANNEX 1

COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (CCfA) FLOWCHART
CCfA request – local residents have concerns about significant and persistent problems in their area – they approach the local ward 
Member - local ward Member may also on their initiative, initiate a CCfA and gather support from their local community

First level response

Second level response

Third level response

Fourth level response

Fifth level response

In consultation with relevant Director, local ward Member considers 
whether to agree to champion or reject the CCfA - Log request

Concern not resolved – as last resort, concern referred to 
Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee  

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee rejects CCFA (see Committee’s 
Protocol for procedure)

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee accepts CCfA and considers issue in 
accordance with Committee’s Protocol

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee compiles report and 
recommendations to Cabinet/GAC, CSP etc. 
(refer to Committee’s Protocol)

Local ward Member notified 
with written reasons

Cabinet/GAC, CSP etc. consider recommendations 
and respond within 2 months, setting out reasons 
for any inaction

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee considers and publishes responses to 
scrutiny recommendations

Feedback to local ward Member 

Before agreeing, Director to 
undertake screening/filter 
checks (section 6 of Guide)

Refuse to champion  and 
provide constituent/local ward 
Member with written reasons for 
refusal

Agree to champion

First attempt to resolve the concerns informally in consultation 
with relevant parties e.g. Lead Member, CSP etc. (section 11 
of Guide) – Log attempt to resolve Concern resolved 





Appendix C

[APPENDIX J(ii)]
D A R T F O R D   B O R O U G H   C O U N C I L

ANNUAL MEETING
10 May 2017

STANDING COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND PANELS
OF THE COUNCIL

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of 
Reference]

Chairman: Councillor R J Wells
Vice-Chairman: Councillor A S Sandhu MBE
Membership: Councillors S R Jarnell, M B Kelly, R Lees, C S McLean, 

M A Maddison and D J Mote.

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of Reference]

TERMS OF REFERENCE:
DELEGATED FUNCTIONS:

General Provisions

‘Crime and disorder’ is defined as including forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-
social behaviour or other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment or the misuse 
of drugs, alcohol and other substances.

1. To review and scrutinise the discharge of the crime and disorder functions of the 
responsible authorities (local authorities, fire and rescue authorities, police authorities, 
the police, primary care trusts) which comprise the Dartford and Gravesham Community 
Safety Partnership (the CSP).as set out in these Terms of Reference.

2. To review and scrutinise the discharge of any other local crime and disorder matter 
related to the Council’s crime and disorder functions.

3. To make reports or recommendations as appropriate, to the GAC, Cabinet, the CSP or 
any one or more responsible authority etc.

4. To review responses from and monitor the action (if any), taken by the CSP, an 
individual responsible authority, Officers, GAC, Cabinet etc.

Overview Functions

5. No less than once in every twelve month period, to review strategies in connection with 
the discharge by the CSP of its crime and disorder functions and make reports or 
recommendations in accordance with para. 3 above.

Scrutiny Functions



Appendix C

6. No less than once in every twelve month period, to scrutinise decisions made, or action 
taken, by the CSP and the Council of its crime and disorder functions and make reports 
or recommendations in accordance with para. 3 above.

7. To consider any local crime and disorder matter referred to the Committee by a local 
ward Member under the Councillor Call for Action provisions referred to in the 
Committee’s Protocol.



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding June 2015.doc 

1

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE CRIME AND DISORDER 
(OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE AND THE DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM 
COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP 

Introduction 
 
1. The Council has a legal duty under Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to 

carry out all its various functions with regard to the need to prevent crime and disorder and 
reduce re-offending in its area.   

 
2. The Police and Justice Act 2006 and the Local Government and Public Involvement in 

Health Act 2007 grant the Council the power to scrutinise both crime and disorder matters 
through the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (the CSP).  The 
legislative powers are intended to enable the Council’s overview and scrutiny function to 
hold the CSP and other partner organisations to account for their performance, including 
their work with the Council, to meet specific local targets. 

 
3. The Councillor Calls for Action provide a ‘last resort’ mechanism for the Council’s overview 

and scrutiny function to try to resolve persistent local crime and disorder issues of genuine 
community concern, where all efforts by a local ward Councillor to find a solution through 
local action and discussion with the CSP etc, have been unsuccessful. 

 
4. In order for the exercise of overview and scrutiny powers to be effective, it is vital that the 

CSP and other partners and stakeholders are engaged in the process and share a common 
understanding of the Council’s overview and scrutiny aims.  This Memorandum of 
Understanding has therefore been developed to embody that understanding and sets out 
the rights and responsibilities that relate to the parties concerned. 

 
The CSP and main tasks 
 
5.(a) The CSP comprises seven statutory bodies who have a legal duty to work with other 

local agencies and organisations to develop and implement strategies to tackle crime 
and disorder, including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting the local 
environment, as well as the misuse of drugs in their area:  
 
Dartford Borough Council 
Gravesham Borough Council 
Kent Police 
Kent County Council 
Kent Fire and Rescue Service 
Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company  
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group 

 
(b) The CSP works with numerous other agencies and voluntary groups.  

(c) In order to identify and deliver on the priorities that matter the most to local 
communities, the CSP is required to carry out a number of main tasks: 

� preparing an annual strategic assessment which identifies the crime and 
community safety priorities in the area, through analysis of information provided by 
partner agencies an the community; 

� producing a partnership plan, detailing the approach for addressing priorities; 
� undertaking community consultation and engagement on crime and disorder 

issues; and 
� sharing information among the responsible authorities. 



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding June 2015.doc 

2

Aims of overview and scrutiny 
 

 6. To: 
 

(a) involve the responsible authorities, local people and community organisations, in 
overview and scrutiny activity; 

(b) develop a dialogue with the responsible authorities, service providers and other 
stakeholders external to the Council; 

(c) take up issues of concern to local people; 
(d) review whether the CSP’s goals are being achieved; and 
(e) examine what can be done to solve problems and enhance the CSP’s performance and 

achievement. 
 
Designated crime and disorder committee 
 
7. The Council’s designated crime and disorder committee under section 19(1) of the Police 

and Justice Act 2006, is the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee.  The 
Committee is independent of the CSP. 

 
8. There will be at least one ordinary meeting of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and 

Scrutiny) Committee in each municipal year in accordance with the Council’s calendar of 
meetings.  In addition, extraordinary meetings may be called as and when appropriate in 
accordance with the Council’s Procedure Rules detailed in its Standing Orders. 

 
9. The Committee’s Terms of Reference 
 

The overview and scrutiny of: 
(a) decisions and/or actions of the CSP and its partners, but only in so far as they relate 

to crime and disorder; 
(b) the CSP’s annual strategic assessment; 
(c) the CSP’s partnership plan; 
(d) community safety related local improvement targets measured through Local Area 

Agreements, Comprehensive Area Assessment and the Place Based Survey; 
(e) any other local crime and disorder matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s crime and 

disorder/community safety functions; and 
(f) the scrutiny of Councillor Calls for Action (on crime and disorder/community safety 

matters). 
 

Management of the Council’s crime and disorder/community safety functions 
 

10. The Council’s Strategic Director is responsible for the management of the Council’s crime 
and disorder/community safety functions.   

 
Council representatives on the CSP 
 
11. The Leader of the Council and Managing Director are the Council’s nominated 

representatives on the CSP.  
  
CSP, responsible authorities named link officers and representatives  
 

12. The CSP, individual responsible authorities will assign a named link officer to liaise with the 
Council’s Member Services [refer to section 31 of this Memorandum of Understanding], to 
ensure that communication is swift and effective and that requests for information, 
responses to reports and/or recommendations and requests for CSP and responsible 
authorities’ representatives to attend meetings, are dealt with, within the timescales referred 
to in the Committee’s Protocol at Appendix A.  Contact details of the named link officers will 
be notified to the Council’s Member Services. 



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding June 2015.doc 

3

 
13. If summoned to attend meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, the CSP’s representative will be its Chairman or Vice-Chairman. 
 
14. If summoned to attend meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, the nomination/appointment by the responsible authorities of representatives 
and substitutes as participants in the overview and scrutiny process, will be at the 
discretion of their governing bodies or as detailed in their constitutions.  

 
Underlying principles of crime and disorder overview and scrutiny 

 
15. The following underlying principles of overview and scrutiny will assist in securing 

effective outcomes and adding value: 
 
(a) Collaboration 

 
 community safety and freedom from crime and disorder for the people of the Borough of 

Dartford is dependant upon many factors, including the services provided in partnership 
by/with the CSP.  The CSP will work in partnership with the Crime and Disorder 
(Overview and Scrutiny) Committee to provide objective and effective scrutiny of crime 
and disorder in the Borough of Dartford.  This shared responsibility should be 
acknowledged in any crime and disorder overview and scrutiny activity undertaken; 

 increasingly, services are provided jointly or as a result of partnerships between the 
Council and other public sector organisations or other parties.  Overview and scrutiny 
activities should therefore also reflect shared priorities, find shared solutions and be of 
mutual benefit; 

 while overview and scrutiny should be constructive and challenging, it will only be 
successful if all partners work together considerately, within a climate of mutual respect, 
trust and good faith with an understanding and commitment to the CSP’s and Council’s 
crime and disorder aims and objectives.  

 
(b) Added Value 
 
 it is vital that overview and scrutiny brings something new to reviews/scrutiny of crime and 

disorder functions and does not duplicate the many other forms of performance 
management and inspection that exist for public service providers.  

 overview and scrutiny activities should make a distinct and positive impact and only be 
carried out where objective scrutiny/review by elected Councillors, will help progress to be 
made. 

 overview and scrutiny activities should have a clear purpose.  There should be a focus on 
crime reduction and improving the well-being of those who live and work in the Borough 
of Dartford. 

 the overview and scrutiny process should be proactive in seeking out issues to examine, 
that will add most value. 

 overview and scrutiny should be prepared to examine crime and disorder issues that 
cross service or agency boundaries and make appropriate recommendations to tackle 
such issues, whilst being mindful of potential implications for/on the CSP and/or other 
external organisations. 

 overview and scrutiny should aim to develop feasible recommendations which provide 
value for money by securing benefits that outweigh the cost of implementation. 

  overview and scrutiny will be focused on improving services and service provision for the 
people of the Borough of Dartford and will concentrate on outputs that are intended to 
help improve community safety and reduce the fear of crime in the Borough.  



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding June 2015.doc 

4

 
(c) Clarity 

 
Overview and scrutiny of the CSP’s crime and disorder functions: 

 
 should be a transparent process which encourages open and honest discussion; 
 should be well planned and timely; 
 should be of particular issues and time-limited; 
 should focus on strategic priorities and concerns, with a strategic view of performance 

usually aligned to key performance targets. 
 

(d) Knowledge 
 
 overview and scrutiny reports must be evidence-based in order to provide credible 

conclusions and recommendations; 
 although the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee will want to be 

informed, the overview and scrutiny process is not an ‘expert’ review/scrutiny of the 
CSP’s crime and disorder function; 

 the overview and scrutiny process should be impartial, in that it should be driven by the 
evidence, rather than by a particular standpoint. 

 
(e) Accessibility 

 
 it is a fundamental role of the overview and scrutiny process to ensure that there is full 

and equal access to the democratic process, through public involvement and 
engagement; 

 the views and ideas of service users (and non-users), service providers and organisations 
and other agencies with an interest in the subject under review/scrutiny, are all valuable 
in effective scrutiny – overview and scrutiny should involve all stakeholders and take 
account of views of service users and the public, with particular efforts to engage groups 
that are harder to reach; 

 constructive engagement and clear lines of communication should enable a two-way flow 
of information between crime and disorder overview and scrutiny and all those involved, 
including feedback of results. 

 
Providing information to the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee 

 
16. The CSP, responsible authorities and the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, will respect the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998.  The provision of 
information to/for overview and scrutiny will be governed by relevant legislation and 
established protocols for the sharing of data. 

 
17. To facilitate the overview and scrutiny process and in accordance with reg.4 of the Local 

Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees)(England) Regulations 2012, requested 
information will be pro-actively provided by the CSP and responsible authorities (acting 
individually or collectively).   

 
Notice of required attendance at committee meetings  
 
18. Forward planning of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee’s annual 

work programme will normally ensure the provision of reasonable notice of requests for 
information/the submission of written reports and/or required attendance at Committee 
meetings, of representatives of the responsible authorities. 

 
19. The CSP and responsible authorities will be informed in advance by the Council’s Member 

Services, of overview and scrutiny exercises (including their scope).   



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding June 2015.doc 

5

 
20. Dates and times of meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, agendas, minutes and reports, will be circulated by the Council’s Member 
Services, to the named link officer of the CSP and the responsible authorities. 

 
21. Subject to 14 clear days’ notice (i.e.14 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to 

midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and 
information being provided as to the nature and scope of the overview and scrutiny, 
representatives of the CSP and the responsible authorities and/or other organisations 
working with the CSP, may be invited under Section 21(13)(b) of the Local Government Act 
2000 to attend the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee meetings, to 
give evidence and/or answer questions.   

 
22. Representatives of the CSP and the responsible authorities and/or other organisations 

working with the CSP should be willing to engage constructively with overview and scrutiny 
and attend meetings when invited. 

 
Access to information  

 
23. Reports which are presented to the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk and circulated 
to the CSP and the responsible authorities’ named link officers, 5 clear days before the 
Committee meeting. 

 
Style and conduct of committee meetings 

 
24. Meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee will be conducted 

in accordance with the principles and procedures set out in the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules and Access to information Procedure Rules of the Council’s Standing 
Orders and in accordance with the Committee’s Protocol at Appendix A.   

 
Reports and recommendations of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee 

 
25. The CSP and responsible authorities and co-ordinating body may be required by the Crime 

and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee to have regard to the Committee’s 
Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations (Section 9FF(2) of the Local 
Government Act 2000). 

 
Monitoring recommendations 

 
26. Agreed actions will form the basis against which performance of the CSP and responsible 

authorities will be measured by the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee.   

 
Local improvement targets 

 
27. The Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee may scrutinise performance 

and delivery of the Kent County Council’s KA2 – LAA crime and disorder/community safety 
local improvement targets.  



 
  
 

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of 
Understanding June 2015.doc 

6

 
Councillor Calls for Action 

 
28. The CSP and responsible authorities (either collectively or individually) will co-operate on 

matters related to Councillor Calls for Action.  
 

Resolving disputes about this Memorandum of Understanding 
 

29. If the CSP and responsible authorities (acting collectively or individually) believe that this 
Memorandum of Understanding is not being adhered to, the issue should be referred to the 
Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee for consideration and decision.  
The Committee’s decision will be final. 

 
Review of this Memorandum of Understanding 

 
30. This Memorandum of Understanding will be reviewed jointly, on an annual basis or more 

frequently, if experience and circumstances highlight that amendments may need to be 
made. 

 
Complaints against the CSP 
 
31. Complaints against the CSP will be dealt with under the CSP’s complaints procedure.  

Complaints relating to CSP activities submitted to the CSP against individual responsible 
authorities will be dealt with by the individual responsible authorities under their respective 
complaints procedure. The response to the complaint will be copied to the chairman of the 
CSP. 

 
Availability of support 

 
32. Further advice or information on any aspect of this Memorandum of Understanding or on 

overview and scrutiny at Dartford Borough Council, is available from Member Services by 
emailing memberservices@dartford.gov.uk or telephoning the Member Services Manager 
on 01322 343430. 

 
 
 
 






	Agenda
	4 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 15 February 2017
	7 Regulation 9 Notice
	8 Kent Police and Crime Panel (PCP) - Update
	Item 8 PCP minutes 28th-Mar-2017 10.00 Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel

	10 Dartford Town Against Crime (D-TAC) Progress Report
	Item 10 Appendix A - DTAC Business Plan 2016-18_8pp

	11 Response to Unauthorised Encampments (Draw-Down)
	Item 11 - Appendix A Redacted FINAL - Response to Unauthorised Encampments [D-D]

	12 Performance
	13 2017 Refresh to CSP Community Safety Strategy (2016-19)
	Item 13 Community-Safety-Strategy-2016-19-2017-Refresh-FINAL

	14 Crime and Disorder (O&S) Committee Rolling Work Programme for 2017-18 and Beyond
	Appendix A sgAmdDHamd201617WorkProgramme201617

	15 Crime and Disorder (O&S) Annual Report 2016-17
	DH.final.EDIT.Appendix A.Final.SG.MKS.amd.DH.draft CrimeDisorder.2016-17 AnnualReport
	Appendix B.Protocol. CrimeandDisorderCommittee.March2016v1
	Appendix C 2016-17 A.R. CrimeDisorderTORs
	Appendix D. CSPMoU.Crime & Disorder.June2015

	A CSP Performance Report

